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To the Minister

Hon. Alannah MacTiernan MLA,

Minister for Planning and Infrastructure

I am pleased to submit for your information, and presentation to Parliament, the Department for

Planning and Infrastructure’s annual report for the financial year ended 30 June 2004.

The report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Administration and

Audit Act and fulfils the Department’s reporting obligations under the Public Sector Management Act,

the Disability Services Act and the Electoral Act.

I would also like to record my appreciation for your strong policy and community consultation

leadership and support.

I commend the hard work and commitment of all my colleagues as we work together to achieve

creative and sustainable solutions for land, transport and infrastructure planning and delivery, for the

benefit of the community.

Greg Martin

Director General 

Department for Planning and Infrastructure

31 August 2004



3

From the Director General

It has been an exciting and challenging year for
all of us at the Department for Planning and
Infrastructure.

I am proud that this year’s annual report is a
showcase of government initiatives that are making
real improvements to the lives of Western
Australians.

The Minister for Planning and Infrastructure has
provided very strong policy and community
consultation leadership and direction for the
Department and at times we have struggled to
keep up. However we have all learned from this
very positive experience and as a result are
better able to meet community needs.

Many of our major highlights are good
examples of how the Department is listening to
its stakeholders and responding to changing
lifestyles and trends that place Western Australia
firmly on the contemporary world map.

Our achievements also provide an excellent
yardstick for how vigorously we have embraced
the State Government’s five key priorities in its
strategic plan for achieving a sustainable Western
Australia: People and Communities, The Economy,
The Environment, The Regions and Governance. 

Part of a changing world
We no longer live in a quarter-acre, nine-to-five
world. Western Australia is no longer split
simplistically into a city-country divide.  Some of
our fastest growing urban areas are hundreds of
kilometres from Perth in relatively isolated
locations.  Western Australia’s population and
economic growth is still one of the highest in
Australia, but our population is ageing. Almost
one in five people now have some form of
disability. Almost all new jobs will be in the
service industries and the number of part-time
jobs is rising exponentially.

In addition, relatively low interest rates in recent
times have contributed to a surge in demand for
land and a jump in the number of planning
approvals and subdivision applications received
by the Department. 

It should also be remembered that Western
Australia is part of the global community and must
address issues such as modernising our business
practices, supporting e-business opportunities,
improving transport security and providing
critical infrastructure for our export industries. 

We also know that Western Australians are
extremely protective of their quality of life and

We have made significant progress towards our vision
of creating an enriched quality of life for all Western
Australians through sustainable communities.



From the Director General (continued)

rightfully demand to have their say in what
happens in their own backyard, and we have
embraced the desire of community interest
groups to be involved in what we do. 

Responding to the challenges
In the last 12 months the Department has
directed substantial resources to tapping into
these contemporary attitudes and trends.  We
have released blueprints to take many
communities into the future and to balance
economic, environmental and social needs of
future generations.

We have worked hard to respond to the
growing demand for land and have established
an innovative approach to ensuring affordable
housing is available across Perth. We have
produced valuable population forecasting tools
for business, industry and governments to
ensure services such as land supply, water,
electricity and schools can be planned together. 

We have modernised and simplified a range of
legislation, regulations, planning and design
codes so that we are better able to meet the
expectations of today’s Western Australians.
Our comprehensive revamp of the state’s
licensing infrastructure has equipped us to deal
with some six million transactions each year. 

In recognition of the growing importance of
regional Western Australia, we have strengthened
our presence in the regions by establishing a
series of ‘one-stop shops’ and appointing senior
regional service managers across the state.  In
addition, we have introduced an innovative
‘Executive Director Sponsorship’ program in
which each Executive Director provides a top-
level conduit between a nominated region, senior

staff in other agencies and in local government,
as well as within the Department.

Our community consultation has been second
to none, led by our Minister’s initiative to create
the flagship event ‘Dialogue with the city’. This
groundbreaking event has changed forever the
way that the views of Western Australians are
harnessed to drive improvements to our city.

The principles laid out at Dialogue have become
the foundations for the way we plan Perth’s
future. There is much more to do and further
engagement with the community will be
needed to develop implementation strategies.  

Making a difference
In addition to building better places to live, I am
pleased to be able to say that the Department’s
other products and services have made
important contributions to the state’s economic
and social wellbeing.

This year, for the first time, we used university
research to objectively measure the economic
impact of the Department’s activities. These
figures are indicative of the positive effects our
work has on the community:

■ Our work in the area of planning approvals
directly contributed to economic activity
valued at more than $3 billion and
generated some 85,000 direct and indirect
jobs across Western Australia. 

■ The Department provides support to the
building and development industries by
contributing an average of 10,000 new
building lots each year, with a value in
excess of $1 billion. 
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■ Of all state government agencies, the
Department is the second highest
contributor to Western Australia’s revenue
base, providing funds for valuable
community services.

■ As a regulator, we collect more than 
$1 billion each year. 

■ We take our responsibility for future
generations very seriously as we manage 
93 per cent of Western Australia’s land 
mass through the Crown land section of 
the Department.

On behalf of the Government, we also give 
back to the state: in 2003-04, we distributed
over $40 million in local community grants and
subsidies to help build local bicycle and  boating
facilities and regional airport infrastructure,
improve public transport safety, assist students,
pensioners and people with a disability, and
support regional air services and shipping routes. 

Our partners
One of our important roles is to work with
other agencies and with industry to create
policies that benefit all members of the
community. During the year we undertook a
review of the planning approvals process - an
initiative undertaken in partnership with
industry leaders such as the Property Council of
Australia and the Urban Development Institute
of Australia. I’m pleased to be able to report
that the positive outcomes resulting from such
collaborative partnerships are being adopted at
all levels of the Department.

Improving our community within
A very important community is our own staff,
and this year we introduced a range of
initiatives under the Business Excellence
Framework designed to give staff more support.

Our values workshops were delivered to nearly
one third of our staff.  We conducted the
inaugural staff survey to measure staff attitudes
and opinions and have consolidated our
performance management system to enable
staff and managers to work more closely
together.  We have also introduced 360 degree
feedback regarding leadership performance.

I am proud that our standard of financial
accountability set last year has continued to
improve through the strengthening of Internal
Audit’s role and scope and our move towards
finding a better funding model based on
demand for services.  The Department is also
the nominated host agency for the Shared
Services Centre (Cluster 5) and preparations are
under way to support this government initiative.

To the future 
A functional review of the Department for
Planning and Infrastructure commenced in 
March 2004, to examine how well we serve 
the community and the State Government. The
review was led by a former Director General of
Transport, Stuart Hicks, and supported by
managers from the Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet and the Department of Treasury
and Finance.

The results of that review will shape our
activities and refine our operating processes and
service delivery. I’m confident that the
recommendations made by the review
committee will realise the full potential of the
agency and I look forward to implementing
them to ensure a stronger and more effective
Department.  A detailed analysis of the
recommendations of the functional review can
be found on page 16. 

The Department’s focus on improving lives with
‘outside-the-square’ innovation such as the
hydrogen cell bus trial, means we will be well
placed in the coming year to deliver our vision
of an enriched quality of life to the communities
of Western Australia.

Greg Martin

Director General
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In addition to building better places to live, the Department’s
other products and services have made important contributions 
to the state’s economic and social wellbeing.



Our contribution to Western Australia
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The work of the Department for Planning and Infrastructure is so diverse and so wide-ranging that
almost every person in the state benefits in one way or another. Of all government agencies, the
Department is the second highest contributor (after Treasury) to Western Australia’s revenue base,
providing funds for valuable community services.

Some of our activities included:
■ In the area of planning approvals, directly

contributing to economic activity valued at
$3 billion; 

■ Generating 85,000 direct and indirect jobs
in towns and suburbs across Western Australia;

■ Supporting the building and development
industries through the approval of building
lots, to a value upwards of $1 billion;

■ Providing more than $40 million in grants
and subsidies to assist students, pensioners
and people with a disability and help build
airport, bicycle and boating infrastructure; 

■ Speaking directly with 100,000 people
through community forums and workshops;

■ Issuing 1.3 million licence renewals for cars,
trucks, motor cycles and trailers;

■ Registering 72,000 recreational boats and
returning funds to the boating community
through safety and education programs;

■ Conducting more than 40,000 driving tests;
■ Conducting more than six million licensing

transactions, including online payments; 
■ Reducing car use by 100 million kilometres

through implementing the innovative
TravelSmart programs - the equivalent of
taking 7500 cars off our roads; 

■ Selling more than 14,000 custom 
vehicle plates, earning revenue in excess 
of $2.7 million;

■ Managing 6000 Ministerials and 400
Parliamentary Questions; 

■ Providing boat harbours and facilities at 31
locations along the Western Australian coast;

■ Providing protected harbours for Western
Australia’s fishing industry which provides
$750 million to the state’s economy;

■ Managing leases to the pastoral industry
that contributes $200 million to our economy;

■ Arranging regional land assembly for
LandCorp at 21 locations throughout 
the state;

■ Acquiring 350 parcels of land for future gas
corridors and expansion of existing
infrastructure corridors;

■ Commencing 147 exclusions on 97 pastoral
leases to address competing demands on
the land for Aboriginal use, tourism,
conservation and recreation; 

■ Completing 7000 Crown land transactions;
■ Managing 200 native title negotiations 

and consultations for proposals affecting
Crown land;

■ Preparing legal and settlement documents
for the Perth Convention and Exhibition
Centre;

■ Managing approximately 2000 leases over
unallocated Crown land, covering more
than 250 purposes. 



Highlights of our work

The outcome being pursued by the Department for Planning and Infrastructure is integrated and
sustainable land, transport and infrastructure systems to create better places to live and more vibrant
places in which to do business, and to connect all communities in Western Australia.

Because of our work during the year:
■ Future developments in Perth will feature pedestrian-friendly streets, convenient public transport

and more open space thanks to the planned outcomes of Dialogue with the city.
■ Perth will have an adequate supply of land to meet the needs of a growing population.
■ Our valuable coastline is being protected through projects that involve community partnerships,

and through better planning and management.
■ Our community is safer, following the introduction of stringent new measures to improve

transport security in a new global environment stemming from terrorist attacks around the world. 
■ The south west of the metropolitan region will benefit from a strategic, integrated transport plan

which gives priority to addressing personal transport issues, travel demand management,
integrating transport and land uses, improving public transport services and building new
infrastructure.

■ Thirty-seven regional communities have safer and more accessible airports through the Regional
Airports Development Scheme.

■ The Perth Bicycle Network has grown to be a system of shared-use paths and on-road cycle
routes with a total length of more than 700 kilometres, thanks to a further funding injection of
around $8 million in 2003-04.

■ Perth people travelled 100 million fewer kilometres by car, reducing greenhouse gas emissions
by an estimated 30,000 tonnes through the innovative TravelSmart programs.

■ Taxi users are receiving a better level of service and drivers already working in the industry have
taken a greater stake in the business as a result of the release of 48 leased taxi plates.

■ Indigenous groups in the state’s north west have improved access to land because native title
issues and pastoral lease issues are being addressed.

■ Residents of regional Western Australia have easy access to the full range of the Department’s
services thanks to the establishment of ‘one-stop shops’ in Geraldton and Kalgoorlie, and a new
CBD office in Bunbury combining licensing and regional transport services.

7



Summary of what the 
Department is funded to do
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Policy and Planning
$20.605 million
Land use and transport infrastructure planning
and implementation strategies to guide the
state’s long-term urban settlement and social
and economic development, coordination and
development of strategic transport policies 
and plans.

Service Delivery
$541.297 million
Service delivery in the areas of transport
infrastructure, land development, land and
property services and management of the
portfolio’s land and transport infrastructure assets.

Our efforts have significantly contributed to the Government’s strategic objective of “a growing and
diversified economy”. 

The Department for Planning and Infrastructure is a Department of State and the lead agency in
policy, planning and service delivery of transport and land use for Western Australia. It develops plans
and policies, recommends funding, and works with others to ensure ‘on the ground’ service delivery. 

As identified in the State Budget, the Department’s outcome is integrated and sustainable land,
transport and infrastructure systems. 

We were resourced with $561.902 million to pursue this outcome through two outputs: 

Output 1 - Land use and transport infrastructure policy and planning

Output 2 - Land use and transport infrastructure service delivery

During the year, there were functional changes in the Department, including the transfer of public
transport to the Public Transport Authority, and accordingly our budget was changed to $235.1
million. Refer to the Financial Statements for details on the Department’s resourcing during the
financial year.



Corporate scorecard
A detailed analysis of our achievements can be found in the section beginning on page 77. 
The following is a sample of some key performances.
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An award-winning agency

These awards represent a significant
achievement for staff and importantly,
reassurance for the community that the
Department is delivering the best possible
programs to improve lives across the state.

More accountable school bus contracts 
In 2003, a project that significantly improved
the contract management of school bus services
by bringing it into the digital age won a
prestigious Premier’s Award for Excellence in
the category of Management Improvement and
Governance.

The initiative involved replacing the inaccurate,
expensive, labour intensive and unreliable collection
of outdated bus route descriptions and hand-

drawn maps with a state-of-the-art electronic
system, measured accurately and easily updated.

Now, all 800 school bus contracts in Western
Australia, serving some 25,000 children and
their families, can be managed more effectively.
Taxpayers know precisely what their dollars are
paying for and contractors are able to tender
more accurately for routes.

Improved coastal planning
Our coastal planning project, managed on
behalf of the Western Australian Planning
Commission, is unique in Australia. It was a
joint winner in the category of Environmental
Planning or Conservation in the 2003 Planning
Institute of Australia Awards.

In the last 12 months, many of the Department’s
initiatives have been independently acknowledged
for their excellence, innovation and leadership.
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The initiative establishes partnerships with local
governments along the state’s coastline.
Officers in the Department work alongside
resource-stretched regional councils, taking
responsibility for work that crosses individual
local government boundaries, and bringing a
statewide view to coastal issues.

It also offers grants to enable regional and
remote councils - which may not have a planner
on staff - to undertake important longer term
planning projects.

Walking School Bus wins national praise
One of the Department’s Walking School Bus
success stories was the Western Australian
winner in the category of ‘State Project by a
Community Organisation’ in the National Heart
Foundation’s Kellogg Local Government Awards.

The initiative was commended by the judges for
its success in addressing children’s fitness and
helping to reduce cars around schools, and for
its partnership approach involving the school,
the wider community and the Department’s
TravelSmart team.

Walking School Bus involves at least two adult
volunteers who walk from home to school along
an agreed route, with students joining the ‘bus’
along the way - then home again in the afternoon.

Grants to improve our coast
The Coastwest Grants Program was awarded a
Special Commendation for Environmental
Planning or Conservation at the 2003 Planning
Institute of Australia Awards.

The initiative, which is funded by the Western
Australian Planning Commission, provides
much-needed funds for local community groups
to conduct their own conservation and
rehabilitation projects. 

Since 1995, Coastwest and its predecessor
Coastcare, have enabled more than 20,000
hours of community volunteer work on
initiatives such as restoring wetlands and dunes
in hundreds of projects along the state’s coast.

The program was also a finalist in the
Sustainable Environment Category in the 2003
Premier’s Awards for Excellence.

Dialogue with the city wins international
recognition
Our community consultation has achieved
international recognition as a groundbreaking
initiative to change the way that the views of
our citizens are harnessed. 

The principles laid out at Dialogue with the city
to drive improvements to our city have ensured
Western Australia is a finalist in the annual
Commonwealth Association for Public
Administration and Management Awards. 

The Department is one of 10 finalists out of 154
entries from the 72 countries represented by the
association. The world-wide finals will be held in
October 2004 in Singapore. 

Queen’s Birthday honour
A long-serving member of our maritime team
was awarded one of the state’s most prestigious
public service awards in the Queen’s Birthday
honours in June 2004. Principal Policy Advisor
John Morris received the Public Service Medal
for his outstanding work with the state’s port
authorities.



Corporate management

Our vision and mission underpin and inspire all
our activities. They provide a focus for every
work unit and enable all staff to understand
how their work benefits the community.
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Vision:
Enriched quality of life for all Western
Australians through sustainable communities.

Mission:
To lead in creative and sustainable solutions for
land, transport and infrastructure planning and
delivery, for the benefit of the community.

Values:
The Department’s values underpin all of our
business practices and our interactions with
others. These are:

Teamwork
We work together in the spirit of cooperation

Respect
We welcome and accept differences and
commonalities

Passion
We embrace work with enthusiasm and energy

Learning and innovation
We grow and seek better solutions

Commitment and pride
We strive for excellence and doing our best

Honesty and integrity
We act ethically and fairly

Leadership
We inspire and guide others

Understanding
We listen and respond appropriately

Business Excellence Framework:
To assist in the improvement of all our activities,
we have adopted the Business Excellence
Framework as our management model. All
improvement initiatives are diagnosed and then
managed under the following categories:

Leadership
Knowledge and information
Customer and market focus
Strategic planning
People management
Innovation
Organisation performance

The table on the next page indicates the
significant progress under way.
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As part of the Organisational Journey for the Department for Planning and Infrastructure, we as an organisation have instigated several initiatives that fall

under the seven categories of the framework. As results of the Guided Self-Assessments are analysed, and improvement initiatives identified, there will be more

mechanisms put in place to support the Department for Planning and Infrastructure’s future management. Projects indicated with an asterisk (*) indicate that

these projects are still under way. Please note some of the categories have changed since 30 June.

Business Excellence Framework

Leadership

■ Leadership 
Development* 

■ Corporate 
Governance 
Framework 

■ Corporate 
Governance Audit 

■ Control Self 
Assessment* 

■ Risk Management 
Policy and Procedures

■ Business Planning 
Process 

■ Costing and Pricing 
Policy 

■ Portfolio Partnerships 
■ Providing Leadership 

Through Corporate 
Directions 

■ CorpEx Sub 
Committees 

■ Peak Reference 
Groups for 
Community and
Industry Participation 

■ Dialogue with the 
City 

■ 360 Degree Feedback
■ Graduate Development
■ Frontline Management

Knowledge & information

■ AS400/TRELIS 
Licensing Customer 
Database* 

■ Oracle 11I FMIS 
■ Concept HRMIS 
■ Statutory Service 

Planning Suite 
■ Planning Information 

Systems 
■ Maris - Maritime Suite
■ Crown Land Systems 
■ Records Management

Systems 
■ Internet 
■ Intranet 
■ Vessels and Jetty 

Registrations 
■ Marine Safety 

Systems 
■ Taxi Systems 
■ Bikewest 
■ School Bus 
■ Parliamentary and 

Ministerial Tracking 
■ HelpDesk 
■ Complaints 

Management System*

Customer & market focus

■ External Committees 
■ Reviews of Several 

Committees 
■ Complaints 

Management Policy 
and Procedures 

■ Customer Service 
Charter* 

■ Freedom of 
Information 

■ WAPC Service Level 
Agreement 

■ Strategic Customer 
Service Policy 

■ Customer Research 
■ Stakeholder and 

Customer Perception 
Qualitative Research

Strategic planning

■ Corporate Direction 
■ Business Plans
■ Information 

Management Plan 
■ Audit Plan 
■ Corporate Planning 

Framework 
■ Corporate Planning 

Calendar 
■ Strategic Risk 

Assessment 
■ Disability Services Plan*
■ Financial Planning 

Calendar 
■ Resource Allocation - 

Budget Statements
■ Workforce Plan 

People management

■ Performance 
Development Program* 

■ Code of Conduct* 
■ Training and 

Development Program 
■ HR Policies 
■ OHS and EEO Programs 
■ Values 
■ Staff Surveys 
■ Awards and 

Recognition Program* 
■ Employee Survey
■ Performance 

Development Program 

Innovation

■ Asset Management 
Review

■ Licensing Functional 
Review

■ Outputs as Specified 
in the Budget 
Statements

■ Products and Services 
as Stated in the 
Annual Report

■ Innovative Processes
such as:
- TravelSmart 
- Fuel Cell Bus Project*
- Transport Energy 

Strategy Group* 
- Planning Channel 
- Joint Initiative 

Integrated Planning 
Project Catalogue 
Joint Initiative* 

- Revitalisation 
Projects 

- Urban Design 
- Major Planned 

Initiatives as per 
Budget Statements*

■ Dynamic Resourcing 
Project*

Organisation performance

■ KPI Review 
■ Outcome Based 

Management* 
■ Annual Reporting 
■ Business Plan Internal 

Reporting
■ HR KPI and 

Management 
Reporting*



About the Department

The Department for Planning and Infrastructure entered a new era on 1 July 2003 with the final
implementation of the Machinery of Government recommendations and the structural
improvements announced by the Director General in the previous year: 

■ The Land Administration Services team, which manages the Crown land in Western Australia,
joined Land Asset Management to form part of Commercial and Asset Services.

■ The Department of Fisheries was assigned maritime safety (on the sea) with a corresponding
movement of resources and is accountable for service delivery to the Minister for Planning 
and Infrastructure. 

■ Transperth, School Buses and Public Transport Infrastructure joined the Public Transport Authority.

In 2003-04, the Department for Planning and Infrastructure was structured into six divisions:

■ Strategic Policy and Evaluation - responsible for portfolio coordination; sustainability strategy
implementation; transport policy; strategic program delivery; and revitalisation strategies.

■ Integrated Planning - delivers land use policy and planning; transport policy and planning;
environmental planning; and infrastructure and development coordination on behalf of the
Western Australian Planning Commission and other clients.

■ Commercial and Asset Services - manages $1.6 billion of assets including Crown and reserved
lands; natural and built infrastructure; parks; gas pipelines; boat harbours; jetties and
navigational aids; and provides commercial services for the rest of the Department.
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Clockwise from back left:
Athol Jamieson, Ray Stokes,
Paul Frewer, Dennis Forte,
Mike Mouritz, Greg Martin,
Helen Langley



Refer to Appendix 1 for details of the qualifications and experience of the Director General and
Executive Directors.

As at 30 June 2004, our organisational structure was:
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■ Regulatory and Regional Services - manages all licensing; subsidy policy and administration;
vehicle, rail and marine safety regulation; taxi and omnibus regulation; revenue collection; and
regional coordination throughout the state.

■ Statutory Planning - on behalf of the Western Australian Planning Commission investigates,
assesses and determines subdivision and development proposals, local government and region
schemes and amendments, and various structure plans; is responsible for statutory policy
development, legislative and regulatory reform and planning systems improvement; and
provides administrative support.

■ Corporate Services - provides internal systems, services and resources to support departmental
operations, and supports greater use of shared services across agencies.

Financial Planning

Bill Ielati

Accounting Services

K.P. Chan

Financial Systems

Michael D’Souza

Asset Planning
and Services

Joy Johnston

Asset Management

Peter McNally (A)

Western Australian
Planning
Commission
Business
Management

Neill Fernandes

Business Manager

Ian Scullin

Marine
Safety

Brian Riches

Passenger 
Services

Rob Leicester

Licensing and
Regional Services

Jenny Bunbury

Regional Liaison

Roger Acacio

Finance and
Business Operations

John Rooke

Rail Safety

Rob Burrows

Portfolio Policy
and Strategies

Judith O’Keeffe (A)

Transport Freight
and Logistics

Kim Stone

Strategic Programs

Robert Campbell

Sustainability

David Nunn

Revitalisation and
Urban Design
Projects

Brian Curtis

Business Manager

Paul Crew

Strategic Planning
and Infrastructure

Mike Allen

Integrated
Transport Planning

Paul Trichilo

Environmental and
Natural Resource
Planning

Robert Griffiths (A)

Planning
Information

Lindsay Preece

Business Manager

Kerry Wilson

(A) is Acting
* Functions reporting to the Director General and Corporate Executive on all operational and strategic matters.

Planning
Reform

Vince McMullen (A)

Project Director
(Temporary)

Robyn Barrow (A)

Planning
Commission Services

Krisha Rowcroft (A)

Business Manager

William Wee (A)

Manager
Metropolitan North

Neil Foley

Manager
Metropolitan South

Eugene Ferraro

Manager South
West

Larry Guise

Manager Peel

Cameron Bulstrode

Manager Geraldton

Jerom Hurley

Manager Albany

Stephen Petersen

Contracts and
Central Services

Craig Shepherd

Human Resources

John Mercadante

Information
Services

Paul Wilkins

*Internal Audit

Colleen Kelly

*Communications
and Community
Relations

Arabella Taylor
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Functional review

The independent functional review of the Department for Planning and Infrastructure has endorsed
the model integrating land use and transport planning pioneered in Western Australia.

Bringing the state's land use and transport planning specialists together into the one agency, within
an integrated portfolio and accountable to one Minister, was lauded as the envy of other states.

The report recommends a series of key reforms to enable the Department to adapt to more modern
business practices and address the emerging issues in creating better places to live. 

These include:

■ Simplifying the Department’s core functions into policy, service delivery and corporate support; 
■ Strengthening the Department's policy area with the appointment of a Deputy Director General,

a senior policy specialist who will oversee and integrate all policy functions;
■ Completing the process of integration by bringing policy units together rather than have them

spread unevenly over three divisions;
■ Transforming areas of the Department into business units run by general managers, with more

autonomy and clearly defined customer bases;
■ Focusing corporate services on strategic functions and adding Finance and Business Planning;
■ Establishing a specialist unit to support the Western Australian Planning Commission 
■ Collocating 'like' functions as soon as possible and practical; and
■ Increasing the training and support given to staff.

It is expected that the new organisation will be fully operational by June 2005.
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Recommended Department for Planning and Infrastructure Processes and Functions

POLICY STRATEGIC CORPORATE SUPPORT SERVICE DELIVERY ‘SHARED SERVICES’ DELIVERY

The development of a The undertaking of activities that support The provision of a range of discrete The provision of a range of
comprehensive range of the pursuit of policy and service delivery services related to aspects of corporate support services to 
transport, land and land use outcomes transport, land or land use to some 40 WA government 
policies and strategies, customers in the community, instrumentalities
underpinned by robust analysis industry and/or government.
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DEPUTY DIRECTOR GENERAL
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Policy Policy
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Enhancing performance through partnerships

During the year we focused on improving 
the state’s land use and transport planning
functions, and delivery of seamless and holistic
planning and policy. Our portfolio partners are
integral to overall performance. These activities
sit within the organisation performance
category of our Business Excellence Framework.
The portfolio was created to draw planning and infrastructure together under the one Minister. The
Department for Planning and Infrastructure is the lead agency within the portfolio and is the policy
body to the ‘service’ agencies of Main Roads Western Australia, the port authorities, the
redevelopment authorities, LandCorp, the Western Australian Planning Commission and the Public
Transport Authority.

A portfolio view eliminates duplication, targets resources more effectively and ensures a broad, 
long-range, cross-agency planning focus.
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Minister for Planning and Infrastructure

Improving coordination of land use and transport infrastructure planning and service delivery 
for better communities.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE STATUTORY AUTHORITY

Department for Planning and Infrastructure Western Australian Planning Commission

Main Roads Western Australia

Public Transport Authority 

Port Authorities:
■ Fremantle ■ Broome
■ Geraldton ■ Port Hedland
■ Bunbury ■ Dampier
■ Albany ■ Esperance

LandCorp

Redevelopment Authorities:
■ Armadale ■ East Perth
■ Subiaco ■ Midland



Enhancing performance through partnerships
(continued)

Within the portfolio
The Department for Planning and Infrastructure
coordinates and integrates policy advice across
the portfolio. This includes the state’s participation
in the management and work of national
transport, land use and other relevant forums,
as well as Western Australia’s response to strategic,
multi-dimensional issues and national initiatives
on transport, land use and other relevant matters.

In 2003-04, we took a collaborative and
integrated approach to a number of significant
projects, including: 

■ The New MetroRail project in conjunction
with the Public Transport Authority, LandCorp,
Main Roads Western Australia and the
Western Australian Planning Commission;

■ The Dialogue with the city initiative in
conjunction with the Western Australian
Planning Commission, Public Transport
Authority, LandCorp, Main Roads Western
Australia, the redevelopment authorities and
the port authorities; 

■ Fremantle Outer Harbour planning in
conjunction with the Western Australian
Planning Commission and Fremantle Port
Authority; 

■ Improving Perth’s freight network in conjunction
with Main Roads Western Australia, Fremantle
Port Authority and the Public Transport
Authority;

■ Improving the Perth Bicycle Network with
Main Roads Western Australia and the
Public Transport Authority; and

■ Improving air quality and people’s fitness
through the TravelSmart initiative with the
Public Transport Authority and local
governments. 

Working with other agencies
The wide-ranging nature of our work means we
liaise and cooperate with government agencies
outside the portfolio to achieve our outcomes.
For instance, we are working with:

■ The Department of Environmental
Protection to identify potentially
contaminated sites on Crown land 
- this is a key priority for 2004-05;

■ The Department of Employment and
Consumer Protection to improve safety and
compliance in the maritime industry;

■ The Department of Fisheries for the delivery
of safety at sea compliance services; 

■ The Western Australia Police Service and the
Insurance Commission of Western Australia
to generate and collect information in
relation to vehicle licensing;

■ The Department of Industry and Resources
in relation to mining approvals and
infrastructure corridors; 

■ The Commonwealth Department of
Territories for the provision of planning,
transport and land administration to the
Cocos (Keeling) Islands and Christmas Island;

■ The Commonwealth Department of
Transport and Regional Services (DOTARS),
Main Roads Western Australia and industry
to implement AusLink - a new approach to
funding land transport infrastructure; 

■ DOTARS, the Western Australia Police
Service, the Department of Premier and
Cabinet, the Department of Industry and
Resources, industry groups and counterparts
in other states to improve transport security
across the nation;

■ The Office of Native Title (Department of
Premier and Cabinet) to give effect to
aboriginal land tenure;

■ Department of Conservation and Land
Management to secure valuable conservation
lands for future generations; and

■ Fire and Emergency Services Authority of
WA to ensure fire and hazard controls 
on crown lands.

We also provide financial support to the
Planning and Transport Research Centre and
representatives of the Department sit on the
boards of key educational institutions devoted
to portfolio and related issues, including the
Institute of Regional Development (University of
Western Australia), the Centre for Sustainable
Tourism (Curtin University of Technology), the
Centre for Spatial Science (Central TAFE) and
the Curriculum Council’s geography team.
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On the national stage
We are also closely involved with portfolio
initiatives at a national level. For example, the
Department has been a significant driver of the
National Transport Security Strategy currently
being developed to assist with counter terrorism
arrangements. The National Transport
Commission and the Commonwealth
Government AusLink initiatives have significant
implications for the state and we provide
leadership and representation on behalf of
Western Australia.

We have helped implement the
recommendations of the national road and rail
transport reviews and influenced the design of
the resulting National Transport Commission
and its Inter-Governmental Agreement and
legislation. We also represent the state on the
Standing Committee on Transport and the
National Planning Officials Group, which
respectively address transport and planning
issues of national concern. Our Director General
is the Chair of the Australian Maritime Group
on behalf of the Standing Committee on Transport.

Working with industry
The Department improved the efficiency and
effectiveness of land freight transport by working
alongside industry through the Western Australian
Rail Advisory Council, the Western Australian Road

Freight Council and the Grains Infrastructure Group,
which replaces the Grains Logistics Committee. 

Similarly, we worked with industry on the Sea
Freight Council and developed new policies across
a range of port, shipping and logistics issues.

We support the Ministerial Fishing Industry
Advisory Committee as well as Maritime
Advisory Councils at 26 boat harbours.

Pastoralists’ involvement in the future of their
industry is routinuely sought by the Pastoral
Lands Board.

To fulfil our role as the state’s lead planning
agency, we also worked closely with the Urban
Development Institute of Australia, the Property
Council of Australia, the Real Estate Institute of
Western Australia, and the Housing Industry
Association.

We also worked closely with the Chamber of
Commerce and Industry, the Western Australian
Local Government Association and the
Sustainable Transport Coalition.
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The wide-ranging nature of our work means we liaise and
cooperate with government agencies outside the portfolio 
to achieve our outcomes.
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Financial summary

In 2003-04 the Department recorded a net
cost of services of $152.1 million.
Expenses from ordinary activities totalled $235.1 million for the year. The bulk of the expenditure
related to employee expenses, supplies and services, grants and subsidies and capital user charge.

Net cost refers to the difference between expenditure and revenue, before funding from State
Government, for those operations we ‘control’ as opposed to those operations we administer on
behalf of the Government.

Operating Expenses for 2004 (in $ thousands)

Revenue of $83 million for the year was made up of the items displayed in the graph below. 

Operating Revenue for 2004 (in $ thousands)
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The Department’s equity at 30 June 2004 
was $288.7 million and comprised total
accumulated equity contributions of $89.6
million from Government, asset revaluation
reserves of $15.1 million and accumulated
surpluses of $184.0 million. Funding of the
Department’s net cost of services was primarily
by means of output appropriation funding from
the Consolidated Fund.

Total appropriations received were $130.8
million including $8.9 million which was
retained by the Department of Treasury and
Finance to be used to fund future employee
leave entitlements and replace assets. This
significantly differs from the Published Budget
Statements due to transfers to/from other
agencies. This is further explained in the Notes
to Financial Statements 40(i).



The last five years in perspective
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Statement of Financial Performance

2003-04 2002-03 2001-02 2000-01 1999-00
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Expenses from ordinary activities:

Employee expenses 79,927 77,579 43,156 50,904 52,370

Grants and subsidies 40,609 332,076 257,366 339,132 318,002

Borrowing costs 488 18,620 17,836 19,069 13,765

Capital User Charge 24,108 15,297 13,761 0 0
Depreciation and amortisation 7,578 26,216 24,069 23,436 21,982
Other expenses 82,352 100,613 53,969 84,770 79,091

TOTAL COST OF SERVICES 235,062 570,401 410,157 517,311 485,210

Total Revenues from Ordinary Activities 82,955 163,759 47,265 158,112 152,251

NET COST OF SERVICES 152,107 406,642 362,892 359,199 332,959

REVENUES FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 136,049 405,946 386,110 418,236 298,092

Summary of Financial Performance
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Expenditure Analysis

Notes:

(1) The 2001-02 data exclude the Licensing function, which was reported separately in 2001-02 under the
Department of Transport. The Department of Transport was amalgamated with the Department for Planning 
and Infrastructure in 2002-03. 

(2) During 2003-04, the Land Administration Services function from the Department of Land Information was
amalgamated with the Department for Planning and Infrastructure operations.  In addition, the Public Transport
Services function was transferred from the Department for Planning and Infrastructure to the newly formed Public
Transport Authority and the 'At Sea' marine safety functions were amalgamated with the Department of Fisheries.
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Changing Perth for the better 
- Dialogue with the city

Before Dialogue, there had never been a
concerted single effort to get broad, yet
representative, community opinions on the
future for the whole of Perth. 

Months in the planning, Dialogue brought more
than 1100 people from many walks of life together
to make decisions that will shape the growth of
Perth and its surrounds for the next 30 years. 

Dialogue with the city was modelled on the
public participation exercise undertaken in New
York to plan how the September 11 tragedy would
be commemorated at the Ground Zero site. 

It aimed to go much further than previous
community consultation - to start with facts and
figures and give as many people as possible the
opportunity to have an equal say.

Engaging the community
To ensure Dialogue was as effective as possible,
one of the most ambitious community involvement
efforts ever mobilised in Perth swung into action.

The Department conducted a survey of 8000
residents to gauge community attitudes about
Perth’s future; nine discussion papers were
published to help inform people of the most
pressing issues; online discussion groups
debated vigorously; an art and essay
competition engaged school children in the
future of their city; and a massive information
campaign brought the subject to the newspapers
and letterboxes of residents all over Perth.

Media coverage included major features in 
The West Australian newspaper and a special
live forum on Channel 7. Significant sponsorship
support was also provided by AlphaWest, Sun
Microsystems, AD Industries and BHPBilliton
Iron Ore.  

To ensure a range of truly representative
viewpoints, the Dialogue team held listening
sessions with youth, Aboriginal people and
people whose first language is not English.

Selecting the 800 community participants
involved a random community ballot and a
massive information campaign through the
media inviting people to nominate.  Participants
were chosen to reflect current proportions of
age, gender and geographical location, as well
as the broadest possible range of community
interest groups. 

The Dialogue vision
After a day of debate and discussion, the
Dialogue participants achieved a groundbreaking
consensus for Perth’s future. They wanted:

■ A green, clean environment with access to
beaches, rivers and forests;

■ Integrated transport to allow people to
move around easily;

■ Local centres with services and facilities
close to home; 

■ A lifestyle that offers freedom of choice and
quality of life; and

■ Protection of groundwater catchment areas
to preserve clean water for the future. 

Building on Dialogue
A team of around 58 people from government,
industry and the community are now directly
involved in fleshing out the broad principles to
map our way forward to achieve the Dialogue
dream. The ‘Network City’ strategy is the action
plan through which the outcomes of Dialogue
with the city are being implemented, and a
draft planning blueprint will be ready for
discussion in 2004-05.

An innovative $1.5 million grants program was
launched by the Western Australian Planning
Commission in May 2004 to help local councils
replicate the Dialogue process within their own
municipal boundaries, to have even more
people contributing their views towards
improving our city.

September 2003 saw the Department host 
the biggest-ever community consultation
exercise of its type in the southern hemisphere:
Dialogue with the city. 
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Working together, more Perth people than ever before have
helped to create the first phase of what will be a revitalised city.



Making it easier to talk to us

Hand in hand with our commitment to creating
better places to live for Western Australians has
been our drive to make the Department as
approachable as possible.  This fits within the
customer and market focus category of our
Business Excellence Framework.

In the past 12 months we have made
improvements across the Department, aimed at
making it easier for people to talk to us.

These reforms go beyond letting people ‘have
their say’. They kick-start a dialogue - effective
two-way communication.  This helps the
Department understand what people want, so
we can continually improve services and
develop initiatives that meet expectations. 

Our emphasis on community participation has
seen people and planners come together at
landmark forums such as Dialogue with the city,
local community events, workshops and
committees, all supported by a huge range of
public information through advertisements,
leaflets, brochures and displays.

Improving our public face
Our community relations program has seen a
range of initiatives during the year:

■ An overhaul of the Internet site to make it
easier to find information, with a simple
community feedback system;

■ A quarterly newsletter, Creating
Communities, to keep people informed
about what the Department is doing across
Western Australia;

■ New, simplified complaints management
and community feedback initiatives to
ensure the Department is able to identify
and resolve problems, and then make
improvements to prevent them happening
again;

■ Customer-first telephone handling
standards, providing fast and courteous
responses to phone inquiries and making
each staff member accountable for 
solving problems;

■ Informative on-hold messages to help
customers find out more about what the
Department and portfolio offer; and 

■ Improved office signage at locations around
the state to more clearly identify the
services offered.

Supporting community
consultation
During the year our focus has been to
strengthen community consultation through
workshops, community forums and major
initiatives such as Dialogue with the city.

A review of committees, forums and advisory
bodies was undertaken in 2004 to provide more
people with increased opportunities to participate
in the planning of the future of Perth.

Reflecting the Department’s increased emphasis
on maintaining effective two-way communication
with the public, the Communications and
Community Relations unit reports directly to the
Corporate Executive and Director General on all
strategic and operational issues. 

Internal communications
We have comprehensively overhauled internal
communications to ensure all staff are properly
informed about Department initiatives and their
impact on the community. Staff can now take
advantage of a new, user-friendly Intranet site
that features a daily news service, home pages
for divisions and branches, a library of policies,
standards and guidelines, staff register,
organisational structures and a file of all branch
business plans. We also have a revamped
monthly newsletter, Infralink, which provides
interesting profiles of major staff achievements.
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Strengthening links with Parliament 
and Government

In a responsive and accountable democracy,
effective communication between government
agencies, their Minister and the Parliament 
is critical.

Elected representatives rely on departmental
staff to provide accurate advice to enable them
to make good decisions and to help them
respond properly to the needs, concerns and
questions of their constituents. 

Members of the community also need to know
that if they choose to write to a Minister, their
letter will be dealt with quickly and accurately.

The new Ministerial and Parliamentary 
Services unit established almost two years ago
reports directly to the Director General and
Corporate Executive on all matters of relevance
to the Minister.

In 2003-04, the Department further improved
its service to the Minister’s office by
implementing a state-of-the-art electronic
tracking system that has superseded the
outdated ‘hard copy’ system. 

This was a critical improvement initiative for our
Minister and was implemented under the
customer category of the Business Excellence
Framework.

The system was custom-built by Department
staff and has greatly improved response times
and accuracy of information flowing between the
Department and the Minister’s office.
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Improving access and equity

Disability Service Plan
In December 2003 we updated our Disability
Service Plan to make a positive difference to the
lives of people with disabilities, their families
and carers as outlined in the Better Planning:
Better Services framework. The new strategy
focuses on five outcomes:

■ Existing services are adapted to meet the
needs of people with disabilities;

■ Access to buildings and facilities used to
provide the Department’s services is improved;

■ Information about the Department’s
services and facilities is provided in formats
that meet the communication needs of
people with disabilities;

■ Advice and services are delivered by
departmental staff who are aware of and
understand the needs of people with
disabilities; and

■ Opportunities are provided for people to
participate in public consultations, consumer
feedback and decision-making processes.

Initiatives undertaken during the year to assist
people with disabilities included:

■ Incorporating facilities for people with
disabilities in the Geraldton, Bunbury,
Broome, Kalgoorlie, Joondalup and City
West Licensing Centre refurbishments. The
refurbishments include accessible/adjustable
counters providing easier access to services
for customers in wheelchairs. The Morley

Licensing Centre is being fitted out in
accordance with new design principles and
includes disabled car parking at its entrance,
disabled shower/toilet staff facilities, ground
floor access (no stairs or steps), automatic
opening doors and access to public transport;

■ Promoting the availability of published
material in alternative forms such as Braille,
large print or audio cassette; 

■ Introducing a basic training module for staff
who want to increase their awareness and
understanding of the issues affecting people
with disabilities and seniors; and

■ Developing a more advanced training
module for people, including contractors,
who already have a working knowledge of
universal design principles.

A full access audit will be undertaken in conjunction
with the reconstruction of the Welshpool
vehicle inspection centre.  All new centres we
operate will also be subject to access audits. 

Universal design 
During the year we adopted universal design
principles to ‘mainstream’ access and mobility
concepts. For instance, an increasingly ageing
population requires changes to the way land,
transport and infrastructure systems are managed.
A whole-of-life approach to active ageing takes
into consideration the provision of optimal
opportunities for health, participation and security
to enhance quality of life as people get older.

All policies and projects undertaken by the
Department are formulated on the basis that
no person should be disadvantaged by
disability, age, location or income. Under the
Business Excellence Framework category of
customer and market focus, we set out to
improve in a number of areas during the year.



Universal design principles offer an opportunity
to incorporate innovative solutions to address
the needs of all people with disabilities
throughout the whole-of-life course. 

Disability awareness and universal 
design training 
Training workshops that offered experiential
learning for all staff were conducted during the
year. The workshops aimed to increase
understanding of all issues affecting seniors and
people with disabilities.

In particular, staff were invited to explore the
impact of an ageing population and the
infrastructure and service delivery needed to
support the baby boomer generation, considered
the biggest cohort of seniors in the state’s history.

Active ageing
During the year we liaised with personnel across
Government to coordinate and record strategic
initiatives related to the needs of an ageing
population.

In responding to the Government’s Active
Ageing Strategy, we played a key role in
identifying mainstream programs which may be
enhanced to provide a greater quality of life for
seniors through a more strategic approach to
our planning and service delivery. An example is
a planned review of the zoning of R Codes in
relation to the size of blocks and a mix of
housing types, including affordable housing,
within a transit oriented development. 

Cultural diversity and language services
We make arrangements to accommodate
people who speak a language other than
English. For instance, during Dialogue with the
city, special workshops were held for people
from non-English speaking backgrounds to
ensure their views were listened to and
presented during the forum. 

All publications are available in other formats,
including other languages. 

Flexible working hours are offered to staff to
cater for issues such as family commitments or
religious ceremonies, and a peer support group
operates throughout the Department so any
employees who are having difficulty or feeling
isolated have someone to turn to. 
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Improving access and equity (continued)
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Youth outcomes
We take seriously the need to encourage and
nurture young people in our organisation. The
Department has a Learning and Development
Program specifically targeted at young people.
The program targets graduates, offering
graduate placement and traineeships and
undertaking special training for them. 

We also engage young indigenous people and
offer them work experience and traineeships
within the organisation as part of the Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander Employment Strategy.
Five trainees were employed in both
metropolitan and regional areas over the past
12 months. As well as providing employment
opportunities for young indigenous people, this
contributes to increased awareness and
acceptance of diversity in the workplace.

During the year we employed 20 university
graduates as part of our Graduate Program.
Potential young leaders were also identified and
included in our Leadership Development Program.

A number of programs run by the Department
specifically target youth. For instance, the Cycle
to School Day, which is part of the annual
Bikeweek, specifically targets young people 
and encourages them to cycle to school. 

We actively encouraged young people’s
participation in Dialogue with the city, and
incorporated special ‘listening sessions’ for 
them to ensure that their views were clearly
heard and understood.

Volunteers
Our Volunteer Marine Safety Liaison 
Officer Program recruits and trains volunteer
liaison officers in regional areas to enhance
marine safety. 

The volunteers donate their time, boating
expertise and local knowledge, predominantly
on weekends and public holidays, to:

■ Distribute boating safety pamphlets and
general boating safety information at boat
ramps and to vessels anchored along beaches;

■ Advise boat owners of gazetted waters;
■ Conduct safety gear checks and provide

advice on safety gear, storage, accessibility,
condition etc;

■ Provide advice based on local knowledge of
weather/wind shifts and where to obtain
the latest weather information;

■ Provide suggestions on the use of marine
radios and explain the value of
communicating with local sea rescue
groups; and

■ Attend boat shows and other special events.

We currently have 35 volunteer officers at
different locations around the state.

The Walking School Bus depends on volunteers
for its success, and during the year 60
volunteers gave their time to escort children to
school safely.

More than 250 volunteers helped with the
organisation and hosting of Dialogue with the
city as facilitators, ‘scribes’, ‘theme team’
members and support ‘crew’. More than 80 per
cent of these volunteers were public servants
and all gave their time to spend a full day in
training and a full day (Saturday) at the forum.

More than 50 Department staff volunteered
their time to help with the clean up of the
Fremantle Fishing Boat Harbour during Clean Up
Australia Day in March.
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In November 2003, the Government of Western
Australia released its Better Planning: Better
Services strategy, a blueprint for improving the
quality of life of all Western Australians.

The strategy outlines the strategic outcomes
expected from all public sector agencies to
achieve the Government’s vision, that:

Western Australia will be a creative, sustainable 
and economically successful state that embraces its
multicultural heritage and its rich natural resources.
It will provide the best opportunities for current 
and future generations to live better, longer and
healthier lives.

As a Department of State, the Department 
for Planning and Infrastructure plays a critical
role in making that vision a reality, and much of
our work is focused on initiatives that underpin
the strategy. 

This report on operations has been structured to
reflect the five key priorities that Government
has established to achieve Better Planning:
Better Services. They are:

■ People and communities
■ The economy
■ The environment
■ The regions
■ Governance

In accordance with the Government’s
requirement for output-based reporting,
achievements under each heading in the report
on operations have been included under our
two outputs of either:

■ Policy and planning, or 
■ Service delivery
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Report on operations

Our work is focused on initiatives aimed at
improving the quality of life of all Western
Australians.



People and communities

Enhancing the quality of life and wellbeing of
all people throughout Western Australia. 
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Policy and planning
Community consultation on Perth’s future
In September 2003 we staged Dialogue with
the city - the biggest community consultation
forum of its type ever held in the southern
hemisphere. More than just an event, Dialogue
was a process of engaging the community in
debate to develop a deliverable planning strategy
for Perth, Mandurah and Murray with the goal
of making Perth the ‘world’s most liveable city’. 

The results of the forum have been published
and work is well under way to make Perth an
even better place to live. For more detailed
information regarding Dialogue with the city,
refer to page 24.

Countering terrorism
The new global environment stemming from
terrorist attacks around the world has led to
stringent new measures to improve transport security.

To prepare for the requirements of the new
regime being regulated by the Commonwealth,
new international maritime security
arrangements have been put in place and there
has been a further tightening of aviation
security. Land and surface transport falls within
the jurisdiction of states and territories. Priority
has been given to improving the security of
mass transit passengers.

We have developed the Western Australian
Transport Security Strategy that aims to reduce
the likelihood of our transport system becoming
a target for terrorism. The strategy was
distributed to those involved in sea ports,
airports and the rail, bus, coach, passenger
vessel and trucking industries.

The Public Transport Authority has made
changes to bus and train stations, employed
more transit guards and integrated counter-
terrorism plans with other operational plans.
Digital cameras have been installed at all
stations and images are monitored 24 hours a
day. Similar security has been applied to the
Graham Farmer Freeway tunnel.

Better taxi services
We worked closely with the taxi industry to
develop a better standard of service. The
consultation undertaken as part of the taxi
review in the Perth metropolitan area resulted in
a reform package which determined that:

■ The industry would not be deregulated and
there would not be a buy-back of taxi plates; 

■ Additional taxi plates would be issued by
lease from the Government to meet
customer demand;

■ Fare and leasing rates would remain regulated;
■ Maximum taxi plate lease rates would be

reduced from $453 a week to $355; and
■ The Taxi Act (1994) would be amended.

We offered another 48 taxi plates for lease to
give drivers more opportunities to be owner-
operators, meet increased demand for taxi
services and reduce costs. Under the new lease
arrangement, drivers will pay between $50 and
$250 a week for their taxi plates, depending on
the type of plate issued.

A review of the regulatory issues relating to
country taxis has also been undertaken. A draft
report has been prepared and distributed and
final recommendations will be made to the
Minister early in 2004-05. 
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Sustainable planning
We have made sustainable planning a key focus
during the year, and have worked hard to help
the Western Australian Planning Commission
improve the integration of sustainability into the
state’s planning and development processes.
Forging partnerships with the development
industry and local government to demonstrate
and inform improved processes and practices
has been a hallmark of our activities.

In partnership with local authorities, we
completed a strategic integrated transport plan
for the south west of the metropolitan region.
The 70 recommendations in South West
Metropolitan Integrated Transport Plan address
personal transport issues, managing travel
demand, integrating transport and land uses,
improving public transport services and building
new infrastructure. 

Freight in the Wheatbelt 
A study to consider a new east-west route
connecting the Brookton, Albany and South
West highways with the southern end of the
proposed Tonkin Highway extension at
Mundijong was undertaken to improve regional
infrastructure. The study also assessed the wider
freight task and considered a range of road and
rail transport options. A set of strategies has
been developed and will be released for public
comment in 2005. 

School bus route mapping
During 2002-03 we mapped the state’s 655
regional school bus routes from as far north as
Wyndham and south to Esperance using GPS
technology. This award-winning project has
since been extended to include 102 educational
support bus routes and another 42 outer
metropolitan bus routes.  

Extending the northern suburbs rail line
We commenced a study to determine the best
way to provide accessible and reliable public
transport for the fast-growing northern suburbs.
The Northern Suburbs Railway is being
extended to Clarkson, but there is already
evidence that additional public transport options
are needed to service suburbs further north. The
study will be completed in December 2004. 

Integrated planning 
In 2002-03, the Department was involved in
the development of a National Charter on
integrated transport and land use planning. Its
principal objective is to achieve greater integration
between land use and transport planning across
agencies, jurisdictions and levels of government
to help facilitate effective and sustainable urban
and regional development throughout Australia. 

The Department provided input into the
development of the draft, which was endorsed
nationally by both Ministers for Transport and
Ministers for Planning in late 2003. The charter
supports the State Government’s position on
sustainability in the transport sector through
integrated land use and transport planning and
balanced travel. The flexibility in
implementation of the charter has enabled the
use of its principles and objectives in our current
transport and infrastructure policy development.

Planning for housing demand
One of our priorities is to ensure Perth has an
ample supply of land to meet the needs of its
growing population, with a choice of housing
types, location and affordability. The Urban
Land Release Plan released in February 2004
indicated that more than 69,300 residential lots
would become available in the next five years -
mostly in the north-west and south-west sectors.

We have been making the most of
redevelopment opportunities close to 
existing infrastructure
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We have been making the most of redevelopment
opportunities close to existing infrastructure such
as rail lines and through the work of
redevelopment authorities in East Perth, Subiaco
and Midland. By 2008, more than 50 per cent
of lots created in the metropolitan region will be
within five kilometres of the coast.

Safety on the water
The Department has developed a plan for a
safety training scheme for recreational boaters.
Increased use of our waterways requires a
robust safety regime and in September 2003
the Minister announced the Government’s
intention to explore the introduction of compulsory
training for drivers of recreational boats. A
significant proportion of sea search and rescue
operations are associated with driver incompetence,
and the new regulations will prevent a complete
novice from taking a powerful boat out to sea. 

We completed a survey in April 2004 that
showed that 70 per cent of registered boat
owners in Western Australia support a minimum
level of training for boat drivers. 

Moola Bulla land deal 
The long-standing grievance of former
Aboriginal residents of Moola Bulla Station was
addressed by the Minister through her
negotiating the voluntary surrender of 8000
hectares of Moola Bulla land near Halls Creek.
When the station was sold in 1955, no
provision was made for the traditional owners
of the land or the community that had been
established there since 1911. Negotiations with
the station lessee, the traditional owners and
the Native Title Tribunal resulted in the exclusion
of two parcels of land from the station - a 4475
hectare parcel just north of Halls Creek, and a
3338 hectare parcel to the south of the town. 

University gets TravelSmart
An innovative blueprint for reducing car use at
Edith Cowan University’s Mount Lawley and
Joondalup campuses could reduce the need to
build multi-storey car parks and improve the
university’s finances and sustainability. The
Integrated Transport Plan, which recommends
improving bus routes, redesigning car parks and
informing staff and students about alternative
transport options, is believed to be the most
comprehensive study of its type undertaken by
an Australian tertiary institution. 

North Coogee makeover
We undertook preliminary investigations to plan
the North Coogee–Robb Jetty industrial area for
residential/mixed use to create a vibrant
community. It is planned to integrate North Coogee
with the proposed urban development in South
Beach and Port Coogee to provide a comprehensive,
high-amenity seaside precinct combining
residential, commercial and business areas. 

Transit oriented development
The State Government’s planning, public
transport and land development agencies have
been working together to facilitate planning and
the coordination of activities at transit interchanges,
mainly at railway station precincts. This program
uses the Public Transport Authority’s $200
million station upgrade program, Building Better
Stations, as a catalyst for station precinct
redevelopment and the planning of new
stations on the South-West MetroRail line. 

The Transit Oriented Development program is a
joint transport and land-use initiative that
supports the Government’s sustainability
agenda for managing the future growth of
Perth. It encourages wider use of public
transport, which is critical to limiting car-
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dependence and ensuring long-term sustainability.
Importantly, it also aids in the revitalisation of
town centres along these transit routes. 

Sustainable community regeneration 
We are playing a significant coordination role in
the Maddington Kenwick Sustainable Communities
Partnership that is adopting a unique approach
to establishing sustainable community change.
The partnership between the State Government
and City of Gosnells has already received state-
wide recognition, and has been identified in the
State Sustainability Strategy as a key project in
the effort to improve sustainability and living
conditions in the metropolitan area. 

During the year, Kenwick Road Park was
redeveloped and negotiations to renovate the
neglected shops in Maddington were
successfully completed. In 2004-05, work will
continue in order to create an accessible
community hub at the Westfield Street park and
shopping area, and to develop parks in the
partnership area.

Comprehensive Transport Strategy
The Department is developing a Comprehensive
Transport Strategy for Perth, Mandurah and
Murray - a key initiative arising out of the
Freight Network Review and given further
prominence in the action plan from the Network
City strategy, through which the outcomes of
Dialogue with the city are being implemented. 

The strategy will form the basis for a review of
the 1995 Metropolitan Transport Strategy and will
examine a range of initiatives to reduce the high
level of car dependence in Perth. It will also provide
a strategic framework for pricing, regulatory,
infrastructure and service delivery options for
the Government to manage transport in Perth.

The project commenced in September 2003 and
several discussion papers have been completed.
The timetable for the project has been aligned
with the implementation of the Dialogue with
the city action plan. 
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Cycle Instead
Our Cycle Instead program promoted cycling as
a healthy, enjoyable and viable form of
sustainable transport for short journeys. As part
of the program we organised many events,
including Bikeweek. During the week more than
3000 cyclists attended the Bike-to-Work
Breakfast in Perth city, and more than 80
community cycling events were held throughout
the state, attracting more than 10,000 people. 

Perth Bicycle Network 
The Perth Bicycle Network program is a
comprehensive network of cycling routes that
provides a safer cycling and walking
environment throughout Perth. 

During 2003-04, $8 million of cycling
infrastructure projects were rolled out, including:

■ A $1.14 million shared use path between
the Swanbourne and Grant Street train
stations;

■ A $3.78 million shared use path between
Maylands and Bayswater train stations; and

■ $343,000 to local government authorities
for new paths and improvements. 

The Department also partnered relevant local
councils to complete Regional Recreational Path
projects, such as the construction of the City to
Sea Greenway path, and the planning of the
Banks Reserve to Bardon Park Regional
Recreational Path.

Walk There Today
We were a major sponsor of ‘Walk There Today
to Find thirty -  a week of walking events’, a
program to encourage Western Australians to
improve their health by walking a bit more and
then to continue the habit. 

During the week 25,000 children walked to
school, 300 Perth CBD workers participated in
the lunchtime walking events, and 2300 people
took part in local community walking events.

TravelSmart programs
The TravelSmart program is widely recognised
as the pioneer of an effective transport
innovation that is now being implemented
worldwide.

TravelSmart Household program

An expanded TravelSmart Household program
has encouraged better travel choices and
reduced traffic for 158,000 people across nine
communities.  

Results to date indicate that the TravelSmart
Household program is set to achieve an annual
reduction of more than 100 million kilometres
of car travel by residents across the
communities that have participated so far. This
is the equivalent of removing 7500 cars from
the road, reducing traffic levels to that of 10 to
15 years ago. In addition public transport
patronage will be boosted by 1.5 million
boardings per year and physical activity
increased by 2.6 million hours per annum
through more walking and cycling.

Evaluation of the TravelSmart Household
program reveals that savings in health costs and
increased public transport fare revenue will
combine to return the government investment
in around three years. The socio-economic
benefits of the program (including environmental
benefits, car running costs and health
improvements) will return between 15 and 45
times the investment over the next 10 years.

Encouraging people to leave their cars at home
for short trips and for travelling to and from
work formed an integral part of our blueprint
for an environmentally friendly transport future.
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TravelSmart to Schools program 

We ran the TravelSmart to Schools program in
primary schools to reduce parental car use. The
program was delivered to more than 2300
students at schools in Perth, Geraldton and
Bunbury in 2003-04, with participating
classrooms achieving an average 22 per cent
reduction in car trips. 

To further reduce car use, we also deliver the
Walking School Bus program with the support
of schools, parent volunteers, local government
and RoadWise. In 2003-04, 19 routes were
operating in 12 primary schools. 

TravelSmart Workplace program 

In partnership with the Department of
Environment we are helping employers to
reduce car trips and improve travel alternatives
for their employees and clients. The TravelSmart
Workplace program currently involves 15
organisations with 24 workplaces and more
than 10,000 employees. 

During 2003-04, four employers with 4000
employees joined the program and have
undertaken workplace access audits and staff
travel surveys. The Australian Greenhouse
Office substantially funds our contribution to
the program.

Going Out and Getting There
The Action Plan for Accessible Public Transport
for People with Disabilities in Perth continues as
an important program for the Department. Key
achievements during the year included:

■ A review of progress in regard to each
action in the plan, in consultation with the
Consumer Advisory Committee, and
considering requirements under the Disability
Discrimination Act’s Standards for Accessible
Public Transport; and 

■ Regular involvement of the committee in
reviewing specific planning and
infrastructure proposals, particularly in
relation to improvements in the public
transport system.
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Service delivery 
New Licensing Centre
People in the Central Business District and
western suburbs have improved access to motor
driver assessment and vehicle licensing services
following the opening of a new facility at City
West in December 2003. The new centre, which
replaces the old East Perth Licensing Centre, is
part of the Department’s plan to improve
licensing facilities throughout the state. Vehicle
examination services will continue to be
provided from East Perth for the time being.  

Transformation of Leighton 
The old Leighton marshalling yards will become
a medium density coastal village incorporating
an innovative blend of residential, recreational
and commercial development. The development
will be located on a four-hectare portion of the
site, with the remaining 13 hectares rehabilitated
into coastal reserve. The village will provide
housing for about 1000 people and is expected
to be completed in 2006.

Improving boating facilities 
The Department’s Recreational Boating 
Facilities Scheme helps provide improved
facilities throughout the state for a growing
number of recreational boat owners. 

Since it was established in 1998, the scheme
has allocated more than $3 million to almost
100 projects. Grants are made on a dollar for
dollar basis to local authorities for projects that
enhance leisure opportunities, tourism and
boating safety. In 2003-04, funding of
$613,000 was allocated. 

Better boat standards 
To improve safety for recreational boat owners a
scheme to introduce national compliance plates,
known as Australian Builders’ Plates, was
developed. The plates, which will apply to most
vessels built after July 2005, will provide
information about the uses and limitations of
boats, including the maximum number of
people and load allowed, recommended engine
rating and buoyancy performance.

Slow down on the water
Fines for speeding boats were doubled from
$100 to $200 as part of changes to marine
regulations introduced in July 2003. This was
designed to send a strong message to skippers
to obey designated speed limits on the water.

The new City West Licensing Centre, which
replaces the old East Perth Licensing Centre, 
is part of the Department’s plan to improve
licensing facilities throughout the state.
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The economy

Policy and planning
Establishing professional partnerships
We established ourselves at the forefront of
research and development of land use planning
issues with the formation of two new
professional partnerships during the year. 

The Planning and Transport Research Centre was
established to provide funding for much-needed
research to assist the Department and the wider
portfolio. The centre, which is funded by the
Department and our portfolio partner Main
Roads Western Australia, will undertake research
into projects including marine safety, rail safety
and the New MetroRail Project. 

The Centre for Urban Design is a joint initiative
with the University of Western Australia and
Curtin University of Technology to bridge urban
design practice and research, and harness the
capacities of practitioners to achieve excellence
in urban design. The centre is expected to be
operating by the end of 2004 and will
undertake research and studies for state and
local governments and provide advice to
community groups and the private sector. 

Working with the pastoral industry
The second ‘Gascoyne Muster’ in October 2003
allowed direct input from the pastoral industry
into the decision-making process guiding their
future, with emphasis on sustainability and
alternative models of land tenure.

Negotiations commenced with pastoral lessees
regarding the excision of land from their leases -
about two per cent of the state’s pastoral land
in total - when these leases expire in 2015.

Pastoral lease rents for 480 of the state’s 528
pastoral leases were increased following a
review by the Valuer General’s Office. The
increase was based on a fair investment return

to the state for the use of the land for pastoral
purposes. Total revenue from pastoral lease rent
collection will increase by $600,000 to $1.6
million for the 2004-05 financial year.

Tourism Taskforce
The Department worked with the Ministerial
Tourism Taskforce during 2003-04 to address
concerns regarding the loss of affordable and
equitable access to some of the state’s traditional
tourist areas, and the use of some tourist sites
for residential purposes. The taskforce identified
a need to: 

■ Increase focus on land use planning for
tourist development; 

■ Facilitate development of high value tourist
sites; and

■ Ensure the use of tourist land for tourist
purposes.

The Department assisted the taskforce in
finalising its recommendations during 2004.
These will be developed into formal planning
policy during 2004-05 to guide government
agencies and local government on appropriate
planning for tourist developments.

Land assembly 
The Department has played a key role in
making Crown land available, or arranging
appropriate land tenure, to facilitate
development in regional Western Australia.
Land assembly entails drawing together a parcel
of land that addresses all land tenure issues,
including mining tenure, environmental and
heritage issues, native title, covenants and
easements. During the year we completed the
land assembly process at Albany, Hopetoun,
Bremer Bay, Newdegate, Ravensthorpe,
Kalgoorlie-Boulder, Kununurra and on the
Burrup Peninsula. 

Developing a strong economy that delivers
more jobs, more opportunities and greater
wealth to Western Australia by creating the
conditions required for investment and growth. 
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Rail freight policy
We are developing strategic policy statements
that will guide the Government in facilitating
increased rail freight transport in Western
Australia to address community concerns about
growing road freight volumes and industry
requirements for efficient freight movement.

During 2003-04, the Department completed
background work in preparation for the
development of the policy, including studies of
new rail technologies, international practices 
for rail infrastructure funding and costs of
external impacts.

Freight planning priority
Better movement of freight around the
metropolitan area is a priority for the Planning
and Infrastructure portfolio, and the Freight
Network Strategy addressed the significant
imbalance between road and rail freight. Key
achievements in implementing the strategy over
the past year included:

■ Roe Highway Stage Six - linking Nicholson
Road with South Street - was opened to
traffic in April 2004.

■ The number of containers carried by rail
between Fremantle Inner Harbour and
Kewdale has almost doubled.

■ Planning is under way for the Kewdale
Intermodal Freight Terminal.

■ A study was made of the landside
movement of containers that pass through
Fremantle Port, revealing many
opportunities for easing the impact of heavy
vehicles working at the port. Related work is
now continuing on areas such as
warehouse/container park operating hours,
container truck utilisation, management of
empty containers, the potential for increased

rail share, truck routes servicing the port,
electronic commerce and land use planning.

■ Planning of additional port facilities at
Kwinana - to handle trade beyond the
capacity of the Fremantle Inner Harbour -
has commenced.

■ An examination of the need to upgrade
major roads in the south-west metropolitan
corridor, as well as measures to protect local
communities from the impacts of freight
and general traffic.

Deleting the Fremantle Eastern Bypass
In November 2003, State Parliament endorsed a
Western Australian Planning Commission
recommendation to delete the Fremantle
Eastern Bypass from the Metropolitan Region
Scheme. The Commission’s recommendation
followed lengthy consultation with stakeholders
and was made on the basis that:

■ Building more roads was not an adequate
response to managing growth in transport
change;

■ Investment should be directed towards
future transport needs servicing the
Fremantle Outer Harbour, the Fremantle
Rockingham Industrial Area, Kwinana and
Naval Base;

■ The road network west of the Kwinana
Freeway has adequate capacity for the next
25 years; and

■ Even if the bypass was built, Leach Highway
and other major roads in the region would
remain busy roads and issues such as road
safety, levels of service and noise would still
need to be dealt with.

The decision to delete the bypass was approved
by Parliament in April 2004.
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Service delivery
Blueprint for Hillarys 
In May 2004, we unveiled a draft planning
blueprint that will guide the development of
Hillarys Boat Harbour over the next 10 years.
The Hillarys Boat Harbour Structure Plan and
Implementation Strategy, which we developed
in consultation with the Western Australian
Planning Commission and the City of
Joondalup, sets out a framework for the future
development of the harbour. It creates four
precincts with dedicated land uses to help ease
conflict and reduce pressure on the facility,
particularly in relation to car parking and the
surrounding road network.

In the meantime we are implementing a
significant capital works program to secure the
harbour’s future commercial performance.

Landgate partnership
We made significant progress in our aim to
provide a comprehensive government land and
property information service with the launch of
‘Landgate’ in November 2003. Landgate is an
innovative website that provides instantly
accessible land information and is one of the
first online land and property portals in Australia
that directly links specific business needs with
relevant government information. 

It operates like a multi-channel television service
so people can choose the ‘channel’ they would
like to use. The ‘planning channel’ provides up-
to-date information on land zoning, road
reserves and proposed amendments to the
Metropolitan Region Scheme and the Peel
Region Scheme. We provide the data, the
Department of Land Information hosts the
website and funding is provided by the Western
Australian Planning Commission.

Rejuvenating Barrack Square
The Department managed the final phase of the
redevelopment of Barrack Square. This project
includes significantly increased parking, a safer
environment through new pedestrian lighting
and improved aesthetics through new paving,
street furniture, information booths and
landscaping. This work will ensure future
commercial performance from the Barrack
Square facilities. 

Fishing Boat Harbour facelift
More room for diners, improved pedestrian
access and safer berthing for small recreational
and visiting charter vessels were the result of
improvements to the popular restaurant precinct
within the Fishing Boat Harbour at Fremantle.
The $400,000 project, which extended the low-
level boardwalk linking waterfront fish markets,
restaurants and cafes, was completed in August
2003. We scoped, designed and managed the
works, and jointly funded the project with the
adjoining retail tenant. 

These and other works in the harbour will
ensure its capacity to manage growth within
commercial targets. 

Surplus rail disposal
In 2003-04, the Department was responsible 
for the land assembly and disposal of 46 surplus
railway properties with an approximate value of
$3 million. We were also involved in the major
subdivisions of railway land in Manjimup, 
Collie and Donnybrook. A portion of these
subdivision sites has been reserved under the
management of local shires to facilitate town
beautification projects.
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The environment

Policy and planning
Better coastal planning
Protection of the coastal environment is a major
focus for us. The Western Australian Planning
Commission Amendment Act 2003 established a
Coastal Planning and Coordination Council as a
prescribed standing committee of the Western
Australian Planning Commission. The Act
implements the Government’s commitment 
to provide better planning and management 
of the coast.

Membership of the council includes representation
from state government departments, local
government and specialist community members.
Its function is to advise on the sustainable planning,
development and management of the coast.
The council’s first priority is to prepare a coastal
planning strategy for the metropolitan coast.

Developing Carnarvon-Ningaloo 
A new office to coordinate the implementation
of the Western Australian Planning
Commission’s draft strategy Future Directions
for the Carnarvon-Ningaloo Coast was
established during the year. The Department
prepared the draft strategy, which was released
in May 2004 for an eight-week public comment
period. A final strategy is being finalised and
will be published in the second half of 2004.

New plan for Port Kennedy 
The Port Kennedy Development Project is a
significant state government initiative to
develop Crown land at the southern end of
Warnbro Sound as a coastal tourism and
recreation precinct. The project is to be
implemented in accordance with the Port
Kennedy Development Agreement Act (1992).

Project developer Western Australia Beach and
Golf Resort Pty Ltd and Project Manager Mirvac

Fini Pty Ltd have completed a review of the
proposals for Port Kennedy, and have recommended
a revised development plan to the Minister.
Following a full evaluation of the revised plan,
the Department will make its recommendations
to the Minister on possible changes to the project.

The Department provides professional support
and advice to the Port Kennedy Management
Board, and will assist the Board in its
consideration of the revised development plan. 

New guidelines for sewage discharge 
We moved to protect Western Australia’s marine
environment - and the health of the people
who work and recreate on our waterways - with
the introduction of new guidelines governing
the discharge of sewage from boats. From
October 2004, the state’s waterways will be
classified into three new discharge zones that
have been established based on the degree of
risk to the public and the environment.

Managing our boat harbours
During the year the Department developed
better environmental management systems for
the 18 boat harbours and fishing facilities we
manage. Environmental risk assessments have
been completed for 16 of the facilities, and the
management systems will be documented and
implemented in 2004-05. This will result in a
steady and auditable improvement in the
environmental management of the facilities.

Managing coastal erosion
A new coastal protection plan was developed to
help manage erosion along the Western Australian
coastline caused by recurring and severe winter
storms. An expanded coastal protection works
program of approximately $1 million per annum
is being implemented in conjunction with
coastal local authorities.

Ensuring that Western Australia has an
environment in which resources are managed,
developed and used sustainably, biological
diversity is preserved and habitats protected.
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Several key initiatives under our Sustainable Transport
Energy Program have been progressed during the year.

Service delivery
Protecting our coast
Coastwest coastal protection projects bring community
members, local government and state government coastal
managers together to protect valuable coastal assets. A
new Coastwest Grants Program was introduced to help
repair and protect precious marine and coastal areas.
During the year a range of projects was funded, including
$24,800 to provide beach access at the Wellstead boat
harbour, $33,750 for a turtle conservation program at
Ningaloo, and $40,000 for a foreshore and management
plan for Sandy Bay.

Tackling seagrass 
The Department used the most sophisticated coastal
modelling technology available to find a solution to the
seagrass problem at Two Rocks. A model of the coastline
south of the marina was constructed in a 30-metre long
wave basin to help determine the best way to reduce the
build-up of seagrass on the beach in the south side of the
marina. The City of Wanneroo is reviewing this information 
and discussions will determine a course of action.

Geographe Bay beaches
We worked with the local Shire and the project developer
to find a solution to the problems of sand bypassing and
seagrass accumulation near the Geographe Bay marina. The
first phase of the sand and seagrass management program
was implemented in November 2003, and the second phase
is expected to begin in November 2004. 

Transport energy strategy
The Transport Energy Strategy Committee set up by the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure completed its Transport
Energy Strategy in March 2004. The strategy provides recommendations on alternative energy sources, priorities for
research and development, education and information strategies, financial regimes that may be adopted and the role
government can play in the implementation of a transport energy strategy.

The report has been presented to the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure. Implementation of the strategy is now
subject to government decisions.

Fuel cell bus trial
We finalised preparations for a two-year trial of hydrogen-powered fuel cell buses as part of a global, leading-edge project
to research and develop fuel cell technology as a possible next generation of transport energy. The trial, using three buses,
will be launched in September 2004 at the international ‘Hydrogen and Fuel Cell Futures - the transition to sustainable
transport energy’ conference, which will be hosted by the Department.

Departmental fleet
Our Sustainable Transport Energy Program includes increased use of four-cylinder vehicles and the acquisition of 13 hybrid
electric cars for the Department’s fleet. The program will prevent some 100 tonnes of greenhouse gases from being
released into the atmosphere over the life of those cars, with annual savings of about $150,000 in fuel and running costs.
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Policy and planning
Sustainable regional communities 
The Pinjarra-Brunswick Sustainability Study will
develop a social, economic, environmental and
land-use strategy to underpin the future
prosperity and sustainability of the communities.
It will identify land, infrastructure, services and
facilities, economic, social and environmental
opportunities, and the planning and process
requirements needed to build sustainable
communities in the area. The draft strategic
plan is due for release in October 2004 with the
final strategy due by January 2005. 

Regional airports
To help build better and safer facilities in
regional areas, we allocated funds through the
Regional Airports Development Scheme to
upgrade airports infrastructure. In 2003-04, 
$2 million was provided for airport upgrades.

Assistance to 37 projects this year included
more than $100,000 to improve airports for
four Aboriginal communities in the Pilbara and
one in the Mid-West, funding towards works at
Mugarinya, Denmark, Esperance, Mount
Magnet and Wongan Hills, and an allocation of
$100,000 for planning for the new airport
terminal at Newman.

Ensuring that regional Western Australia is
strong and vibrant. 
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Regional air services
At the direction of the Aviation Ministerial
Council, the Department has coordinated
implementation of the State’s Air Services Policy.
During 2003-04, we initiated several
components of the policy including:

■ Developing policy in relation to air charter
operations over Regular Passenger Transport
(RPT) routes, which led to the integration of
several air charter services using existing
RPT services;

■ Moving to regulate certain routes by
licensing arrangements;

■ Tendering and awarding sole operating
rights on certain routes;

■ Establishing the role of an aviation industry
observer to oversee the performance of the
regulated routes;

■ Reviewing the performance of the state’s
non-jet network to determine whether
regulation should remain beyond May
2005; and

■ Commencing the development of a
subsidised air services policy to ensure
subsidy funds are appropriately targeted to
regional and remote communities - this
policy is expected to be completed by
December 2004.

Skippers Aviation was granted the rights to
provide an air service between Perth, Kalbarri
and Shark Bay for a period of two years. This
followed an exhaustive selection process managed
by the Department. The arrangements with
Skippers also include some access to Geraldton,
as the Government’s 2003 Intrastate Air
Services Review determined that the route could
sustain some competition if managed carefully.
The services commenced in February 2004.

Also, in a joint effort with local stakeholders
(Kimberley Tourism Association, Shire of
Wyndham-East Kimberley and local businesses)
and Qantas, we assisted with the resumption of
a weekly jet service from Perth to Kununurra to
complement the daily turbo-prop services from
Broome and Darwin. 

This will provide a major boost to tourism and
business in the region. The service resumed in
May 2004.

In 2003-04, the Government provided a total of
$866,000 in financial support for four
subsidised air services. Three of these services
were tendered during the year:

■ Broome - Derby
■ Broome - Fitzroy Crossing - Halls Creek
■ Broome - Port Hedland.

Golden Eagle Airlines won the rights to provide
the three services for a 12-month period from 
1 July 2004. 

Non-jet intrastate services 
An independent review of non-jet intrastate air
services in WA was undertaken during the year.
In May 2004, the Government endorsed the
review’s recommendation that those services
continue to be regulated. 

Further extensive consultation will be
undertaken to evaluate and develop appropriate
route networks to ensure sustainable air services
that will meet community, tourism and airline
viability over the longer term. The identified
regulated routes will go to competitive tender
by February 2005 with the aim of commencing
services by December 2005.
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Albany action plan
A stakeholder working group has developed an
action plan to address issues relating to heavy
freight movements to the Albany port. An
interagency taskforce coordinated by us has
been overseeing implementation of the action
plan. Key actions included developing a work
plan for road ‘hotspots’ in Albany, preparing a
package to increase the use of rail for freight
transport, and developing suitable planning
controls for key freight routes under the Lower
Great Southern Regional Strategy.

Broome development
Finding ways to cater for the Broome land
boom is the focus of work we have done, on
behalf of the Western Australian Planning
Commission, on the Broome Local Planning
Strategy - ‘Country Land Development
Program: Broome 2004’. A rapidly expanding
tourism industry and residential population has
put pressure on land availability and values,
resulting in a shortage of land development
options. The strategy addresses current
economic and demographic trends and provides
information for planning and budgeting
purposes to the public and private sectors
involved in property development and 
services provision.

Maximising rail
In July 2003, we hosted a public forum to
explore the potential for getting more freight on
the south west railway. One of the outcomes
was the development of a strategy to introduce
more plantation timber freight on to rail. The
Government is working with the railway and
plantation timber industries on ways this can be
achieved. The forum report will be finalised
once this initiative is fully explored. 

Service delivery
Strengthening the regions
We have developed a more coordinated
approach to the delivery of portfolio functions
in regional areas as part of our commitment to
meet the Government’s Regional Development
Policy objectives. A key component of this
approach has been the consolidation of service
delivery to collocated premises, with new
centres opened in Geraldton, Bunbury and
Kalgoorlie. As well as the financial benefits,
collocated sites provide customers with improved
services from single service delivery locations. 

To support the agency-wide commitment to
improving service and performance in regional
Western Australia, each of the Department’s
Executive Directors has assumed ‘sponsorship’
of a region to strengthen senior management’s
appreciation of the Department’s services and
performance - and our many challenges - in
regional Western Australia.

In May 2004, Regional Services Managers were
appointed with a strategic focus on the
enhancement of our profile and reputation
among regional customers and stakeholders
while maintaining responsibility for ‘on the
ground’ services provided by the Department.
The Regional Managers will take a more
strategic role than the Regional Coordinators
have done in the past.

Managing infrastructure corridors 
To ensure better services in the north of the
state, a 640 kilometre strategic infrastructure
corridor is being established along the Dampier
to Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline corridor from
Yuna to Leonora. The corridor will provide
access for future telecommunications, gas,
water, rail, road and electricity. 
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We will be responsible for the ongoing
management of the land, with grazing leases
granted to adjoining pastoral lessees until the
land is required for its intended purpose.

During the year we also revised the land use
guidelines for the pipeline corridor and are
working closely with the pipeline operator to
deliver risk management workshops for people
who access or carry out work in the corridors. 

A key achievement is the reduction in time for
the infrastructure corridors team to respond to
land access applications from an average of two
months to one or two weeks. This is due to
improved business processes, including the
development of standard conditions for access.

Exmouth Village 
In November 2003, a new $16 million
development of the Exmouth Marina Village
was announced. The 102 hectare village
includes a canal-front residential estate with
128 canal and dry lots, a mixed-use
commercial/residential zone, and a precinct
servicing local fishing and marine industries. The
development also includes a 5.5 hectare tourist
resort. Our planning team worked closely with
the Exmouth Shire Council, the Gascoyne
Development Commission and LandCorp to
progress the project.

After a prolonged period of negotiation, a lease
was signed with LandCorp to provide tenure for
the construction of the major earthworks for
the Exmouth marina residential and industrial
estate and to facilitate the ultimate on-sale of
super lots within the project. 

In conjunction with this project, we have installed
a new sewerage system and normalised the road
and utility services within the Exmouth Boat Harbour.

Dredging for safe channels
During the year we completed major dredging
projects at Onslow, Exmouth, Denham,
Carnarvon and Esperance boat harbours at a
cost of $2 million. The dredging program is
critical to ensuring safe navigation depths are
maintained along the entrance channels of the
harbours, which support commercial fishing and
charter vessels as well as recreational boat users.

New boating facilities
We have designed new boating facilities to
provide better services for commercial and
recreational vessels at Coral Bay and Carnarvon.  

Environmental approval has been obtained to
construct a boat ramp, parking areas, an
amenities building and a service wharf for
commercial charter and fishing vessels at Monck
Head in Coral Bay. The project is scheduled for
completion in November 2005.  The design for
a new land-backed wharf in Carnarvon has
been finalised and relevant approvals for
construction obtained. The wharf will be
completed in 2005. 

More country pathways
We allocated $750,000 to regional local
governments for the development of cycleways
and shared use paths in country areas. The
Country Pathways Program is an increasingly
important part of regional communities,
providing safe access for cyclists and pedestrians
to busy areas such as schools and shopping
centres.

Southern Transport Corridor
Construction of Geraldton’s Southern Transport
Corridor will improve industry access to the
port, remove the railway from the city’s foreshore
and open the way for a major redevelopment of
the foreshore and the CBD. The $88 million
project will be completed in 2006.

The project will provide improved links between
road, rail and shipping to increase the efficiency
of regional trade and strengthen the Mid-West’s
position as a competitive export region. It will
also enhance safety for all road users by
reducing conflict between rail, freight and
passenger vehicles. The project includes the
construction of about 13 kilometres of new
railway, about 4.9 kilometres of new highway,
four road bridges and two rail tunnels.
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Enhancing Geraldton’s foreshore
The Department contributed $1.7 million for
the creation of a new beach area on the
Geraldton foreshore as part of the city’s
CBD/Foreshore Redevelopment Project. The
foreshore enhancement will also include a new
jetty and water feature, fishing platforms and
family facilities, recreational parkland, and new
alfresco dining and shopping facilities. 

Mandurah’s South Harbour 
We played an integral role in the final phase of
the Mandurah Ocean Marina. The South
Harbour project is the 19 hectare second stage
of the $58 million development. It is an
innovative ‘small boat’ development which
forms an integrated chain of precincts to link
the centre of Mandurah with the marina.

In addition to its tourist facilities, shops and offices,
South Harbour includes picnic areas, fishing
areas, boating facilities, parks and restaurants.

Remote driver education
To address access and equity issues for people
living in remote communities, we introduced a
pilot program for driver training and licensing
specifically tailored to indigenous people in the
Kimberley region. Driver education programs
are conducted at Warburton, One Arm Point,
Beagle Bay and Lombardina. We are developing
a training program for Aboriginal Police Liaison
Officers so they can conduct theory and
practical driving assessments in remote
communities. 

During the year we completed major dredging
projects which support commercial and
recreational boat users.
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Governance

Policy and planning
Legislative improvements
During the year we have undertaken a range of
improvements to existing legislation to ensure a
more efficient system of governing for all
Western Australians. We:

■ Conducted a review of the Swan Valley
Planning Act (1995). The preliminary findings
are that the Act has functioned effectively
since its introduction, but that a number of
minor amendments are recommended to
improve its effectiveness; 

■ Undertook a review of the Western Australian
Planning Commission Act (1985). The review
recommended several amendments to the
functions and composition of the
Commission and its committees. Following
approval by the Minister, the
recommendations have been included as
amendments to the planning legislation in
the Planning and Development Bill; 

■ Released the Planning and Development Bill
2004 as a Green Bill in April 2004 to
consolidate planning legislation into one
simple, easy to read act and, following
consideration of comments, the Bill was
introduced into Parliament on 30 June 2004; 

■ Commenced a review of the state’s land
administration laws to improve the
operation and effectiveness of the current
Land Administration Act 1997. The review will
highlight opportunities for enhancement of
the Act and help determine the
requirements for legislative change; 

■ Worked on changes to the Acts Amendment
(Reserves and Reserve Boards) Act 2003 and the
Statutes (Repeals and Minor Amendments) Act
2003, which were proclaimed in December
2003; and

■ Developed amendments to the Taxi Act
(1994) to ensure a better standard of service.

On behalf of the Western Australian Planning
Commission, we have also:

■ Developed a new system for classifying the
Commission’s policies and plans into a
coherent and consistent framework;

■ Prepared statements of planning policy for
telecommunications infrastructure (final),
the Swan-Canning River system (draft) and
cultural heritage conservation (draft);

■ Commenced a review of Liveable
Neighbourhoods and the Commission’s
operational (subdivision and development
control) policies;

■ Undertaken a review of Statement of
Planning Policy No.1 State Planning
Framework; and

■ Prepared guidance on a range of matters
including acid sulphate soils, wind farm
developments, caretaker dwellings in
industrial areas, and the use of special control
area provisions in town planning schemes.

Statutory planning improvements 
The Statutory Planning Internal Review and
Improvements Taskforce was established in July
2003 to work with industry, other government
agencies and our statutory planning team to
develop and implement improvements to the
Western Australian Planning Commission’s
planning approvals processes. In addition to
developing a program of long-term
improvements to processes, the team
implemented a strategy to speed up application
processing in the short term, enabling a 15 per
cent increase in the number of subdivision,
strata and development applications processed
compared to last year. Sixty-six per cent of
applications were processed within their
respective statutory time limits, an improvement
of five per cent over last year.

Additional funding was obtained to clear a
backlog of planning applications and extra town
planning staff were employed so that backlogged

Governing for all Western Australians in an
open, effective and efficient manner that also
ensures a sustainable future.
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applications could be cleared. As a result of the
sustained effort of staff, the proportion of
backlogged applications has been substantially
cleared. 

Functional review of licensing
Progress continued on implementing the
recommendations of a functional review of our
licensing role, commissioned by the
Government to fully evaluate service delivery
options for licensing services.  The review was
completed in December 2002. The report
contains more than 90 recommendations to
improve processes, and recommends that
licensing services remain within the Department. 

Written-off motor vehicles
To further combat professional car theft and
vehicle fraud, we joined the national Written-
Off Vehicle Register in October 2003. By
holding information on a national database,
authorities from all Australian states can check
the history of vehicles presented for re-
registration, eliminating a major avenue for the
re-registration and movement of stolen vehicles
from state to state.

Corporate governance
We are committed to ensuring that effective
accountability mechanisms, fundamental to
good governance, are in place within our
organisation. Good corporate governance
requires clear definitions of responsibility and a
clear understanding of relationships between
the organisation’s stakeholders and those
entrusted to manage resources and deliver its
outcomes, and ensures that participants in the
governance process are aware of their roles,
responsibilities and accountabilities.

We have been progressively improving policies
and processes for the good governance of the
organisation. The key focus of the Corporate
Governance Framework is based on clear
planning and direction, appropriate and timely
information, sound resource management and
adequate controls.

Business Excellence Framework 
In 2003-04, we undertook a guided self-
assessment of our organisation against the
Business Excellence Framework. We have used
this framework to identify opportunities to build
a stronger organisation, and the results will be

filtered into the business planning process and
the gradual implementation of strategies to
facilitate innovation and improvements.

Financial systems upgrade
During the year we implemented a major
upgrade of our financial systems, taking
advantage of web-based technology in the
upgrade to Oracle IIi. This initiative included
implementation of the latest Oracle e-business
suite for the Department and the Western
Australian Planning Commission to bring the
most up-to-date technology to financial and
reporting systems, and to improve accountability.

Internal Audit
Our Internal Audit branch provides advice to
management, and conducts reviews in
accordance with an approved audit plan to
assist in maintaining effective corporate
governance, and to contribute towards the
improvement of business practices. 

During the year we expanded our audit
program to cover significant auditable activities
formerly associated with the Department of
Land Administration (now the Department of
Land Information). We also upgraded our audit
information so we have real time access to
monitor and report on audit recommendations,
including matters reported by the Auditor General.
Key audits within the year included reviews of
departmental grants; use, control and
management of corporate credit cards and
motor vehicle logbooks; lease management and
lease rental; corporate governance; payroll; and
fringe benefits tax.

Service delivery
TRELIS 
The Transport Executive and Licensing
Information System (TRELIS) represents a
substantial modernising, integration and
consolidation of Western Australia’s existing
vehicle and driver databases into one database
that will provide data accuracy and integrity and
deliver better customer service. It will also
modernise the cost-effective collection of more
than $1 billion in revenue. It has critical
interfaces to many agencies including the
Western Australian Police Service, the 



Department of Justice, the Insurance
Commission of WA and the Department of
Consumer and Employment Protection, and is
an important part of the state’s revenue
collection process. 

The development of TRELIS has taken longer
than was initially anticipated but the cost will be
close to the original budget estimates in 1998.
The delay has been occasioned partly by
demands for additional functionality from
important stakeholders. TRELIS is scheduled to
commence in July 2004. 

Better complaints handling 
We acknowledged that our systems for handling
complaints needed a complete overhaul to give
us the opportunity to hear and act on feedback
from the community. We developed a new
complaints policy that has broadened and
formalised our approach to managing complaints.

The new policy, which was implemented during
the year, includes: 

■ A feedback form for capturing suggestions,
complaints and praise;

■ Development and implementation of an
information system for recording,
monitoring and reporting on complaints;

■ The development of staff training on the
complaints policy, processes and information
system; and

■ Complaints reporting for identifying
opportunities for improvement.

To enable staff to better manage the customer
relationship when feedback is provided, we will
implement new relationship management skills
training during 2004-05.

Nautical data management
The Department undertakes hydrographic and
engineering surveying, tide data collection and
analysis, fairsheet production, cartography and
data management on behalf of the state.
During the year we completed 75 individual
hydrographic and engineering surveys at various
locations along the Western Australian coastline
and collected and analysed tidal data from 28
locations. We also produced 290 survey

fairsheets and introduced new digital detailed
nautical charts. On-line nautical chart sales were
made available through our Coastal Data
website during the year. 

Crown land manual
The administration of Crown land has been
streamlined and made more transparent with
the launch of the Crown Land Administration
and Registration Practice Manual in September
2003. The manual promotes best practice in the
administration of Crown land and the
conveyancing and registration of Crown land
transactions.

Call centre improvements
Following the release of the Auditor General’s
report on Government Agency Call Centres in
April 2003, the Department has addressed the
identified deficiencies in service delivery and
management. Actions include the development
of a formal customer satisfaction assessment
process. During the year we improved customer
service and now 80 per cent of calls are
answered within 60 seconds and less than five
per cent of calls are abandoned. 

Our quality guarantee
As part of efforts across the Department to
improve customer service, the Midland team
responsible for Crown land functions was re-
certified by the International Organisation for
Standardisation (ISO). Other areas of the
Department to be granted ISO accreditation
include Contracts and Central Services and
Marine Safety. 

New-look Internet site 
Our new-look Internet site officially went ‘live’
to the public early in 2004 after a
comprehensive revamp. The site brings the
Department’s content together into one
consistent, customer-friendly design that reflects
our innovative corporate ‘face’.

The website address is www.dpi.wa.gov.au
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The future

In 2004-05, the Department plans to: 
■ Make Perth a better place to live by integrating Dialogue with the city recommendations 

into planning decisions.

■ Roll out a new computer system for driver and vehicle licensing.

■ Improve the service to our licensing customers by relocating Licensing Centres and 
upgrading Licensing Centres to accept EFTPOS transactions and possibly credit cards.

■ Put more taxis on the road, including multi-purpose, peak period and outer area cabs.

■ Reduce heavy vehicle impacts around metropolitan Perth by continuing to improve our 
freight network.

■ Commence the first trial of hydrogen fuel cell buses in the southern hemisphere. 

■ Construct a land-backed wharf at Carnarvon to service the commercial and fishing 
maritime industries.

■ Improve marine safety by developing a compulsory competency training framework for
recreational boaters.

■ Provide a sustainable land tenure solution for Aboriginal people by implementing flexible
Aboriginal Land Title.

■ Negotiate Aboriginal peoples’ agreement to land developments. 

■ Commence implementation of the Government’s ‘Shared Service Centres’ initiative.

■ Complete pastoral land exclusions.

■ Complete acquisition of land for widening of the South West gas corridor. 

■ Have the Geographe Bay seaweed build up effectively managed under the agreement.

■ Establish a Departmental office in Carnarvon to implement the Ningaloo Strategy.

■ Implement the recommendations of the Functional Review of the Department.

■ Improve the efficiency of planning approvals, in cooperation with the Western Australian
Planning Commission, local government and industry.
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Valuing our employees 

During the year we developed strategies to
build a ‘community’ within the Department,
with common interests, needs and goals so that,
regardless of location, staff feel part of the whole.

The magnitude of change over the last three
years has impacted heavily on staff, and we
understand that a significant challenge is the
need to re-invigorate and re-engage staff.
During the year our focus has been on
developing a positive corporate culture where
leadership is clear, communication is open and
performance is rewarded.  

These improvements sit within the leadership
and people management categories of the
Business Excellence Framework.

Employee Survey
An extensive survey of staff gathered
perceptions and opinions on a range of issues
relating to working for the Department.

The survey canvassed topics including job
satisfaction, communication, leadership and
values. Around 43 per cent of employees
responded.

One key finding was that staff placed great
importance upon delivering quality service to
customers and also on integrity and trust
among colleagues.

Four themes emerged as issues of concern to
employees:

■ Trust and relationships across teams and the
organisation as a whole;

■ Where we are going overall;
■ Employee workload; and
■ Staff development.

As a response to the results of the employee
survey, the Department’s Human Resources
sub-committee endorsed a large number of
initiatives aimed at organisational and staff
development, including values enhancement,
customer service training and the enhancement
of the Performance Development Review Program.

Workforce Plan
An important achievement in 2003-04 has been
the development of a Workforce Plan that
allows us to shape our organisational culture
and develop strategies to acquire and retain the
best possible workforce. The plan contains 18
separate strategies. Key strategies introduced
during the year include:

■ Leadership and Executive Development - to
build a cohesive leadership team by
identifying leadership principles and
behaviours, creating a shared vision and a
consistent approach to leading the
organisation. More than 120 of our current
and future leaders attended Leadership
Conferences in November 2003, and March
and June 2004, which focused on raising
awareness of the complexity and diversity of
our business. The conferences will continue
on a quarterly basis. 

■ Coaching skills workshops - to provide
managers with the skills to foster honest
and open relationships with staff, and 
to support the Performance Development
Review process. Workshops for all managers
were held between February and June 2004.
Workshops to assist staff will be
implemented later in 2004. 
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During the year our focus has been on developing a positive
corporate culture where leadership is clear, communication is
open and performance is rewarded. 
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■ Scholarship Program - to provide financial
assistance to eligible employees to
undertake an approved course of study
resulting in the development of
competencies that will help us to meet our
business objectives. In 2003-04,
scholarships to the value of $30,000
(including Fringe Benefits Tax) were
awarded to 21 employees. 

■ Rewards and Recognition Program - to
shape a positive corporate culture by
providing an incentive that encourages staff
to strive for high levels of performance and
commitment, and to reward those staff who
achieve it. The Employee Recognition and
Award program was developed during the
year to be launched later in 2004.

■ Women in Leadership - to support our female
employees and encourage them to use their
skills and knowledge to contribute to the
development of the Department for Planning
and Infrastructure as an employer of choice.

A series of other initiatives that form the
Workforce Plan will be implemented throughout
2004-05. These include:

■ Training staff in customer service and
relationship management; 

■ Expanding the Performance Development
Review process through all levels of the
organisation;

■ Introducing an ongoing Corporate
Health program;

■ Developing on-line learning opportunities
for staff;

■ Introducing a Peer Support program; and
■ Conducting exit interviews to determine the

reasons for people choosing to leave the
organisation and develop strategies to
address any common themes that emerge.

Employee assistance
In 2003-04, Occupational Services Australia
provided independent and confidential
assistance. The service was used by 71
employees and/or their families (five per cent of
employees), compared with 80 staff (six per
cent) during 2002-03.

Equal employment opportunity outcomes
The Department’s equal employment
opportunity plan, the Equity and Diversity
Management Plan, was developed and
endorsed during the year to ensure that:

■ We meet our responsibilities in relation to
equity and diversity targets set by Government,
and in particular as they relate to: 
- women
- indigenous Australians
- people with disabilities
- people from culturally diverse backgrounds
- youth (aged under 25 years).

■ The Department benefits from a diverse
workforce that is representative of our
customer base.

■ We raise staff awareness of issues related to
equity and diversity.

In 2003-04, we worked on refining existing
strategies and developing new ones to ensure
we met equity and diversity targets. These included:

■ Holding a series of Leadership Forums and a
Frontline Management Program - both
include affirmative action strategies to
encourage and support women and young
people within the organisation and to
contribute towards the achievement of
equity indexes;

■ Offering traineeships and a graduate
program to help meet youth employment
targets;



■ Introducing a Women in Leadership
initiative to support our female staff and
encourage them to continue to use their
skills and knowledge to contribute to the
development of our Department as an
employer of choice;

■ Providing training to increase staff
awareness of the needs of people 
with disabilities; and

■ Participating in the Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander Employment Strategy (Public Sector
Management Division), which is contributing
towards equity targets for diversity. 

Workplace culture and accountability is 
reflected in our organisational values, and we
have ensured that our values underpin all of our
human resource management strategies. 

In December 2003, we introduced a new
Human Resources Information Management
System that will improve workplace equal
employment opportunity data collection and
facilitate better diversity reporting across the
Department.
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Our people

The Department for Planning and Infrastructure
is a dynamic and effective organisation that
values its staff and seeks to be an employer of
choice.

This makes the people category of the Business
Excellence Framework one of our most
influential.

The Department had a staffing level of 1539
people at 30 June 2004. 

At 30 June At 30 June
2004 2003

Permanent full time 1107 1057

Permanent part time 135 116

Contract full time 206 171

Contract part time 33 37

Casual 13 17

Other 45 15

Total people 1539 1413

Total FTEs 1394* 1270

* On 1 July 2003 departmental transfers occurred,
including staff transferred from the Department 
of Land Information to Planning and Infrastructure, 
and staff from Planning and Infrastructure to the
Public Transport Authority.

FTE by Output (at 30 June 2004)

Land Use and Transport
Infrastructure Policy
and Planning 198

Land Use and Transport
Infrastructure Service
Delivery 1196

Approximately 98 per cent of the Department’s
staff are working under a Public Service General
Agreement.

Under the Business Excellence Framework
category of people management, we set out to
improve our performance in a number of areas:

Occupational Safety and Health
The Department has continued to implement its
occupational safety and health strategies and
has achieved further reductions in injury rates. 

Major hazard-based initiatives that have been
addressed are as follows; 

■ Upgrade of Licensing Centre Ergonomic
Counters;

■ Audited use of chemical and material safety
data sheets (MSDS);

■ Implementation of training for staff using
four-wheel drives and trailers; and

■ Implementation and promotion of
occupational safety and health management
of contractors and other employee groups
(e.g. volunteers).
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Workers’ compensation and rehabilitation 

UNIT 2003-04 2002-03 2001-02 2000-01 1999-00

Numbers of lost time injuries 6 6 6 7 6

Frequency rate (number of lost-time 
injuries per million hours worked) 2.6 2.9 2.7 4.4 3.6

Incident rate (number of lost-time 
injuries per 100 workers) 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.6 0.6

Premium $373,891 $443,867 $498,750 $465,689 $373,411

Cost of claims incurred per $100 
of payroll $0.18 $0.39 $0.39 $0.83 $1.60

Two people received vocational rehabilitation and successfully returned to work.

Note: 1999-00 and 2000-01 figures represent the Department of Transport. 2001-02 figures represent the (then) newly-formed
Department for Planning and Infrastructure and the Department of Transport, as the figures for each could not be separated out.
2002-03 and 2003-04 figures represent the Department for Planning and Infrastructure.
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Managing the Department’s business

Over the past year we have overhauled
corporate governance and developed a new
Corporate Governance Framework and Manual
that provides clear planning, strong direction,
sound resource management and stringent
controls. These efforts sit within the leadership
category of the Business Excellence Framework.
During the year we: 

■ Overhauled the financial management
system to ensure that the six million
transactions acquitted by the Department
each year are thoroughly accounted for; 

■ Introduced a new chart of accounts to
facilitate greater accountability;

■ Developed a corporate planning framework;
■ Developed portfolio planning and

investment prioritising processes;
■ Participated in control and compliance

audits initiated by the Office of the Auditor
General including information technology,
general controls and Internet security audit
follow up; 

■ Developed divisional and branch business
plans using the Business Excellence
Framework; 

■ Commenced a comprehensive delegations
register to identify all delegations under
which the Department works, the statutes
to which the delegations relate and the
person/branch responsible for each function.

Roles and responsibilities
The framework of accountability in government
requires that the Director General is primarily
accountable to the Minister for the Department’s
activities and, through the Minister, to the Parliament.

The Director General:

■ Advises the Minister on portfolio issues,
operating and financial performance, and
any development which is likely to seriously
affect the Department’s operations;

■ Sets, monitors and reviews the directions of
the Department;

■ Ensures that the Department’s objectives
and goals are achieved;

■ Works collaboratively with other portfolio
agencies and the private sector;

■ Monitors the performance of the
organisation; and

■ Adopts sound management practice and
consistency with Public Sector requirements.

The Director General is responsible for the
governance of the Department under a number
of Acts. The most significant of these are:

■ Financial Administration and Audit Act

■ Public Sector Management Act

■ Equal Opportunity Act

■ Freedom of Information Act 

■ Library Board of WA Act

■ State Trading Concerns Act

■ State Records Act 

When the Department was created in July
2001 its corporate governance was in need of
urgent attention. The Auditor General qualified
the Department’s 2001-02 financial statements
because of a failure to account properly for
significant bank reconciliation matters during
that year and in preceding years.
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The Corporate Executive team consists of all
heads of Divisions. The Corporate Executive: 

■ Sets, monitors and reviews the direction of
the Department;

■ Works collaboratively with portfolio agencies;
■ Determines priorities for funding; 
■ Establishes and implements corporate policies;
■ Monitors performance; 
■ Models desired values and behaviours; and
■ Complies with relevant government

directives, guidelines and legislation.

Deliberations of meetings are recorded
permanently and the content of meeting
proceedings is communicated effectively to all
staff on a regular basis via the Intranet.

Corporate Executive sub-committees 
Six sub-committees play a key role in assisting
the Department to fulfil its responsibilities in
delivering effective business management.
These committees were established to lead the
Department and to ensure its business
objectives are met.

■ The Audit Committee ensures issues
relating to the Department’s reporting,
internal control structure and risk
management systems are addressed.

■ The Tenders Committee ensures that high
standards of probity, ethics and professional
conduct, within an accountable and
transparent process are maintained. 

■ The Information Management Committee
is responsible for the oversight of
information management.

■ The Human Resources Committee is
responsible for human resource
management and development initiatives.

■ The Communications and Community
Relations Committee is responsible for the
oversight and improvement of all
communications and community relations.

■ The Business Services Committee is
responsible for business management
including business support policy, processes
and procedures. 

For details of membership, terms of
appointments and number of meetings attended
refer to Appendix 2.

Improved systems and processes 
During the year we improved our information
systems processes and systems including: 

■ Introducing enterprise architecture and a
centralised acquisition process to standardise
our information and communications
technology - this has led to a reduction in
support and procurement costs; 

■ Creating a ‘warm’ back-up site to 
improve the business continuity of our 
core business systems at a competitive 
price - the site includes a fully mirrored
production environment for the agency’s
licensing database system, TRELIS, so we
have the ability to quickly move the
operation of TRELIS from its production 
site to its back-up site with a minimum 
of disruption to the users of the system;

■ Establishing a Storage Area Network to
address our record keeping requirements
regarding electronic documents (principally
email);

■ Implementing a Content Management
System to standardise Intranet and Internet
formats and to ensure the currency of web
pages;

■ Initiating a detailed analysis of system and
data risk to allow compilation and testing of
an agency Disaster Recovery Plan;

■ Implementing a range of policies to improve
information security, such as privacy policies
and passwords; and 

■ Aligning information and communications
technology expenditure with business
outputs, so expenditure is always visible to
the business unit. 

We also implemented a new Human Resource
Management Information System and
introduced an online ‘web kiosk’ to improve
staff access to payroll details. This self-managed
system also reduces the amount of time
required to answer basic enquiries and to make
minor changes to a staff member’s details. 
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Risk management
The Corporate Executive, supported by
Directors and Managers, manages risk through
an enterprise-wide program centred on business
planning and the audit program. This integrates
risk management into business planning and
enhances the Department’s achievements. It is
monitored by the Business Services Committee. 

Intellectual property
Intellectual property is considered a valuable
asset to the Department. We have reviewed our
Intellectual Property Policy following the launch
of new government guidelines, and have
evaluated best practices and projects to manage
and commercialise the assets. 

Corporate planning
The Department for Planning and
Infrastructure’s Corporate Plan Creating
Communities - Corporate Directions 2003-2005 is
available on the Department’s website at
www.dpi.wa.gov.au/about.  It sets out the
Department’s broad direction, highlighting the
strategies we will use to take us into the future. 

Energy Smart Government Policy 
In accordance with the Energy Smart Government
policy the Department has committed to
achieving a 12 per cent reduction in non-
transport related energy use by 2006-07 with a
6 per cent reduction targeted for 2003-04.

An Energy Smart Committee has been
established to co-ordinate the direction of the

Energy Smart Program within DPI. During the
past financial year the following energy saving
initiatives were undertaken:

■ Development of an Energy Smart Program
Project Plan to achieve targets;

■ Planning of lighting upgrade project for
Albert Facey House and submission of a
funding application to SEDO for the upgrade;

■ Structured walk-throughs at several sites to
ascertain opportunities for energy reduction;

■ Strengthening of the Employee Awareness
Program, including the creation of an
Energy Smart Webpage; the publishing of
regular articles in ‘Infralink’, the Department’s
internal newsletter, and electronic
distribution of Energy Smart information; and

■ Improvement in data collection for
monitoring purposes and identification of
opportunities to generate savings. 

Public interest disclosures
The Department designated the position of
Director, Human Resources as the Departmental
Public Interest Disclosure Officer.

Internal procedures on receiving and dealing
with disclosures of public interest information
were drafted for publication on the
Department’s Intranet and staff were advised.

No disclosures were received during the year.

ENERGY SMART 
GOVERNMENT PROGRAM BASELINE 2003-04 VARIATION %

Energy Consumption (GJ) 24,676 25,633 3.88% increase

Energy Cost ($) $696,534 $653,965 6.11% decrease

Greenhouse Gas Emissions
(tonnes of CO2) 6,307 6,480 2.74% increase

Performance Indicators

Office - Tenant Light and Power 
MJ/sqm 319 329 3.04% decrease
MJ/Per Person 6,886 8,143 18.25% increase

Office - Combined Services 
MJ/sqm 931 855 8.17% decrease
MJ/Occupancy (People)/annum 21,254 18,893 11.11% decrease

(1) 2001-02 Baseline figures have been adjusted to reflect transfer of functions from the Department to the Public Transport Authority, and addition of 
Kununurra and Bunbury offices transferred to the Department from the Department of Land Information.

(2) Increase in staff numbers and area adjustments have impacted on energy consumption. 
(3) An increase in staff numbers has resulted in higher greenhouse gas emissions against the baseline.  The greenhouse gas percentage increase differs from 

the energy consumption increase based on the use of the differing greenhouse gas coefficient as advised by Western Power.

Note: During the year the Department has gathered better consumption and billing data for the past 3 years. This has necessitated a change to the baseline
data by SEDO and is reflected above.



DESCRIPTION CONTRACTOR AWARD VALUE ($)

Property Management Services for Residential Perth Management Services 422,681.00
and Commercial Properties

Fremantle Inner Harbour Container Movements Study Sinclair Knight Merz Pty Ltd (Vic) 189,784.00

Security Risk Assessments for Facilities at DPI Ports Osprey Asset Management Pty Ltd 100,000.00

Upgrade of Oracle Financials V10.7 to E-Business Suite 11i Oracle Corporation Australia Pty Ltd 198,000.00

Property and Facility Management Services Colliers International 412,500.00
for Hillarys Boat Harbour

Ongoing Analysis of Taxi Industry Performance Colmar Brunton WA Pty Ltd 474,771.00
Against Industry Standards

Air Services Between Broome and Derby; Broome, Golden Eagle Airlines 455,605.13
Fitzroy Crossing and Halls Creek

Air Services Between Broome, Port Hedland and Karratha Golden Eagle Airlines 362,745.40

Port of Wyndham: Transit Shed: Paving and Drainage Work Murray River North 488,789.40

Consultancy Services for the Pinjarra-Brunswick ERM 180,774.77
Sustainability Study

Leasing of Taxi Plates to Taxi Drivers Various In process

Licence for the Rights to Operate an Air Service Skippers Aviation In process
Between Perth, Kalbarri and Shark Bay, with connections
through Geraldton

Licence for the Rights to Operate an Air Service Between Skippers Aviation In process
Perth and Laverton
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Managing the Department’s business
(continued)

Pricing and Costing
The Department reviews its fees and charges
annually to reflect where possible full cost
recovery in the provision of its services.

During 2003-04 a General Costing and Pricing
Policy was endorsed for application within the
Department. This policy sets out the guiding
principles for:

■ Costing and pricing outputs to obtain a
budget resource;

■ Setting of fees and charges; and
■ Full cost recovery and charging by the

Department for Planning and Infrastructure
("DPI") for reimbursable services provided to
non-DPI government agencies or
instrumentalities.

Gazette number 88, dated 28 May 2003,
contains the variations to the Department's fees
and charges for the 2003-04 financial year.

Leasing
Our lease management team provides a finance
tendering service, which is supported by a panel

of financiers. The total value of leased items for
the Department is $4.7 million and outstanding
lease financial commitments are reported in the
Financial Statements. Leased items are primarily
computing equipment, but other items such as
specialised marine seabed surveying equipment
have also been leased. All new leases are
assessed against Australian Accounting tests 
and must ensure a positive cost benefit to
Government.

The leasing facility provides competitive leasing
arrangements that have realised savings for the
Department. New leases entered into this
financial year have realised, on average, a 7.68
per cent saving against the amount financed.

Waste paper recycling
The Department recycled 17.2 tonnes of paper
in 2003-04.

Contracting 
The number of contracts awarded this year was
356 with customer satisfaction levels rated at 99
per cent. Details of major contracts awarded are
listed below.

Major Contracts 2003-04
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Legislative responsibilities

The Department was created under the Public
Sector Management Act (1994) to assist the
Minister for Planning and Infrastructure to
administer those statutes that provide the
legislative framework for integrated transport
and planning for Western Australia. We also
administer the following statutes:

Air Navigation Act (1937)
Carriers Act (1920)
Civil Aviation (Carriers Liability) Act (1961)
Damage by Aircraft Act (1964)
Fines Penalties & Infringement Notices Enforcement
Act (1994)
Harbours and Jetties Act (1928)
Hope Valley-Wattleup Redevelopment Act (2000)
Jetties Act (1926)
Land Administration Act (1997)
Lights (Navigation Protection) Act (1938)
Marine Navigation Aids Act (1973)
Metropolitan Region Town Planning Scheme Act
(1959) 
Metropolitan Region Scheme (Fremantle) Act 1994
Metropolitan Region Improvement Tax Act (1959)
Pilots Limitation of Liability Act (1962)
Perth Parking Management Act (1999)
Planning Legislation Amendment Act (1999)
Pollution of Waters by Oil and Noxious (Amendment
and Validation Act) 1990
Substances Act (1987)
Port Authorities Act (1999)
Rail Safety Act (1998) 
Road Traffic Act (1974) 
Sea Carriage of Goods Act (1997)
Shipping and Pilotage Act (1967)
Strata Titles Act (1985)
Taxi Act (1994) 
Town Planning Development Act (1928)
Transport Coordination Act (1996) 
Western Australian Coastal Shipping Commission Act
(1981)
Western Australian Marine Act (1982)
Western Australian Marine (Sea Dumping) Act
(1982) 
Western Australian Planning Commission Act (1985)

On behalf of the Minister for Planning and
Infrastructure, the Department administers the
following statutes:

Port Kennedy Development Agreement Act (1992)
Swan Valley Planning Act (1995)
Forrest Place and City Station Development Act
(1985)

The Department advises the Minister for
Planning and Infrastructure on the
administration of the Eastern Goldfields Transport
Act and generally on legislation covering
government-owned transport agencies.

Under delegation from the Western Australian
Planning Commission, the Department
administers the Town Planning and Development Act
(1928) and the Metropolitan Region Town Planning
Scheme Act (1959).

State Sustainability Strategy
The State Government's State Sustainability
Strategy, which was launched in September
2003, requires agencies to address commitments
and carry out actions in three areas:

■ Planning, decision-making and reporting, so
that these activities are conducted in
accordance with sustainability principles; 

■ To ensure agency operations support
sustainability; and 

■ To encourage and empower public sector
employees to support sustainability.

Agencies are required to develop a three-year
Sustainability Action Plan by 21 December
2004. The Department for Planning and
Infrastructure is developing an action plan and
the implenetation of the plan will be reported
on in the 2004/05 annual report
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Improving accountability

Better record keeping
In accordance with the State Records Act 2000 we
have submitted a draft Record Keeping Plan for
approval by the State Records Commission. We
have evaluated the efficiency and effectiveness
of existing record keeping systems and developed
a series of project plans for action in 2004-2007
to address issues identified in the draft plan.

We will meet our record keeping training
obligations by:

■ Introducing a web-based training course in
record keeping awareness, so every
employee will have a clear understanding of
their role and responsibilities in creating,
managing and maintaining government
records that comply with legislative
requirements;

■ Continuing to provide an introduction to
record keeping in our induction program; and

■ Reviewing the training program in 2007-08.

We will evaluate, review and report on the
effectiveness of the Record Keeping Plan in 2007-08.

Statement of Compliance with Public Sector
Standards in Human Resource Management
and the Code of Ethics
Our commitment to fostering a culture of
ethical behaviour and to ensuring our
Departmental values grow to underpin all our
business practices was further reinforced during
2003-04.

SInce June 2003 more than 800 staff have
participated in Values Workshops. During the
workshops, teams explore appropriate
behaviours consistent with Departmental values,
assess the team’s performance against those
behaviours, and develop an action plan to
address any identified gaps. 

The Performance Development Review System
implemented in December 2003 contains strong
links to the values and encourages honest and
open discussion concerning appropriate
behaviours consistent with corporate values.
Following the completion of workshops with all
staff, further strategies will be developed to
ensure the ongoing life of the values, including

a strategy for values-based recruitment 
that reflects our desired image of ‘Employer 
of Choice’. 

Corporate induction, where new staff are
provided with information on human resource
policies and procedures and an overview of the
Public Sector Code of Ethics, is strongly focused
on the theme of ‘Creating Community Within’.
It includes group activities promoting discussion
of appropriate workplace behaviours in line with
the Public Sector Code of Ethics and
Departmental values. 

In line with the requirements of the
Departmental Policy Framework, recruitment,
selection and deployment policies and
procedures are constantly reviewed to ensure
compliance with the Public Sector Standards in
Human Resource Management. All recruitment
activity continues to be monitored and for each
of the Standards, a comprehensive quality
assurance process is in place. Human Resource
policies are available to all staff via the Intranet. 

During the reporting period 1 July 2003 to 
30 June 2004, there were seven requests for
review of the recruitment and selection process
and one request for review of the Temporary
Deployment (Acting) Standard. No breaches
were found in relation to either Standard. 

Code of Conduct 
The Department’s Code of Conduct is being
updated and circulated for comment, and will
be finalised and issued during 2004.

The Director General is responsible for the
conduct of all staff. Ethical structures are in
place to ensure that there is consistent ethical
behaviour and a minimum standard of
acceptable behaviour. The code is reviewed
regularly to ensure it remains relevant and
meets compliance requirements.
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Keeping people informed

We are committed to openness and
transparency and publicised our work so that
as many people as possible had easy access to
information about new plans and policies.  This
fits under both the customer and market focus
and information and knowledge categories of
the Business Excellence Framework.
In 2003-04, every conceivable medium was
utilised: advertising, media releases, community
forums, videos, the Internet, printed material,
public events, community education, exhibitions,
speeches and launches were used to raise
awareness among the public, stakeholders and
staff about initiatives, rollout of infrastructure
and changes in legislation.

Highlights included:

■ The Dialogue with the city event, launch,
and outcomes for key stakeholders in the
property industry, local and State Government;

■ Bikeweek 2004, which included the Bike to
Work Breakfast, which attracted more than
3000 cyclists to Perth central city;

■ Marine safety displays at boat shows and
other events in Perth and regional centres;

■ The official opening of the new City West
Licensing Centre; and

■ The opening of the $3.78 million Bayswater
to Maylands shared-use path.

The Department also organised a meeting of
the Australian Transport Council, the peak body
of national transport policy comprising Transport
Ministers from all Australian states and territories.

Talking to us
A Communications and Community Relations
Plan was developed for community involvement,
two-way communications including public
participation and community consultation,
public affairs, issues management, corporate

reputation management, integrated marketing
and promotions, and staff communications.

Resulting improvements to make it easier to talk
to us included an overhaul of our Internet site,
new customer-friendly telephone handling
standards, more community forums, and a
comprehensive complaints and feedback system.

Everyone has the opportunity to participate
actively in policy development and decision-
making and to have their values and priorities
taken into account at every stage of the
Department’s planning processes.

We widened our network of advocates and
influenced behaviour - encouraging people to
cycle, use public transport or walk instead of
using a car; carry safety equipment on their
boats; and make the most of new licensing
options.

Easy access to information
A full list of publications is available in the Freedom
of Information Statement available at any of our
offices and on the Internet at www.dpi.wa.gov.au.
Publications and technical reports are also
available from our library and through the Library
and Information Service of Western Australia.

To maximise readability, clear, uncluttered fonts
are selected and all our documents are available
in alternative formats such as Braille, large print,
audio tape and computer disk.



Keeping people informed (continued)
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Advertising and sponsorship
The following statement relates to advertising, direct mail and market research, as required under
Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act.

In 2003-04, every conceivable medium was 
utilised to raise awareness among the public,
stakeholders and staff.

Category Expenditure Expenditure Persons, Agencies and 
2003-04 2002-03 Organisations

Advertising agencies $469,266.44 $648,366.61 Core Marketing $36,608.19
The Brand Agency $4,601.11
Marketforce 
Productions $426,146.44
Total Advertising $748.00
Vinten Browning $1,162.70

Market research $1,655,699.47 $2,279,054.56 Data Analysis $429,475.82
organisations Market Equity $46,024.00

Colmar Brunton $100,094.25
Social Data Aust $1,080,105.40

Direct mail organisations $988,083.07 $1,027,817.48 Northside Logistics $13,885.52
Zipform $974,197.55

Media advertising $266,843.65 $714,155.36 Premier and Cabinet $5,864.70
organisations Dillinger Group $105,037.13

Media Decisions $155,941.82

TOTAL $3,379,892.63 $4,669,394.01

Percentage increase/decrease -27.6 per cent

Note: Expenses under “advertising agencies” and “media advertising organisations” include the printing of information 
leaflets and brochures, production of Internet information, public display material, information signage and posters, and
instructional manuals. It also includes job vacancy advertising, the calling of tenders and the preparation and 
communication of public information.
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Major capital works projects

Works completed during 2003-04

2003-04
ACTUAL ACTUAL

PROJECT EXPENDITURE TOTAL COST
$ ‘ 000 $ ‘ 000

Kimberly Ports – Deferred Maintenance 47 9,105

Fremantle Fishing Boat Harbour Tourism Precinct 
Boardwalks Extension 181 452

Exmouth Boat Harbour Sewerage 286 290

Point Samson Boat Harbour Upgrade 863 7,841

Challenger Harbour – Additional Pens 75 1,080

Hillarys Boat Harbour – Car Parking Upgrade 164 552

Replacement of boatshed vessels 60 86

Bus Measures 1,080 1,838

Transport Executive and Licensing Information System 6,901 32,607

Works in Progress at 30 June 2004

EXPECTED 2003-04 ESTIMATED
YEAR OF ACTUAL COST TO ESTIMATED

PROJECT COMPLETION EXPENDITURE COMPLETE TOTAL COST
$ ‘ 000 $ ‘ 000 $ ‘ 000

Carnarvon Land Backed Wharf 1 2004-05 610 3,586 4,248

Mews Road Commercial Centre 2 2004-05 135 1,745 1,880

Hillarys Boat Harbour-Modify Breakwater 3 2006-07 17 1,977 1,994

Casuarina Harbour Pens Stage 1 4 2005-06 0 974 1,000

Coral Bay Access Road and Boat Launching Facility 5 2004-05 28 4,898 5,220

Zero Emission Hydrogen Fuel Cell Buses 6 2006-07 2 9,218 10,654

1 Source of Funds: Commonwealth Government Grant $0.3m, Grant from Regional Investment Fund, Department of Local Government 
and Regional Development $2.5m, Small Craft Facilities Fund $0.75m, Government Coastal Facilities Fund $0.7m.
2 Source of Funds: Government Coastal Fund $0.55 m, Recreational Boating Fund $1.33m
3 Source of Funds: Small Craft Facilities Fund $1.994m
4 Source of Funds: Small Craft Facilities Fund $1.0m
5 Source of Funds: Appropriation $5.22m
6 Source of Funds: Borrowings $8.22m, Commonwealth Government $2.434m
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Output based management

Output 1: Land Use and Transport 
Infrastructure Policy and Planning 

Land use and transport infrastructure planning and implementation strategies to guide the state’s long-term urban
settlement and social and economic development, coordination and development of strategic transport policies and plans.

Outcome: Integrated and sustainable land, transport and infrastructure systems

2002-03 2003-04

Full time equivalents 177 1981

Operating expenses $24,166,000 $23,627,000

1 During 2003-04, the Land Administration Services from the Department of Land Information were amalgamated with the Department for
Planning and Infrastructure operations. In addition, the Public Transport Services were transferred from the Department for Planning and
Infrastructure to the newly formed Public Transport Authority and the ‘At Sea’ marine safety functions were amalgamated with the
Department of Fisheries.

Performance Measures: 
2003-04 2003-04 Reason for significant variation
target actual between 2003-04 actual

and 2003-04 target
Quantity
Land use, infrastructure and transport 
systems policy and planning program 1 Program 1 Program

Quality
Extent to which Western Australian 
Planning Commission committees are 
satisfied with the quality of land use 
planning advice for metropolitan Perth 70% 79%

Timeliness
Extent to which Western Australian 
Planning Commission committees are 
satisfied with the timeliness of land use 
planning advice for metropolitan Perth 70% 79%

Cost (efficiency)
Cost of land use, infrastructure 
and transport systems policy and 
planning program $20,605,198 $23,627,267
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Output 2: Land Use and Transport 
Infrastructure Service Delivery

Service delivery in the areas of transport infrastructure, land development, land and property services and management
of the portfolio’s land and transport infrastructure assets.

Outcome: Integrated and sustainable land, transport and infrastructure systems

2002-03 2003-04

Full time equivalents 1080 11961

Operating expenses $546,235,176 $211,435,000

1 During 2003-04, the Land Administration Services from the Department of Land Information were amalgamated with the Department
for Planning and Infrastructure operations.  In addition, the Public Transport Services were transferred from the Department for Planning
and Infrastructure to the newly formed Public Transport Authority and the ‘At Sea’ marine safety functions were amalgamated with the
Department of Fisheries.

Output Performance Measures: Quantity
2003-04 2003-04 Reason for significant variation
target actual between 2003-04 actual

and 2003-04 target
Quantity
Planning services 1 program 1 program

Education and Regulation:
Maritime environmental disaster 
contingency response 1 program 1 program

Licensing regulatory program 1 program 1 program

Maritime regulatory program 1 program 1 program

Taxi regulatory program 1 program 1 program

Rail safety regulatory program 1 program 1 program

Regional regulatory program 1 program 1 program

Regional services 1 program 1 program

Cycling promotion program 1 program 1 program

Maritime safety education program 1 program 1 program
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2003-04 2003-04 Reason for significant variation
target actual between 2003-04 actual

and 2003-04 target

Passenger and Freight Services:
TravelSmart: households contacted 11,500 15,702

Regional air services kilometres 1,050,000 874,633

Subsidised north west shipping 
services, voyages 20 19

Remote student free trips 6,400 2,641 The budgeted quantity units were overstated

Remote pensioner free trips 4,640 3,780

Subsidised taxi trips 800,000 727,644

Infrastructure Development and Management:
Grants and subsidies 1 program 1 program

Maritime infrastructure development 
and management 1 program 1 program

Maritime navigation aids 996 1,002

Crown land actions 8,150 6,846

Output Performance Measures: Quality
Education and Regulation:
Extent to which the Western Australian 
Planning Commission committees are 
satisfied with the quality of land use 
planning advice for Western Australia 70% 89%

Maritime environmental incident personnel 
completing specified training programs in 
accordance with agreed plan 100% 100%

Vessel registrations that comply with 
all legal requirements 100% 100%

Certificates of competency issued in 
accordance with all legal requirements 100% 100%

Commercial vessel interceptions conducted 
in accordance with legal requirements 100% 100%

Vehicle inspections conducted that comply 
with all legal requirements 100% 100%
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2003-04 2003-04 Reason for significant variation
target actual between 2003-04 actual

and 2003-04 target

Driver tests undertaken and driver 
licences and permits issued that comply 
with all legal requirements 100% 100%

Vehicle registrations that comply with 
all legal requirements 100% 100%

Taxi licences that comply with 
legal requirements 100% 100%

Boating safety education programs 
completed in accordance with quality 
management principles 100% 100%

Maintain ISO 9001 quality assurance 
for Crown land action processes maintained maintained maintained

Output Performance Measures: Timeliness
Education and Regulation:
Extent to which Western Australian 
Planning Commission committees are 
satisfied with the timeliness of land use 
planning advice for Western Australia 70% 89%

Marine emergency training programs 
delivered within agreed timeframe 100% 100%

Commercial vessel plans and stability 
booklets approved within 14 days of 
application for approval 100% 100%

Vessel registrations issued within seven 
days of completed application 100% 100%

Marine patrols completed in accordance 
with agreed workplan 100% 100%

Certificates of competency issued within 
three days of completion of requirements 100% 100%

Vehicle registrations issued within seven 
days of completed application 98% 98%
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2003-04 2003-04 Reason for significant variation
target actual between 2003-04 actual

and 2003-04 target

Drivers licences issued within 
21 days of completed application 90% 90%

Vehicle inspections completed 
within 60 minutes 85% 85%

Taxi licences issued within 14 days 
of completed application 100% 100%

Boating safety awareness initiatives 
completed in accordance with 
agreed workplan 100% 100%

Infrastructure Development and Management:
Airport development grants paid 
in accordance with agreed deadlines 
upon verification of completed works 100% 100%

Cycling infrastructure grants assessed 
and applicants notified within 90 
days of application closing date 100% 100%

Maritime infrastructure development 
grants provided within 90 days of 
lodged application 100% 100%

Government land actions completed 
within target time 95% 97.6%

Output Performance Measures: Cost
Cost (efficiency)
Planning services $22,428,730 $22,129,958

Education and Regulation:
Cost of maritime disaster 
contingency response $520,338 $894,000

Cost of licensing regulatory program $57,731,964 $59,922,247

Cost of maritime regulatory program $6,976,342 $7,566,632

Cost of taxi regulatory program $730,549 $755,020

Cost of rail safety regulatory services $714,172 $974,607

Cost of regional regulatory program $1,502,722 $4,172,875 The increased actual cost in 2003-04 is because the 
estimated target for the regional transport regulation
program was not fully transferred from the licensing
regulatory program during the establishment of the 
2003-04 budget.
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2003-04 2003-04 Reason for significant variation
target actual between 2003-04 actual

and 2003-04 target

Cost of regional services $4,249,047 $5,477,078

Cost of cycling promotion program $1,596,620 $1,631,733

Cost of maritime safety education program $1,257,897 $1,333,572

Passenger and Freight Services:
Cost of TravelSmart per household contacted $99.62 $103.27

Cost per 1000 seat place kilometres for 
regional air services $99.19 $103.46

Cost per voyage of north west 
shipping service $182,480 $215,185

Cost per pensioner free travel trip $301.72 $192.70

Cost per remote student free travel trip $200.00 $419.82 The budgeted quantity units were overstated.

Cost per taxi subsidy $9.21 $8.58

Infrastructure Development and Management:
Cost of grants and subsidies $2,669,552 $31,535,222 Includes the payment of carry forward grants 

from 2002-03.

Cost of maritime infrastructure 
development and management $36,798,355 $39,594,502

Cost per navigation aid managed $3,538 $1,810 The 2002-03 actual expenditure included overhead
costs that are not included in the 2003-04 unit cost.

Crown land actions $1,863 $2,671

Support services to statutory authorities $673,588 $401,069
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Key Performance Indicators
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Certification of Performance Indicators
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2004

I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users
to assess the Department for Planning and Infrastructure’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the
Department for Planning and Infrastructure for the financial year ended 30 June 2004.

Greg Martin

Accountable Officer

13 August 2004
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Opinion of the Auditor General

INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION
To the Parliament of Western Australia

DEPARTMENT FOR PLANNING AND INFRASTRUCTURE

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004

Audit Opinion
In my opinion, the key effectiveness and efficiency performance indicators of the Department for Planning and
Infrastructure are relevant and appropriate to help users assess the Department’s performance and fairly represent 
the indicated performance for the year ended June 30, 2004.

Scope
The Director General’s Role

The Director General is responsible for developing and maintaining proper records and systems for preparing 
performance indicators.

The performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and efficiency.

Summary of my Role

As required by the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985, I have independently audited the performance indicators 
to express an opinion on them. This was done by looking at a sample of the evidence.

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the performance indicators is error free, nor does it
examine all evidence and every transaction. However, my audit procedures should identify errors or omissions significant
enough to adversely affect the decisions of users of the performance indicators.

D D R PEARSON
AUDITOR GENERAL
September 30, 2004

4th Floor Dumas House 2 Havelock Street West Perth 6005 Western Australia Tel: 08 9222 7500 Fax: 08 9322 5664
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Outcome

The outcome statement that was published in the 2003-04 Budget Statements was modified during 2003-04 to provide
better clarity regarding the role of the Department in achieving the desired social, economic and environmental goals
through the allocation and management of land, transport systems and infrastructure. 

2003-04 Published Outcome Statement Revised 2003-04 Outcome Statement
“Integrated and sustainable land, transport and “Allocation and management of land, transport systems and
infrastructure systems.” infrastructure that facilitates social and economic development,

and reduces the adverse impacts on the environment for 
Western Australia.”

The revised outcome statement is used as the basis for reporting in 2003-04. 

The Department for Planning and Infrastructure strives to achieve its outcome through provision of policy and planning
advice to the Minister and Government, policy and planning support services to the Western Australian Planning
Commission under delegated powers, the provision of development and subdivision approvals, application of approved
plans and policies; and other strategic and statutory land use planning activities. 

The Department provides the Minister and government with policy advice on the future direction of transport systems
within Western Australia, including the integration of transport within the state’s land use configuration. Our policy advice
on the state’s transport system is aimed at ensuring that the transport system is integrated within transport modes and the
land configuration (the economic dimension); is safe and accessible (the social dimension); and is environmentally
sustainable. The planning system is complex. It must manage the often-competing interests and desired outcomes of the
various stakeholders, as well as the aspirations of the community. It also has an independent decision making system that is
subject to legal appeal through the Town Planning Appeals Tribunal. 

The accompanying performance indicators have changed from those of previous years to encapsulate in an understandable
way the fundamental outcomes of the planning and management system that underpins the role of the Department. We
understand our role as facilitating social and economic development and reducing adverse impacts on the environment in
the following terms:
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1. Social development
We anticipate and respond to the needs of existing and
future communities through the provision of zoned and
serviced land for housing, employment, recreation and
open space, commercial and community facilities. 

Social development factors addressed by the Department
include: 

■ Accommodating future population growth and
demographic and social change;

■ Ensuring sufficient zoned land for a range of activities,
including affordable housing and employment;

■ Promoting efficient patterns of land use;

■ Coordinating the provision of infrastructure in a way
that is equitable, accessible, timely and efficient;

■ Setting aside zoned land to protect key existing and
planned land assets from inappropriate land use and
development;

■ Preventing development in areas that are not well
serviced;

■ Implementing a range of statutory responsibilities,
delegated authorities, policies and plans that are
designed to promote social development;

■ Acting as the state’s principal transport co-ordination
and policy advisory body. The Department co-ordinates
Western Australia’s input into various national forums
and organisations, and provides strategic oversight
across the state; and 

■ Implementing future transport systems in accordance
with the State Planning Strategy, so investments in
transport infrastructure are based on a sound basis of
economic, social and environmental considerations. 

2. Economic development
We contribute to the economic well being of the state, the
regions and local communities through the provision of
land, facilitating decisions and resolving land use conflicts. 

Economic development factors addressed by the
Department include: 

■ Providing suitably zoned and serviced land for industry,
business, other employment and wealth creating
activities;

■ Avoiding land use conflicts by separating incompatible
uses of land;

■ Promoting local employment opportunities; 

■ Preventing development in areas where services and
facilities are not economical to provide;

■ Facilitating efficient use of existing infrastructure; 

■ Communicating approved plans and policies to land and
infrastructure developers to assist them in making
investment decisions; 

■ Implementing a range of statutory responsibilities,
policies and plans designed to promote economic
development; and 

■ Implementing transport systems in accordance with the
State Planning Strategy, and so investments in transport
infrastructure are based on a sound basis of economic,
social and environmental considerations. 

3. Reduced adverse impacts on the environment
We reduce adverse impacts on the environment by
protecting environmental assets through reservation and by
encouraging ecologically sustainable land use. 

Environmental factors addressed by the Department
include:

■ Protecting areas and sites of environmental significance
from inappropriate land use and development; 

■ Preventing environmental problems that may arise as a
result of siting incompatible land uses close together; 

■ Minimising destruction of habitat and other
environmental values by increasing densities and
encouraging redevelopment of existing urban assets
rather than allowing unchecked urban sprawl; 

■ Implementing a range of statutory responsibilities,
policies and plans designed to reduce the impact of
urban growth on the environment; 

■ Regulating the licensing of motor vehicles to ensure
that they meet the stringent Australian Design Rules for
emission controls; and 

■ Through our transport policy setting role, setting a
variety of strategies for minimising the adverse impacts
on the environment through, for example, encouraging
alternative forms of transport (cycling, walking) and
ensuring the bus fleet progressively meets Economic
Commission of Europe exhaust emission standards.



Effectiveness Indicator 1:
Infrastructure Savings through Planning

This indicator largely explains the economic development
impact of our integrated land-use planning efforts on future
infrastructure costs. This means less costly road, water,
sewerage, electricity, gas, public transport and
telecommunication services.

Infrastructure savings can be achieved through coordinated
planning. 

The provision of new infrastructure to service development on
the urban fringe is relatively more costly to the state than the
reuse of existing infrastructure for brownfield redevelopment
and for densification of existing urban areas. 

The Department, through its land use planning role,
encourages the reuse of existing infrastructure. 

An expert study Future Perth - Costs of Urban Form -
September 2001 concluded indicative infrastructure savings
in Perth to the state of between $42,500 and $92,500 per
lot of development in the inner and middle rings of Perth,
below the outer suburban infrastructure costs.

In the year ended June 2004 the indicative savings on
infrastructure costs achieved by the Department were in the
range of $144-$313 million.

Reduced infrastructure costs lead to a more accessible and
lower cost residential and non-residential property market,
which lead to important economic and social outcomes.

Data is sourced from Future Perth - Costs of Urban Form -
September 2001 and the Residential Lot Activity report
produced by the Western Australian Planning Commission.

Effectiveness Indicator 2:
Reduced Lot Sizes

This indicator shows a reduction in lot sizes over time and
explains how the allocation of land through the reduction in
urban sprawl has both environmental and economic
benefits to the State through reduced infrastructure costs
and less impact on the natural environment.

Dense urban environments make better use of available
land and existing infrastructure, reduce the effect of urban
sprawl, improve the use of public transport and minimize
destruction of habitat and other environmental assets on
the urban fringe. 

Smaller lot sizes are achieved by the Department through
the implementation of a number of instruments and plans,
including the Residential Design Codes, which direct
housing development densities in Perth and through the
Department’s review of local government town planning
schemes. 

More dense cities are a more sustainable pattern of land
use when compared to urban sprawl as a strategy for
accommodating population growth. 

Target median approved lot size is 600m2 per lot, which
achieves planning outcomes while continuing to provide a
choice of dwelling types. 

Densities are sourced from the Residential Lot Activity
report available at: http://www.wapc.wa.gov.au/publications/
development/index.html
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Effectiveness Indicator 3:
Property and Land Prices are Relatively Affordable.

This indicator shows land prices in all the major capital cities
and the economic benefit to prospective buyers from the
work done by the Department to allocate and manage the
supply of land at affordable prices to meet current and
future demand.

There is also a social dimension and benefits related to
affordable land pricing.

Land and dwelling prices are largely a factor of supply and
demand and the underlying cost of supporting infrastructure.

The Department directly affects the supply side through the
zoning of land suitable for development or redevelopment,
matching this with developers’ intentions and the
subsequent approval of land subdivision. This in turn has a
direct effect on housing affordability.

The Department predicts the demand side for land by
monitoring demographic trends, projecting population
growth and closely monitoring the land market. The success
of the Department in balancing these factors is reflected in
the relatively constrained growth in median housing prices
for Perth, as demonstrated in the above graph.

At 31 December 2003, there was a stock of 49,666
residential lots with preliminary planning approval. This
stock of land is sufficient for an additional population of
120,000 persons and ensures that land supply is not a
contributing factor to decreases in home affordability. 

Similarly, at 31 December 2003 there was a stock of 8500
approved nonresidential lots, ensuring that land for future
employment activities is available.

As a result of the Department’s actions, Perth’s dwellings
are more affordable when comparing the ratio of
household income to median dwelling prices of the major
urban settlements in Australia.

The Department’s housing affordability target is set to the
second lowest quintile or better. This means that the target

is set for Perth at no greater than the second lowest
property prices when compared to other major capital 
cities in Australia.

Figures in the graph are sourced from ABS publication
1350.0 - average weekly earnings and median house price
in December, and REIA publication Market Facts March
Quarter 2004.

Effectiveness Indicator 4:
Land Use and Transport Planning Integration

This indicator shows that effective planning and
management of major transport routes produces economic
benefits to the community by having transport services
close to the users of this transport infrastructure. 

Reduced travel time and travel costs, and the impact on the
environment are the major benefits produced by good
land-use and the integration of land and transport
infrastructure planning.

Through its land planning role the Department influences
the proximity and availability of major transport routes
within the Perth metropolitan area.  

Close proximity of development to major transport routes
reduces travel times and encourages the use of public
transport on those routes. Minimising travel times and
increasing the use of public transport reduces greenhouse
gas emissions with a consequent reduction in the
environmental impacts of urban development. 

The large percentage of zoned land within 400 metres of a
major transport route is significant, as 400 metres is a
benchmark distance for walkability. Even in the less dense
parts of Perth, more than 80 per cent of residential land is
within 400 metres of a public transport route. 

The figures for this measure were derived from the
Department’s internal spatial systems.
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Effectiveness Indicator 5:
Waiting time performance for wheelchair accessible taxis

This indicator shows the waiting time for people with
disabilities to gain access to taxis and explains how the
Department allocates and manages this particular transport
infrastructure to provide a socially beneficial service.

The Department, as the regulator of the taxi industry,
monitors standards of performance.

Wheelchair accessible taxis are an essential means of
transport for many people with disabilities. These taxi
services impact on social outcomes by providing a service to
allow people the option of flexible “at call” transport. Taxis
are a part of the public transport system that service travel
for work and social needs, providing a means to reduce
social isolation and reduce reliance on personal vehicle use
with the associated road safety impact.

Waiting time is a key performance indicator of the
effectiveness of providing access to transport for people
with disabilities, and contributes towards social outcomes. 

This measure reflects the extent to which the community
has access to a taxi service that is able to provide for social,
work, and health transport needs, regardless of disability.

This is achieved through: 

■ Taxi Industry Performance Standards Monitoring;

■ Appointing a coordinator of the wheelchair accessible
taxi fleet; and

■ Compliance activities including enforcement of plate
ownership conditions, quotas, priority for wheelchair
passengers.

Waiting Time Performance - Wheelchair Jobs

Source: Colmar Brunton Taxi Performance Report, and Black and White Taxi’s.

Effectiveness Indicator 6:
Land Costs compared to Median House Sales Price.

This indicator shows land costs compared to median house
sale prices in Perth and explains how the Department
influences cost of land and keeps it affordable by the
allocation and management of land supply to remain at
50% or less of the median property prices. This produces a
significant economic benefit to the community.

In places where demand outstrips supply, land prices are a
major contributing factor to the increase in established
dwelling prices. Where prices increase beyond the level of
general affordability there are negative social consequences. 

The Department directly affects median land prices by
ensuring that there is sufficient stock of approved land
suitable for development or redevelopment. 

Similarly, by encouraging the reuse of existing
infrastructure, the Department minimises flow on costs
from infrastructure provision to land prices.  By monitoring
demographic trends, projecting population growth and
matching this with developers’ intentions, the Department
plans and manages the growth of Perth.

The above measure demonstrates that although established
house prices have risen, the land component (which the
Department influences) has risen at a slower rate and is
below the 50 per cent target. The figures for the above
measure have been sourced from the REIWA publication
Market Update.
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Effectiveness Indicator 7: 
Customers satisfied that the management and use of

government land is supporting the State’s economic, social

and cultural objectives.

The government estate is managed and used for the benefit
of the community through the delivery of cost effective
land administration services that provide government land
for residential, commercial, industrial, conservation, heritage
and community purposes. The extent to which customers
are satisfied that the local community’s economic, social
and cultural objectives are supported by the Department
for Planning and Infrastructure’s government land
administration services is a key indicator of our
effectiveness in meeting this outcome. 

The primary users of the Department’s government land
administration services are other state government agencies
and local governments. A customer survey conducted by
independent consultants asked these customers to rate their
satisfaction with the Department’s land administration
services in meeting the community’s economic, social and
cultural needs. Local government customers responded in
relation to their local communities and government
agencies responded in terms of their agency’s perspective
of the state’s community needs. 

Of the 176 customers surveyed, 144 valid responses were
received from 113 local authority CEOs, 18 government
agencies and 13 private sector. The result of this survey
indicated that 54.86 per cent were satisfied that the
outcomes of the Department’s management and use of
government land met the State’s economic, social and
cultural objectives. 

Effectiveness Indicator 8:
Parks, Recreation and State Forest Reserves.

This indicator shows the amount of land set aside for parks,
forest and recreational use and how it has not greatly
reduced through population growth. This means that the
community’s enjoyment of the environment has not been
adversely impacted by urban sprawl.

Through the Department’s activities, areas of Perth have
been set aside for state forests, parks and recreation
purposes. Perth’s boundary extends north to the City of
Wanneroo, south to the City of Rockingham and east to the
Shire of Mundaring.

■ State forests protect biodiversity and provide habitat for
Western Australia’s unique flora and fauna. Bushland
areas have unique value in absorbing carbon from the
atmosphere and acting to reduce the greenhouse effect.

■ Forest areas and other reserves are strategically placed
as water catchment areas. Water sustains human life
and is an important resource for economic activities,
including tourism, farming and many other commercial
endeavours.

■ Recreation and open space areas have great social
value, facilitating sporting and other recreational
activities and contributes to the livability of suburbs.

The above measure demonstrates that through the
Department’s activities significant areas of Perth have been
set aside for parks, recreation reserves and state forests and
the proportion per person is being maintained at a high level.

Figures have been sourced from internal departmental spatial
information systems and from ABS publication 3101.0.
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Key Output
Land Use and Transport Infrastructure Policy and Planning

Efficiency indicator: The extent to which operational
efficiency of planning service delivery is achieved for land
use and transport infrastructure policy and planning.

A major role of the Department for Planning and
Infrastructure is the development of an integrated approach
to the planning of land use and transport infrastructure. 

To ensure an integrated approach to land use the
Department provides services to facilitate the
implementation of creative and innovative strategic plans
and policies for the Perth metropolitan area. The
Department provides resources to the Western Australian
Planning Commission (WAPC) to enable:

■ The acquisition and management of properties reserved
under Perth’s Metropolitan Region Scheme for
important urban roads, controlled access highways,
parks and recreational reserves, special uses and major
land redevelopment projects; 

■ The disposal of surplus properties;

■ The management of rental properties; and

■ Other special planning projects to be undertaken within
the Perth metropolitan area. 

To ensure an integrated state transport system the
Department determines future directions and the
development and implementation of policies and strategies. 

This section demonstrates the cost of statutory, consultative
and coordination services direct to the WAPC in its strategic
planning, and the cost of developing and coordinating
strategic transport policies and plans. 

Measure: Land use and transport infrastructure 

policy and planning

Data shown is the comparative average hourly cost for
policy and planning services to develop and coordinate
strategic policies and plans. 

Average hourly cost of Planning and Policy Services

Actual 2002-03 $42.98

Actual 2003-04 $44.96

Target 2003-04 $45.37

Previous comparisons were made on regional and planning
task basis. These comparisons are no longer practical or
required.

Land use and transport infrastructure planning and implementation strategies to guide
the state’s long-term urban settlement and social and economic development,
coordination and development of strategic transport policies and plans.
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Key Output
Land Use and Transport Infrastructure Service Delivery

Efficiency indicator: The extent to which operational
efficiency of land use and transport infrastructure service
delivery is achieved. 

Due to the complex nature of measuring this efficiency
indicator this section is broken down into five sections and
its measures: 

■ Planning services;

■ Education and regulation;

■ Passenger and freight services;

■ Maritime infrastructure development and management; and

■ Crown land management.

Planning Services
This involves the Department maintaining and operating
regional offices to provide planning services to the
community on behalf of WAPC in Albany, Bunbury,
Mandurah, Geraldton, Karratha and Kalgoorlie. These
offices are service resources for WAPC to assist in: 

■ The acquisition and management of properties reserved
under Country Region Schemes for important regional
roads, controlled access highways, parks and
recreational reserves, special uses and major land
redevelopment projects; 

■ The disposal of surplus properties;

■ The management of rental properties; and

■ Other special planning projects undertaken in country
Western Australia.

The following table demonstrates the hourly cost of
statutory and consultative services on behalf of the WAPC
that facilitates the implementation of creative and innovative
strategic regional and local plans and policies for country
Western Australia. 

Average hourly cost of Planning Services

Actual 2002-03 $42.01

Actual 2003-04 $48.22

Target 2003-04 $40.18

Education and Regulation
The Department aims to maintain, monitor and promote
high standards of transport regulation, education and
safety.  This also includes the promotion of public transport
and alternative forms of transport.

Measure: Maritime disaster contingency response

The Department aims to provide an effective response
organisation to combat marine environmental pollution.
The following chart demonstrates the cost of providing an
oil spill response readiness. A downward trend indicates an
improvement in the total cost of preparedness throughout
Western Australia.

Measure: Vessels surveyed.

The following chart demonstrates the cost of administering
and providing certificates of vessel survey. 

The Department conducts comprehensive surveys of
commercial craft to maintain a high standard of
construction and safety. 

Data shown represents the full accrual cost of the
Department’s commercial vessel survey operations divided
by the number of vessels surveyed. 
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Measure: Certificate of competency issued.

The table below demonstrates the cost of providing
certificates of competency issued through the Department’s
Marine Safety program. 

The Department aims to facilitate the safe use of waters by
users through setting and monitoring safety standards. Data
shown is the number of certificates issued divided by the
cost of the activity.  

The variance between actual and target for 2003/04 is
attributed to the fact that there were less applications and
certificates issued than expected for the 2003/04 year. The
variance in the actual for 2003/04 was less than previous years
due to a reduction in the printing of promotional materials.

Average cost per certificate of competency issued

Actual 2001-02 $669.75

Actual 2002-03 $608.29

Actual 2003-04 $457.82

Target 2003-04 $381.83

Measure: Private vessel registration.

The following chart demonstrates the cost of licensing
private vessels in Western Australia.  Data shown is the full
accrual cost of licensing private vessels divided by the
number of vessels. 

The increased target and average cost for 2003/04 reflect
the costs associated with the integration of vessel
registrations with the new computerised system. 

Measure: Taxi regulatory program

The Department provides services for the provision of 
taxi policy, legislation and regulation, investigation and
compliance. The chart below demonstrates the average 
cost of taxi administration calculated by dividing the total
cost of these taxi administration services by the number 
of taxi registrations.

Measure: TravelSmart per household contacted

TravelSmart is a successful community-based program that
encourages people to use alternatives forms of transport to
travelling in their private car. It is an initiative to help
preserve Western Australia’s environment and quality of
life. The table below shows the TravelSmart cost per
household contacted.

Average cost of TravelSmart per household contacted

Actual 2002-03 $74.46

Actual 2003-04 $103.27

Target 2003-04 $99.62

Measure: Cycling promotion program

A key activity of the Department is the promotion of
cycling as a legitimate mode of transport and a recreational
activity. A key component of this promotional program is
the “Cycle Instead” campaign, which includes television
advertisements, information pamphlets on the benefits of
cycling, and public relations events.

Also included are:

■ Individual programs and campaigns;

■ PR and promotional activities;

■ Events;

■ Promotional/information materials;

■ Education materials; and

■ Sponsorships and grants.

The following chart shows the total cost of providing
cycling promotion program services.
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Measure: Rail safety regulatory program

Rail safety regulation is one of the Department’s significant
roles. To effectively regulate under the Rail Safety Act and
the Intergovernmental Agreement on National Rail Safety,
the Department is required to undertake a wide range of
activities including:

■ Accrediting railways;

■ Approving changes to safety management systems;

■ Undertaking compliance audits, compliance inspections
and independent rail accident investigations;

■ Monitoring and assessing safety performance, giving
directions to improve safety, maintaining accident
databases; and

■ Contributing to the development of a consistent
national approach to safety regulation, producing safety
statistics and reports.

The table below demonstrates the total cost of providing
rail safety regulation activities.

Total cost of Rail Safety Regulatory Program

Actual 2002-03 $613,857

Actual 2003-04 $974,607

Target 2003-04 $714,172

The increased actual cost in 2003-04 is due to the change
in corporate overhead allocation during 2003-04. 

Measure: Regional services.

A key component of the Department ‘s activities is to
maintain a presence at regional centres and coordinate and
provide a range of the Department’s services in regional areas.
Western Australia is divided into ten regional service areas. 

The chart below demonstrates the average cost of
providing regional services. 

Data shown is the full accrual cost of providing this service
divided by the number of regional areas. 

Measure: Marine safety education program.

The chart below demonstrates the cost of providing marine
safety education programs.  The Department aims to
promote safer waterways through education programs in
collaboration with other agencies. Data shown is the full
accrual cost of marine safety education programs divided
by the number of programs.

Measure: Vehicle and driver transactions.

This measure gives an indication of the Department’s
efficiency in the maintenance of driver and vehicle registers.
It is based on the average cost per vehicle and driver
transaction on a yearly basis. The Department delivers a
large range of licensing services to promote and encourage
safer vehicles and drivers. Data shown is the cost of
licensing services divided by the number of registrations,
licences and permits issued, and tests conducted. 
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Measure: Vehicle inspections.

The chart below demonstrates the cost of managing 
and providing vehicle inspection services. A key element 
of the Department’s services is to implement and apply 
vehicle safety standards through the detection of
unroadworthy vehicles. 

Data shown represents the full accrual cost of vehicle
inspection services divided by the number of vehicle
examinations performed. 

The increased target and actual expenditure for 2003/04
represents the additional costs associated with increased
usage of contractors and agent fees to facilitate alternative
payment methods. 

Passenger and freight services
This function involves ensuring, facilitating and coordinating
the provision of services for the conveyance of people and
goods. As part of this role the Department provides service
delivery assistance to regional areas and provides grants and
subsidies for initiatives that will contribute to achieving this.

Measure: 1000 seat place kilometres for regional air services

The Department provides regional subsidised air services to
ensure that remote regional centres are serviced by air. This
indicator measures the cost of provision of these services to
the state. The chart below demonstrates the average cost
of providing subsidised regional air services. 

Data shown provides the average cost per 1000 seat
kilometers travelled by subsidised air services. 

Measure: Taxi user subsidy scheme

The Department operates a subsidy scheme to provide
cheaper taxi fares for people with severe or temporary
disabilities that prevent them from using conventional
public transport. In 2003-04 this subsidy totaled
$6,244,662.

The table below demonstrates the average cost of
providing subsidised taxi services.

Data shown is the total cost of taxi user subsidies (TUSS)
divided by the number of subsidised taxi trips.
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Measure: North-West shipping services subsidy

To assist Western Australia’s growth and economy, the
Department plays an important role in setting future
maritime transport directions and implementing policies and
strategies for an integrated state transport system.

This measure gives an indication of the economies of
servicing North-West communities through the movement
of goods by sea. The chart below demonstrates the cost to
government of providing a subsidised shipping service.

Data shown below is the comparative cost of the North-
West shipping subsidy per voyage.

Infrastructure development and management
Infrastructure development and management involves
ensuring and facilitating the development and management
of infrastructure to support the provision and use of
transport services. 

A key linkage exists between transport infrastructure and
the growth of Western Australia’s economy and ongoing
economic development .

Measure: Maritime Infrastructure development projects.

The Department plays an important role in developing and
managing maritime infrastructure. 

The Department achieves this through the development of
new maritime infrastructure projects.

This measure relates to the development of new maritime
infrastructure projects. This work includes the scoping of
projects, planning and feasibility studies, stakeholder
consultation and project development.

Data shown is the comparative average cost of developing
maritime facilities over time calculated by dividing the total
operating costs for Maritime infrastructure development by
the number of facilities undergoing development.

The variance in expenditure is attributed to carryover
expenditure not included in the target.

Measure: Maritime Infrastructure management.

The following chart indicates the cost of managing small
boat harbours and facilities. 

Data shown is the total cost of services for infrastructure
management divided by the number of facilities managed
in 2002-03, which gives a comparative average cost of
managing existing maritime facilities. The Department’s
boat harbours and facilities are managed on cost recovery
principles. 

This measure shows total expenditure, not net costs, as it
does not include revenue. Many of the facilities included
under this output generate revenue. 

Measure: Maritime infrastructure management per

navigation aid managed

The Department supports the provision and use of 
maritime transport services through the management of
navigation aids.

Data shown is the comparative cost of managing navigation
aids, and is calculated by dividing the total maintenance
cost by the number of navigation aids.

When read in conjunction with statistics concerning the
reliability and performance of navigation aids, this measure
gives an overall picture of the Department’s performance.

Due to the revised method of allocating internal corporate
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overheads, no overheads were allocated to this as the
maintenance functions for Navigation Aids were outsourced.

Crown land management
The Department also has the responsibility of making sure
that enough land is made available to meet community
needs, while incorporating necessary environmental
safeguards. Crown land actions represent one of the
principal outputs of the Department’s land services to the
State. They include the actions related to Crown land
administration such as land inspections, tenure searches and
lease rental adjustments.

They also include survey contracts and transactions such as
creation and cancellation of leases, reserves and roads, the
transfer of Crown land into the freehold environment and
other registrable transactions required under the Land
Administration Act 1997.

Therefore, the cost per government land action is a useful
indicator for this function. The table below demonstrates
the average cost of managing Crown land actions.

The variance in cost is the differential in the former
Department of Land Administration (DOLA) corporate
overheads and DPI corporate overheads, and the quantity
was over-estimated by DOLA being 8,150, where actual
was 6,846 land actions.

Average cost per Crown land action 

Actual 2002-03 $2,160

Actual 2003-04 $2,671

Target 2003-04 $1,863

92

5

10

15

20

40

35

30

25

Ta
rg

et
20

03
-0

4

$

Financial Year

20
03

-0
4

20
00

-0
1

20
01

-0
2

20
02

-0
3

Average Cost of managing each 
Navigation Aid $’00

0



Financial Statements
For the Year ended 30 June 2004

93



94

Certification of Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2004

The accompanying financial statements of the Department for Planning and Infrastructure have been prepared in compliance
with the provisions of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 from proper accounts and records to present fairly
the financial transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 2004 and the financial position as at 30 June 2004.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars included in the financial
statements misleading or inaccurate.

Athol Jamieson Greg Martin

Principal Accounting Officer Accountable Officer

13 August 2004 13 August 2004



INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION
To the Parliament of Western Australia

DEPARTMENT FOR PLANNING AND INFRASTRUCTURE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004

Audit Opinion
In my opinion,

(i) the controls exercised by the Department for Planning and Infrastructure provide reasonable assurance
that the receipt, expenditure and investment of moneys, the acquisition and disposal of property, and 
the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions; and

(ii) the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly in accordance with applicable
Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia and the
Treasurer’s Instructions, the financial position of the Department at June 30, 2004 and its financial
performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Scope
The Director General’s Role

The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts and maintaining adequate systems of internal
control, preparing the financial statements, and complying with the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 
(the Act) and other relevant written law. 

The financial statements consist of the Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Financial Position,
Statement of Cash Flows, Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues, Summary of Consolidated Fund
Appropriations and Revenue Estimates, and the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Summary of my Role

As required by the Act, I have independently audited the accounts and financial statements to express an opinion 
on the controls and financial statements. This was done by looking at a sample of the evidence. 

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial statements is error free. The term
“reasonable assurance” recognises that an audit does not examine all evidence and every transaction. However, 
my audit procedures should identify errors or omissions significant enough to adversely affect the decisions of users
of the financial statements.

D D R PEARSON
AUDITOR GENERAL
September 30, 2004

4th Floor Dumas House 2 Havelock Street West Perth 6005 Western Australia Tel: 08 9222 7500 Fax: 08 9322 5664
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DEPARTMENT FOR PLANNING AND INFRASTRUCTURE

Statement of Financial Performance
For the year ended 30 June 2004

2004 2003

NOTE $ 000 $ 000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses from ordinary activities
Employee expenses 4 79,927 77,579 
Supplies and services 5 63,683 75,543 
Depreciation expense 6 7,578 26,216 
Borrowing costs expense 7 488 18,620 
Administration expenses 8 9,407 9,289 
Accommodation expenses 9 5,739 4,193 
Grants and subsidies 10 40,609 332,076 
Capital user charge 11 24,108 15,297 
Costs of disposal of non-current assets 15 31 7,280 
Other expenses from ordinary activities 3,492 4,308 

Total cost of services 235,062 570,401 

Revenues from ordinary activities

Revenues from operating activities

User charges and fees 12 51,284 117,173 
Sale of goods and services 1,837 644 
Grants and subsidies 13 8,580 13,411 
Other revenues from operating activities 14 20,732 28,643 

Revenues from non-operating activities

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets 15 52 3,070 
Other revenues from non-operating activities 470 817 

Total revenues from ordinary activities 82,955 163,758 

NET COST OF SERVICES 152,107 406,643 

REVENUES FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 16
Output appropriation 130,773 403,194 
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 933 103 
Resources received free of charge 4,343 2,649

Total revenues from State Government 136,049 405,946 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (16,058) (697)

Net increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation reserve (2,362) 17,482 

Total valuation adjustments recognised directly in equity (2,362) 17,482

Total changes in equity other than those resulting
from transactions with WA State Government as owners (18,420) 16,785 

The Statement of Financial Performance should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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2004 2003

NOTE $ 000 $ 000

Current assets
Cash assets 17 14,366 37,255
Restricted cash assets 18 6,897 5,320 
Amounts receivable for outputs 19 127 - 
Inventories 20 171 551 
Receivables 21 5,450 11,230 
Other assets 22 284 5,506 

Total current assets 27,295 59,862

Non-current assets
Restricted cash assets 18 - 374 
Amounts receivable for outputs 19 48,820 55,883 
Property, plant, equipment, vehicles and vessels 23 101,756 261,622 
Infrastructure 24 115,322 162,248 
Construction in progress 25 37,797 35,071

Total non-current assets 303,695 515,198 

TOTAL ASSETS 330,990 575,060 

Current liabilities

Payables 26 6,022 16,566 
Interest-bearing liabilities 27 2,581 13,610 
Provisions 28 11,894 10,629 
Other liabilities 29 4,493 11,687 

Total current liabilities 24,990 52,492 

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 27 9,752 261,821 
Provisions 28 7,533 6,195 

Total non-current liabilities 17,285 268,016 

Total liabilities 42,275 320,508 

Equity 31
Contributed equity 89,592 56,684 
Asset revaluation reserve 15,120 17,482 
Accumulated surplus 184,003 180,386 

Total equity 288,715 254,552 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 330,990 575,060 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

DEPARTMENT FOR PLANNING AND INFRASTRUCTURE

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2004
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DEPARTMENT FOR PLANNING AND INFRASTRUCTURE

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2004

2004 2003
NOTE $ 000 $ 000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Output appropriations 121,848 373,665 
Capital contributions 1,796 24,252 
Holding account drawdowns 155 - 

Net cash provided by State Government 123,799 397,917 

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee costs (68,915) (65,840)
Superannuation (6,643) (8,510)
Supplies and services (72,696) (73,352)
Borrowing costs (549) (17,935)
Grants and subsidies (41,695) (330,842)
Capital user charge (24,108) (15,297)
GST payments on purchases (11,879) (41,506)
Other payments (2,223) (14,301)

Receipts
Sale of goods and services 1,697 684 
User charges and fees 51,421 117,234 
Grants and subsidies 9,663 13,320 
Interest received 486 841 
GST receipts on sales 6,129 8,915 
GST receipts from taxation authority 9,663 30,979 
Other receipts 21,974 26,139

Net cash used in operating activities 32 (127,675) (369,471)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets 49 3,070 
Purchase of non-current physical assets (11,374) (33,451)

Net cash used in investing activities (11,325) (30,381)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings - 15,600 
Repayment of borrowings (2,524) (13,345)

Net cash provided by financing activities (2,524) 2,255 

Net increase in cash held (17,725) 320 
Cash assets at the beginning of the financial year 42,949 36,158 
Cash assets transferred (to)/from other sources 32 (3,961) 6,471 

CASH ASSETS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 32 21,263 42,949 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes



99

LAND USE AND TRANSPORT LAND USE AND TRANSPORT TOTAL
INFRASTRUCTURE POLICY INFRASTRUCTURE 

AND PLANNING SERVICE DELIVERY

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses from ordinary activities
Employee expenses 16,014 13,495 63,913 64,084 79,927 77,579 
Supplies and services 4,334 7,774 59,349 67,769 63,683 75,543 
Depreciation expense 309 282 7,269 25,934 7,578 26,216 
Borrowing costs expense - - 488 18,620 488 18,620 
Administration expenses 1,043 700 8,364 8,589 9,407 9,289 
Accommodation expenses 712 554 5,027 3,639 5,739 4,193 
Grants and subsidies 489 167 40,120 331,909 40,609 332,076 
Capital user charge 156 113 23,952 15,184 24,108 15,297 
Cost of disposal of non-current assets 9 1 22 7,279 31 7,280 
Other expenses from ordinary activities 561 1,080 2,931 3,228 3,492 4,308 

Total cost of services 23,627 24,166 211,435 546,235 235,062 570,401 

Revenues from ordinary activities

Revenues from operating activities

User charges and fees - - 51,284 117,173 51,284 117,173 
Sale of goods and services - - 1,837 644 1,837 644 
Grants and subsidies 2,350 6,073 6,230 7,338 8,580 13,411 
Other revenues from operating activities 695 1,422 20,037 27,221 20,732 28,643 

Revenues from non-operating activities

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets 3 - 49 3,070 52 3,070 
Other revenues from non-operating activities - - 470 817 470 817 

Total revenues from ordinary activities 3,048 7,495 79,907 156,263 82,955 163,758 

NET COST OF SERVICES 20,579 16,671 131,528 389,972 152,107 406,643

REVENUES FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Output appropriations 20,154 25,383 110,619 377,811 130,773 403,194 
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer - 16 933 87 933 103 
Resources received free of charge 197 125 4,146 2,524 4,343 2,649 

Total revenues from State Government 20,351 25,524 115,698 380,422 136,049 405,946 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (228) 8,853 (15,830) (9,550) (16,058) (697)

The Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

DEPARTMENT FOR PLANNING AND INFRASTRUCTURE

Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues
For the year ended 30 June 2004
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DEPARTMENT FOR PLANNING AND INFRASTRUCTURE

Summary of Consolidated Fund
Appropriations and Revenue Estimates
For the year ended 30 June 2004

2004 2004 2004 2003
ESTIMATE ACTUAL VARIANCE ACTUAL ACTUAL VARIANCE

$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

PURCHASE OF OUTPUTS
Item 84 Net amount appropriated to deliver outputs 414,653 415,299 646 415,299 378,741 36,558
Section 25 transfer of appropriations:

Department of Fisheries - (1,996) (1,996) (1,996) - (1,996)
Department of Justice - 184 184 184 - 184
Department of Land Information - 11,368 11,368 11,368 - 11,368
Department of Transport (Licensing Division) - - - - 16,584 (16,584)
Main Roads Western Australia - - - - 7,325 (7,325)
Public Transport Authority - (294,293)(294,293) (294,293) - (294,293)

Amount authorised by other statutes:
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 211 211 - 211 544 (333)

Total appropriations provided to deliver outputs 414,864 130,773 (284,091) 130,773 403,194 (272,421)

CAPITAL
Item 156 Capital contribution 22,147 22,147 - 22,147 24,147 (2,000)
Section 25 transfer of appropriations:

Department of Transport (Licensing Division) - - - - 105 (105)
Department of Land Information - 108 108 108 - 108
Public Transport Authority - (20,459) (20,459) (20,459) - (20,459)

Total capital contribution 22,147 1,796 (20,351) 1,796 24,252 (22,456)

ADMINISTERED
Amount provided for administered grants,
subsidies and other transfer payments - - - - 1,000 (1,000)
Item 85 Western Australian Coastal Shipping Commission 5,800 5,800 - 5,800 5,850 (50)

Total administered appropriations 5,800 5,800 - 5,800 6,850 (1,050)

GRAND TOTAL OF APPROPRIATIONS 442,811 138,369 (304,442) 138,369 434,296 (295,927)

Details of expenses by outputs
Land use and transport infrastructure policy and planning 20,605 23,627 3,022 23,627 24,166 (539)
Land use and transport infrastructure service delivery 541,297 211,435 (329,862) 211,435 546,235 (334,800)

Total cost of outputs 561,902 235,062 (326,840) 235,062 570,401 (335,339)
Less operating revenues 148,106 82,955 (65,151) 82,955 163,758 (80,803)

Net cost of outputs 413,796 152,107 (261,689) 152,107 406,643 (254,536)
Adjustments (i) 1,068 (21,334) (22,402) (21,334) (3,449) (17,885)

Total appropriations provided to deliver outputs 414,864 130,773 (284,091) 130,773 403,194 (272,421)

Capital expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets 23,799 11,374 (12,425) 11,374 33,448 (22,074)
Repayment of borrowings 13,452 2,524 (10,928) 2,524 13,345 (10,821)
Adjustments for other funding sources (15,104) (12,102) 3,002 (12,102) (22,541) 10,439

Capital contribution (appropriation) 22,147 1,796 (20,351) 1,796 24,252 (22,456)

DETAILS OF REVENUE ESTIMATES
Revenues disclosed as administered revenues 727,496 938,564 211,068 938,564 779,114 159,450

(i) Adjustments are related to movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations, variance to budget and actual should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes. This Summary provides the basis for the Explanatory Statement information requirements of Treasurer’s
Instruction 945 set out in note 40.
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1 Departmental mission and funding

The Department’s mission is to lead in creative and
sustainable solutions for land, transport and infrastructure
planning and delivery, for the benefit of the community. 

The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary
appropriations but is also able to retain some monies
collected through its operations. The financial statements
encompass all funds through which the Department
controls resources to carry on its functions.

On 1 July 2003, the Public Transport Services Division
of the Department, which included the bus and ferry
passenger transport operations and the associated assets
and liabilities were transferred to the newly created Public
Transport Authority.   Effective the same date, the Land
Administration Services functions of the Department of
Land Information were transferred to this Department.

In the process of reporting on the Department as a
single entity, all intra-entity transactions and balances
have been eliminated.

2 Significant accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been adopted in
the preparation of the financial statements. Unless
otherwise stated these policies are consistent with those
applied in the previous year.

General statement

The financial statements constitute a general purpose
financial report which has been prepared in accordance
with Accounting Standards, Statements of Accounting
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of
the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and Urgent
Issues Group (UIG) Consensus Views as applied by the
Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified
by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application,
disclosure, format and wording. The Financial
Administration and Audit Act and the Treasurer’s
Instructions are legislative provisions governing the
preparation of financial statements and take precedence
over Accounting Standards, Statements of Accounting
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of
the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and UIG
Consensus Views. The modifications are intended to
fulfil the requirements of general application to the
public sector, together with the need for greater
disclosure and also to satisfy accountability requirements.

If any such modification has a material or significant
effect upon the reported results, details of that modification
and where practicable, the resulting financial effect, are
disclosed in individual notes to these financial statements.

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Accounting Standard AAS 29 Financial
Reporting by Government Departments.

The statements have been prepared on the accrual basis
of accounting using the historical cost convention, with
the exception of land which, as noted, is measured at
fair value.

Administered assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues
are not integral to the Department in carrying out its
functions and are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements, forming part of the general purpose
financial report of the Department. The administered
items are disclosed on the same basis as is described
above for the financial statements of the Department.
The administered assets, liabilities, expenses and
revenues are those that the Government requires the
Department to administer on its behalf. The assets do
not render any service potential or future economic
benefits to the Department, the liabilities do not require
the future sacrifice of service potential or future
economic benefits of the Department, and the expenses
and revenues are not attributable to the Department.

As the administered assets, liabilities, expenses and
revenues are not recognised in the principal financial
statements of the Department, the disclosure
requirements of Accounting Standard AAS 33
Presentation and Disclosure of Financial Instruments are
not applied to administered transactions.

(a) Depreciation of non-current assets

All non-current assets having a limited useful life
are systematically depreciated over their estimated
useful lives in a manner that reflects the
consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis,
using rates which are reviewed annually. Expected
useful lives for each class of depreciable assets are:

Buildings 40 years
Buses 18 years
Computer hardware and software 4 to 7 years
Furniture and fittings 11 years
Maritime infrastructure 5 to 100 years
Plant and equipment 5 to 20 years
Public transport infrastructure 20 to 40 years
Refurbishments 3 to 20 years
Vehicles 6 years
Vessels 10 years

Assets under construction are not depreciated until
commissioned.

(b) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred, except where
they are included in the costs of assets under
construction (qualifying assets) (refer note 30).

(c) Leases

The Department has entered into a number of
operating lease arrangements for accommodation,
plant, office equipment and motor vehicles where
the lessor effectively retains all the risks and
benefits incident to ownership of the items held
under the operating leases. Equal instalments of the
lease payments are charged to the Statement of 

DEPARTMENT FOR PLANNING AND INFRASTRUCTURE

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2004
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DEPARTMENT FOR PLANNING AND INFRASTRUCTURE

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2004

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial Performance over the lease term as this is
representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased property.

(d) Revenue recognition

Revenues are received in the form of various
registration, examination and licence fees. These
revenues are received for services provided
including undertaking inspections and/or issuing
licences associated with the fees. As no part of
these charges is refundable, revenues are
recognised at the time they are received.

The revenue from other operating activities
including rendering of services and the sale of
assets are recognised when the Department has
passed control of the goods or other assets or
delivery of the service to the customer. Recoups of
operating activities are recognised when invoiced.

Interest revenues are recognised as they are
accrued.

(e) Net appropriation determination

Pursuant to section 23A of the Financial Administration
and Audit Act, the net appropriation determination
by the Treasurer provides for retention of the
following moneys received by the Department:

boat registration fees, GST input credits, GST
receipts on sales, Indian Ocean Territories
Program, jetty licences, marine examinations,
duplicate motor drivers license fees, motor vehicle
transfer fees, motor vehicle plate fees, proof of
age card, recoup for services provided, temporary
permits, services provided to the Western
Australian Planning Commission and other revenue

In accordance with the determination, the
Department retained $82.9m in 2004 (2003:
$163.7m).

Retained revenues may only be applied to the
outputs specified in the 2003-04 Budget Statements.

(f) Grants and other contributions revenue

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal
contributions are recognised as revenue when the
Department obtains control over the assets
comprising the contributions. Control is normally
obtained upon their receipt.

Contributions are recognised at their fair value.
Contributions of services are only recognised when
a fair value can be reliably determined and the services
would be purchased if they had not been donated.

(g) Special and other leases revenue (Administered)

Under Sections 116 and 117 of the Land Act 1933
and Section 79 of the Land Administration Act
1997, rents in regard to special and other leases are
received in advance. The lessee often has the
opportunity to purchase this land at fair value, as

valued by the Valuer General. The prospective
purchaser can purchase by instalments subject to
Ministerial approval, but must continue to pay rent
under the special lease Section 117AA of the Land
Act 1933, and Section 80 of the Land
Administration Act 1997.

These lease revenues are recognised in the Schedule
of Administered items (see Note 42) in accordance
with AAS 29 Financial Reporting for Government
Departments.  

(h) Output appropriations

Output appropriations are recognised as revenues in
the period in which the Department gains control of
the appropriated funds. The Department gains
control of appropriated funds at the time those
funds are deposited into the Department’s bank
account or credited to the holding account held at
the Department of Treasury and Finance.

(i) Resources received free of charge or for nominal
value

Resources received free of charge or for nominal
value which can be reliably measured are
recognised as revenues and as assets or expenses as
appropriate at fair value.

(j) Cash

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows,
cash includes cash assets and restricted cash assets. 

(k) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs are assigned on a first in first
out basis. Provision is made for obsolete stocks
where considered necessary.

(l) Receivables

Receivables are recognised at the amounts
receivable as they are due for settlement no more
than 30 days from the date of recognition.

Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be
uncollectible are written off. A provision for
doubtful debts is raised where some doubt as to
collection exists.

(m) Acquisitions of assets

The cost method of accounting is used for all
acquisitions of assets. Cost is measured as the fair
value of the assets given up or liabilities undertaken
at the date of acquisition plus incidental costs
directly attributable to the acquisition. Cost includes
borrowing costs incurred during construction.

Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal
consideration, are initially recognised at their fair
value at the date of acquisition.

Assets costing less than $2000 are expensed in the
year of acquisition. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(n) Land

Controlled

Land, pastoral leases and Crown land under leases
controlled by the Department are reported at fair
value. The valuation of the Department’s land
undertaken by the Valuer General’s Office for the
Government Property Register is recognised in the
financial statements.

Administered

Crown land, including land under leases, is
administered by the Department under the Land
Administration Act and is reported at fair value
(Valuer General’s valuation).

Cost of sales for land is reported as administered,
on the following basis:

Developed land - at its fair value of undeveloped
land plus the development cost
for subdividing into lots 
available for sale; and

Undeveloped land - this includes Crown grants 
and closed roads which are 
costed at sale proceeds which 
reflects fair value.

(o) Payables

Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are
recognised when the Department becomes obliged
to make future payments as a result of a purchase
of assets or services. Payables are generally settled
within 30 days.

(p) Interest-bearing liabilities

Loans are recorded at an amount equal to the net
proceeds received. Borrowing costs expense is
recognised on an accrual basis.

(q) Employee benefits

Annual leave

This benefit is recognised at the reporting date in
respect to employees’ services up to that date and
is measured at the nominal amounts expected to be
paid when the liabilities are settled.

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave expected to be
settled within 12 months of the reporting date is
recognised in the provisions for employee benefits
and is measured at the nominal amounts expected
to be paid when the liability is settled. The liability
for long service leave expected to be settled more
than 12 months from the reporting date is
recognised in the provisions for employee benefits
and is measured at the present value of expected
future payments to be made in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date.
Consideration is given, when assessing expected

future payments, to expected future wage and
salary levels including relevant on costs, experience
of employee departures and periods of service.
Expected future payments are discounted using
market yields at the reporting date on national
government bonds with terms to maturity and
currency that match, as closely as possible, the
estimated future cash outflows.

Superannuation

Staff may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a
defined benefits pension scheme now closed to new
members, or to the Gold Sate Superannuation
Scheme, a defined benefit lump sum scheme now
also closed to new members. All staff who do not
contribute to either of these schemes become non-
contributory members of the West State
Superannuation Scheme, an accumulation fund
complying with the Commonwealth Government’s
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. 
All of these schemes are administered by the
Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

The superannuation expense comprises:

(i) change in the unfunded employer’s liability in
respect of current employees who are members
of the Pension Scheme and current employees
who accrued a benefit on transfer from that
Scheme to the Gold State Superannuation
Scheme; and

(ii) employer contributions paid to the Gold State
Superannuation Scheme and West State
Superannuation Scheme.

The superannuation expense does not include
payment of pensions to retirees, as this does not
constitute part of the cost of services provided by
the Department in the current year.

A revenue “Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer”
equivalent to (i) is recognised under Revenues from
State Government in the Statement of Financial
Performance as the unfunded liability is assumed by
the Treasurer. The GESB makes the benefit
payments and is recouped by the Treasurer.

The Department is funded for employer
contributions in respect of the Gold State
Superannuation Scheme and the West State
Superannuation Scheme. These contributions were
paid to the GESB during the year. The GESB
subsequently paid the employer contributions in
respect of the Gold State Superannuation Scheme
to the Consolidated Fund.

Employee benefit on-costs

Employee benefit on-costs are recognised and
included in employee benefit liabilities and costs
when the employee benefits to which they relate
are recognised as liabilities and expenses (see notes
4 and 28).
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Accrued salaries

The accrued salaries suspense account (refer note
18) consists of amounts paid into a suspense
account over a period of 10 financial years to
largely meet the additional cash outflow in each
eleventh year when 27 pay days occur in that year
instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on
this account.

Accrued salaries (refer note 29) represent the
amount due to staff, but unpaid, at the end of the
financial year, as the end of the last pay day period
for that financial year does not coincide with the
end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are
settled within a few days of the financial year end.
The Department considers the carrying amount of
accrued salaries to be equivalent to the net fair value.

(s) Contributed equity

Under UIG 38 Contributions by Owners Made to
Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities transfers in the
nature of equity contributions must be designated
by the Government (owners) as contributions by
owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before
such transfers can be recognised as equity
contributions in the financial statements. Capital
contributions (appropriations) have been designated
as contributions by owners and have been credited
directly to Contributed Equity in the Statement of
Financial Position. 

(t) Foreign currency translation and hedges

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are
translated at the rates in existence at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign currency receivables and
payables at reporting date are translated at
exchange rates current at reporting date. Exchange
gains and losses are brought to account in
determining the result for the year.

Forward foreign exchange contracts and options are
entered into as hedges to avoid or minimise possible
adverse financial effects of movements in exchange
rates. Exchange gains and losses arising from these
contracts are deferred and included in the
determination of the amounts at which the
transactions are brought to account.

(u) Joint venture operations - Administered

The Department administers a joint venture
operation on behalf of the Minister. Interests in
joint ventures have been reported in the Schedule
of Administered Items (notes 42 and 43), including
the Minister’s share of revenue earned, expenses
incurred, assets employed and liabilities incurred. 

(v) Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate,
reclassified so as to be comparable with the figures
presented in the current financial year.

(w) Rounding of amounts

Amounts in the financial statements have been
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, or in
certain cases, to the nearest dollar.

3 Outputs of the Department

Information about the Department’s outputs and the
expenses and revenues which are reliably attributable to
those outputs is set out in the Output Schedule.
Information about expenses, revenues, assets and
liabilities administered by the Department are given in
notes 42 and 43.

The two key outputs of the Department are:

Output 1: Land use and transport infrastructure policy
and planning

Land use and transport infrastructure
planning and implementation strategies to
guide the state’s long-term urban
settlement and social and economic
development, coordination and
development of strategic transport policies
and plans.

Output 2: Land use and transport infrastructure service
delivery

Service delivery in the areas of transport
infrastructure, land development, land 
and property services and management of
the portfolio’s land and transport
infrastructure assets.
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2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000

4 Employee expenses

Wages and salaries 61,999 59,328 
Superannuation 7,507 8,528 
Long service leave 2,170 2,818 
Annual leave 5,420 4,575 
Other related expenses (i) 2,831 2,330 

79,927 77,579 

(i) These employee expenses include on-costs associated with the 
recognition of annual and long service leave liabilities. The related 
on-costs liabilities are included in employee benefit liabilities at note 28.

5 Supplies and services

Consultants and contractors 25,525 24,350 
Consumables 16,977 21,698 
Commissions 9,406 12,269 
Repairs and maintenance 5,654 8,563 
Other 6,121 8,663

63,683 75,543 

6 Depreciation expense

Buildings 373 625
Refurbishments 938 939
Plant and equipment 328 1,894
Computer hardware and software 1,427 1,993 
Furniture and fittings 15 17
Buses - 13,767
Vehicles and vessels 71 365
Infrastructure 4,426 6,616

7,578 26,216

7 Borrowing costs expense

Interest expense 488 18,620 

8 Administration expenses

Communications 6,162 6,134 
Consumables 591 647 
Maintenance 2,654 2,508 

9,407 9,289 

9 Accommodation expenses

Lease rentals 5,255 3,577 
Cleaning 484 616 

5,739 4,193 
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2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000

10 Grants and subsidies 

Bicycle infrastructure development 949 2,558 
Ferry - 475 
Metrobus - 3,968 
Pensioner subsidies 1,422 1,119 
Public air transport 1,157 1,143 
Public bus transport - metropolitan - 127,123 
Public bus transport - regional - 5,452 
Public rail transport 12,694 112,897 
Recreational boating facilities 135 380 
Regional airport development 2,005 1,372 
School bus subsidies - 53,177 
Shipping 3,784 3,809 
Student subsidies 1,108 6,257 
Taxi user subsidies 6,245 6,196 
Other 11,110 6,150 

40,609 332,076 

11 Capital user charge

Capital user charge expense 24,108 15,297 

A capital user charge rate of 8 per cent has been set by the 
Government and represents the opportunity cost of capital 
invested in the net assets of the Department used in the provision 
of outputs. The charge is calculated on the net assets adjusted to 
take account of exempt assets. Payments are made to the 
Department of Treasury and Finance on a quarterly basis.

12 User charges and fees

Aircraft licence fees 242 1,050 
Boat registration fees 6,161 5,711 
Port charges 750 1,007 
Small boat harbour fees 4,845 4,563 
Vessel survey fees 1,442 1,426 
Other maritime fees 806 692 
Motor drivers license application fees 5,566 4,910 
Motor vehicle transfer, plate and inspection fees 20,953 18,864 
Perth parking licence fees 8,142 7,253 
Public transport fares - 69,449 
Rail safety registration fees 793 832 
Taxi licence fees 409 423 
Other fees 1,175 993 

51,284 117,173 

13 Grants and subsidies 

Commonwealth grants 354 1,326 
Western Australian Planning Commission 6,789 9,144
Other 1,437 2,941 

8,580 13,411 
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2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000

14 Other revenues from operating activities

Advertising revenue - 1,180 
Commissions 7,449 7,619 
Rents and leases 6,438 5,936 
Recoups of operating expenses 5,804 8,901 
Other 1,041 5,007 

20,732 28,643 

15 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Plant, equipment, vehicles and vessels 21 146 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Land, buildings and refurbishment - (4,084)
Infrastructure - (272)

21 (4,210)

16 Revenues from State Government

Appropriation revenue received during the year
Output appropriations 130,773 403,194 

Output appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the full 
cost of outputs delivered. The appropriation revenue comprises 
a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable 
(holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year 
and any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.

Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 
Superannuation 933 103

The assumption of the superannuation liability by the Treasurer is only a
notional revenue to offset the notional superannuation expense reported 
in respect of current employees who are members of the pension scheme 
and current employees who have a transfer benefit entitlement under the 
Gold State scheme.

Resources received free of charge
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:
State Solicitor’s Office 538 720 
Department for Housing and Works 47 16 
Department of Land Information 2,834 693 
Office of the Auditor General (i) - 149
Department of Industry and Resources 39 41 
Department of Justice 448 494 
Western Australian Police Service 437 536 

4,343 2,649 
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2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000

16 Revenues from State Government (continued)

Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal 
consideration, the Department recognises revenues (except where the contributions 
of assets and services are in the nature of contributions by owners in which case the 
Department shall make a direct adjustment to equity) equivalent to the fair value of 
the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably determined and 
which would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be 
recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable.

(i) Commencing with the 2003-04 audit, the Office of the Auditor General will be 
charging a fee for auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance 
indicators. The fee for the 2003-04 audit ($160,000) will be due and payable in 
the 2004-05 financial year.

17 Cash assets

Cash assets 14,366 37,255 

Includes cash received as capital contributions 
remaining at year end of $2,774,000 (2003: $11,376,000)

18 Restricted cash assets

Current
Accrued salaries suspense account (i) 585 - 
Off-Road Vehicles Account (ii) 137 119 
Perth Parking Licensing Account (iii) 5,033 3,853
Rail Safety Accreditation Account (iv) 1,043 789 
Taxi Industry Development Account (v) 99 559

6,897 5,320

Non-current
Accrued salaries suspense account (i) - 374 

Funds held as restricted cash can only be used to :

(i) meet the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.
(ii) meet the costs of administering the Control of Vehicles (Off Road Areas) 

Act 1978 and for matters approved by the Minister and the Treasurer.
(iii) meet the costs of administrating the Perth Parking Management Act 1999 

or for a purpose connected with the Perth Parking Policy.
(iv) meet the costs of administering the Rail Safety Act 1998.
(v) pay remuneration and allowances to board members, pay for taxi plates 

surrendered to the Minister, pay grants for research, promotion and 
development projects that benefit the taxi industry and meet the costs of 
administering the Taxi Act 1994.

19 Amounts receivable for outputs

Current
Amounts receivable for outputs 127 -

Non-current
Amounts receivable for outputs 48,820 55,883 

This asset represents the non-cash component of output appropriations. 
It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment 
of leave liabilities.
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$ 000 $ 000

20 Inventories

Current - at cost
Charts and publications 66 64 
Motor vehicle plates 105 303 
Multi-Rider tickets - 184 

171 551 

21 Receivables

Current
Trade debtors 3,201 5,592 
Goods and services tax receivable 2,249 5,638

5,450 11,230 

22 Other assets

Current
Prepayments 259 739 
Interest receivable 25 41 
Deferred loss on foreign exchange hedging contract - 32 
Foreign exchange hedging contract receivable - 4,694 

284 5,506 

23 Property, plant, equipment, vehicles and vessels

2004 2003
Cost/Fair Accum. Carrying Cost/Fair Accum. Carrying

value depr. amount value depr. amount
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

At valuation:
Land 47,304 - 47,304 72,956 - 72,956 
Pastoral leases 19,665 - 19,665 - - - 
Crown land leases 16,413 - 16,413 - - - 

83,382 - 83,382 72,956 - 72,956

At cost:
Buildings 14,905 4,483 10,422 17,725 4,665 13,060 
Refurbishments 8,424 4,755 3,669 8,342 3,818 4,524 
Plant and equipment 5,456 4,401 1,055 24,052 19,935 4,117 
Computer hardware and software 17,823 15,016 2,807 19,737 15,695 4,042 
Furniture and fittings 266 187 79 291 191 100 
Buses - - - 227,807 66,983 160,824 
Vehicles 280 217 63 316 231 85 
Vessels 597 318 279 3,496 1,582 1,914 

47,751 29,377 18,374 301,766 113,100 188,666 

Total 131,133 29,377 101,756 374,722 113,100 261,622

Land and leases are measured at fair value based on independent valuations provided by the Valuer General’s Office 
at 1 July 2002.  Fair value has been determined on the basis of current market value where an active market exists or 
current use value where no market exists and/or the current land use is specialised in nature.  Revaluations are made 
with sufficient regularity to ensure the carrying value of land does not differ materially from its fair value at reporting date.

“Accum. depr.” denotes accumulated depreciation.
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23 Property, plant, equipment, vehicles and vessels (continued)

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment, vehicles and 
vessels at the beginning and end of the current  financial year are set out below.

Carrying Carrying
amount amount
at start at end
of year Additions Revaluation Disposals Transfers Depreciation of year
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Land 72,956 - - - (25,652) - 47,304 
Pastoral leases - - - - 19,665 - 19,665
Crown land leases - - - - 16,413 - 16,413
Buildings 13,060 - 3,767 - (6,032) (373) 10,422
Refurbishments 4,524 94 - - (11) (938) 3,669
Plant and equipment 4,117 369 - (13) (3,090) (328) 1,055
Computer hardware
and software 4,042 656 - (12) (452) (1,427) 2,807
Furniture and fittings 100 10 - (3) (13) (15) 79
Buses 160,824 - 6,144 - (166,968) - -
Vehicles 85 - - (3) - (19) 63
Vessels 1,914 29 196 (1) (1,807) (52) 279

261,622 1,158 10,107 (32) (167,947) (3,152) 101,756 

24 Infrastructure

2004 2003
Cost Accum. Carrying Cost Accum. Carrying

depr. amount depr. amount
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Maritime infrastructure

Wharves and facilities 59,142 30,385 28,757 57,865 28,834 29,031 
Breakwaters and groynes 45,723 13,161 32,562 45,723 12,704 33,019 
Channel development
and facilities 40,304 9,518 30,786 40,304 9,115 31,189 
Service facilities 36,351 21,738 14,613 36,217 20,245 15,972 
Navigational aids 17,907 9,303 8,604 17,907 8,777 9,130 

Total maritime infrastructure 199,427 84,105 115,322 198,016 79,675 118,341 

Public transport infrastructure
Bus stations - - - 50,753 13,402 37,351 
Bus infrastructure - - - 9,336 2,780 6,556 

Total public transport infrastructure - - - 60,089 16,182 43,907 

Total infrastructure 199,427 84,105 115,322 258,105 95,857 162,248

“Accum. depr.” denotes accumulated depreciation.
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24 Infrastructure (continued)

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of infrastructure at the 
beginning and end of the current financial year are set out below.

Carrying Carrying
amount amount
at start at end
of year Additions Revaluation Disposals Transfers Depreciation of year
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Maritime infrastructure
Wharves and facilities 29,031 1,273 - - - (1,547) 28,757
Breakwaters and groynes 33,019 - - - - (457) 32,562
Channel development and facilities 31,189 - - - - (403) 30,786
Service facilities 15,972 134 - - - (1,493) 14,613
Navigation aids 9,130 - - - - (526) 8,604

Total maritime infrastructure 118,341 1,407 - - - (4,426) 115,322

Public transport infrastructure
Bus stations 37,351 - 7,206 - (44,557) - - 
Bus infrastructure 6,556 - - - (6,556) - - 

Total public
transport infrastructure 43,907 - 7,206 - (51,113) - - 

Total infrastructure 162,248 1,407 7,206 - (51,113) (4,426) 115,322

2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000

25 Construction in progress

At cost:
Buses 1,392 1,392 
Computer hardware and software 31,471 25,135 
Buildings and refurbishments 4 4 
Maritime infrastructure 4,930 5,118 
Public transport infrastructure - 3,422

37,797 35,071 

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of construction 
in progress are set out below:

Carrying amount at start of year 35,071 29,299 
Expenditure during the year 9,667 13,097 
Transferred from Department of Transport - 16,876 
Capitalised during the year (859) (21,581)
Transferred to the Public Transport Authority (4,309) - 
Amounts expensed (1,773) (2,620)

Carrying amount at end of year 37,797 35,071 

26 Payables

Current
Trade creditors 6,022 16,566
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2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000

27 Interest bearing liabilities

Current
Western Australian Treasury Corporation loans 2,581 13,610 

Non-current
Western Australian Treasury Corporation loans 9,752 261,821 

28 Provisions

Employee benefits
Current
Annual leave 6,706 5,296 
Long service leave 5,188 5,333 

11,894 10,629 

Non-current
Long service leave 7,533 6,195

Total employee benefits 19,427 16,824 

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise 
to the payment of employment on-costs. The liability for such on-costs 
is included here. The associated expense is included under Other related 
expenses (under Employee expenses) at note 4.
The Department considers the carrying amount of employee benefits 
to approximate the net fair value.

29 Other liabilities

Current
Accrued salaries 2,358 1,645 
Income received in advance 1,970 774 
Accrued interest payable 165 4,542 
Foreign exchange hedging contract payable - 4,726 

4,493 11,687 

30 Capitalised borrowing costs

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year 308 249 

Weighted average capitalisation rate on funds borrowed generally 5.8% 4.6%

Investment revenue earned on funds borrowed specifically and 
deducted from borrowing costs incurred in determining the amount 
of borrowing costs to be capitalised. - - 

31 Equity

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the 
Department. The Government holds the equity interest in the 
Department on behalf of the community. The asset revaluation 
reserve represents that portion of equity resulting from the 
revaluation of non-current assets.
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2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000

31 Equity (continued)

Contributed equity
Opening balance 56,684 17,351 
Capital contributions (i) 1,796 24,252 
Contribution by owners: (ii)

Net assets transferred from Department of Land Information 38,168 - 
Net liabilities transferred to Consolidated Fund 214 18,598 

Distributions to owners: (ii)
Net liabilities transferred from Department of Transport - (3,517)
Net liabilities transferred from Metrobus (53) - 
Net assets transferred to Fisheries (2,167) - 
Net assets transferred to Public Transport Authority (5,050) - 

Closing balance 89,592 56,684 

(i) Capital contributions have been designated as contributions by owners 
and are credited directly to equity in the Statement of Financial Position.

(ii) Net assets or net liabilities designated as non-reciprocal transfers.

Asset revaluation reserve (i)

Opening balance 17,482 - 
Net revaluation increment - Land - 17,482 
Net revaluation increments (ii)
buildings 3,767 - 
bus stations 7,206 - 
buses 6,144 - 
vessels 196 - 
Transfer to accumulated surplus (iii) (19,675) - 

Closing balance 15,120 17,482 

(i) The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and 
decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets, as described 
in accounting policy note 2(n).

(ii) Revaluations in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 955 of 
assets transferred to other government entities.

(iii) Transfer of asset revaluation reserve to accumulated surplus. 
This portion relates to assets transferred to other government 
entities.

Accumulated surplus
Opening balance 180,386 181,083 
Transfer from asset revaluation reserve (i) 19,675 - 
Change in net assets (16,058) (697)

Closing balance 184,003 180,386 

(i) See note above on asset revaluation reserve.
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2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000

32 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement 
of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement 
of Financial Position as follows:
Cash assets 14,366 37,255 
Restricted cash assets 6,897 5,694

21,263 42,949 

(b) Cash assets transferred (to)/from other sources

Cash assets transferred:
from Department of Transport - 10,147 
to Consolidated Fund - (3,676)
to Public Transport Authority (4,268) - 
from Department of Land Information 307 -

(3,961) 6,471 

(c) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows 
provided by/(used in) operating activities

Net cost of services (152,107) (406,643)
Non cash items:
Depreciation 7,578 26,216 
Doubtful debts expense 319 2 
Net loss on disposal of non-current assets (21) 4,210 
Resources received free of charge 4,343 2,649 
Superannuation expense 933 103 
Expenses previously held in construction in progress 1,783 2,652 
Initial recognition of assets not previously recognised - 1,638 

(Increase)/decrease in assets
Current inventories 197 19 
Current receivables 1,455 (820)
Other current assets 479 (4,091)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables (415) 2,375 
Current provisions 1,840 (267)
Other current liabilities 1,150 5,882 
Non-current provisions 1,179 1,649 
Net GST receipts/payments 3,913 (1,612)
Change in GST in receivables/payables (301) (3,433)

Net cash used in operating activities (127,675) (369,471)
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33 Resources provided free of charge

During the year the following resources were provided to other 
agencies free of charge for functions outside the normal 
operations of the Department:
Sea Freight Council of Western Australia - rent 19 14 
Western Australian Coastal Shipping Commission - rent 5 5 
Western Australia Police Service - firearms collection fees 42 70 
Various State and Commonwealth departments and agencies:

Spatial (mapping) information 3 2 
Western Australian Land Information System 37 30 
Hydrographic surveying and cartography information 10 5 
Tides and waves information 5 4 

Organisations other than departments and statutory authorities - rent 567 -

688 130 

34 Commitments for expenditure

(a) Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital 
expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial 
statements, are payable as follows:
Within one year 24,695 18,087 
Later than one year but not later than five years 11,417 128,135 
Later than five years 2,550 89,660 

38,662 235,882 

The capital expenditure commitments in 2003 relate primarily to the 
bus replacement and zero emission hydrogen fuel cell buses programs
and were calculated at current rates.

(b) Other expenditure commitments

Within one year 8,514 153,593 
Later than one year but not later than five years 3,856 530,639 
Later than five years - 260,193

12,370 944,425 

The other expenditure commitments in 2003 relate to contract obligations 
to rail and private bus operators, Dawesville/Mandurah bypass and Travelsmart 
and were calculated at current rates.

(c) Operating lease commitments

Commitments in relation to operating lease rentals contracted for at the 
reporting date but not recognised as liabilities in the financial statements 
are payable:

Within one year 7,438 6,502 
Later than one year but not later than five years 10,429 10,556 
Later than five years 1,027 2,684 

18,894 19,742 

All leases are non-cancellable.
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35 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities

In addition to the liabilities incorporated in the financial statements, the Department has the following contingent liabilities:

Litigation in progress:

(I) The Department has pending litigation that may affect the financial position to the value of $60,000 in relation to an
alleged damages claim.  The Department has disclaimed liability.

(II) The Department has pending litigation that may affect the financial position to the value of $70,000 in relation to an
alleged contractual claim by a supplier.  The Department has disclaimed liability.

(III) The Department has pending litigation that may affect the financial position to the value of $1,000,000 in relation to
alleged losses claimed.  The Department has disclaimed liability.

(IV)The Department has pending litigation that may affect the financial position to the value of $350,000 in relation to a
common law claim.  The Department has disclaimed liability.

Contingent assets

There are no known contingent assets. 

36 Financial instruments

(a) Interest rate risk exposure

The following table details the Department’s exposure to interest 
rate risk as at the reporting date:

Variable Less More Non
interest than 1 1 to 5 than 5 interest

rate year years years bearing Total
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

2004
Financial assets
Cash assets 7,281 - - - 7,085 14,366
Restricted cash assets 99 - - - 6,798 6,897
Receivables - - - - 5,450 5,450

7,380 - - - 19,333 26,713

Weighted average interest rate 5.02%
Financial liabilities
Payables - - - - 6,022 6,022
WATC loans - 2,581 7,916 1,836 - 12,333

- 2,581 7,916 1,836 6,022 18,355

Weighted average interest rate 5.93% 6.43% 6.22%

2003

Financial assets 10,080 - - - 44,099 54,179 

Weighted average interest rate 4.88%

Financial liabilities - 13,610 57,765 204,056  16,565 291,996

Weighted average interest rate 6.47% 5.27% 6.03%
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36 Financial instruments (continued)

(b) Credit risk exposure

The credit risk of the Department’s financial assets relating 
to receivables which have been recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Position is the carrying amount, net of any 
provision for doubtful debts.

(c) Foreign exchange risk exposure

In 2003, the Department had an exposure to changes in 
foreign exchange rates resulting from its bus replacement 
program which requires payment for bus chassis to be 
made in Euros.

The Department utilised forward exchange contracts and
options in Euros to hedge that risk. The purpose of the 
Department’s foreign currency hedging activities was to 
protect against the risk that the eventual Australian dollar 
outflows in respect of bus chassis purchases may be adversely
affected by changes in exchange rates. The Department did not 
enter into hedge transactions for speculative purposes.

The forward exchange contracts were transferred to the Public 
Transport Authority on 1 July 2003.

Buy EUR 2004 2003

Contracts Options Contracts Options
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Sell Australian dollars
Maturity
0 - 6 months - - 3,606 3,405 
6 - 12 months - - 1,065 1,111 

2004 rate 2004 rate 2003 rate 2003 rate
Average exchange rates

Maturity
0 - 6 months - - 0.5800 0.5500
6 - 12 months - - 0.5800 0.5500

The following losses were deferred at 30 June 2003 
and included in the Statement of Financial Position.

2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000

Deferred losses - 32 
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2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000

37 Remuneration of senior officers

The number of senior officers, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation 
and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

2004 2003
$ No. No.

50,001 - 60,000 - 1
60,001 - 70,000 - 1
80,001 - 90,000 - 1

110,001 - 120,000 1 1
120,001 - 130,000 4 2
130,001 - 140,000 - 1
140,001 - 150,000 1 -
150,001 - 160,000 - 1
180,001 - 190,000 - - 
200,001 - 210,000 - 1
220,001 - 230,000 - 1
230,001 - 240,000 - 1
250,001 - 260,000 1 - 

The total remuneration of senior officers is 1,013 1,516 

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation 
expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior officers.
No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

38 Supplementary financial information

Losses
Losses of public moneys and public and other
property through theft, default or otherwise 9 129 

Amount recovered 9 81

Write offs
During the financial year, assets and debts valued at $701,815 
(2003: $131,200) were written off under the authority of:

Director General for Planning and Infrastructure 105 78 
The Minister for Planning and Infrastructure 9 53 
Executive Council 588 - 

702 131

Gifts of public property - - 

39 Events occurring after reporting date

There are no significant events occurring after reporting date.
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40 Explanatory statement

The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue Estimates discloses appropriations and other statutes
expenditure estimates, the actual expenditures made and revenue estimates and payments into the Consolidated Fund.
Appropriations are on an accrual basis.
The following explanations are provided in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 945. Explanations are only provided
where variations exceed $1,000,000 and 10 per cent of the reported item.

(i) Significant variations between estimate and actual - Total appropriation to purchase outputs

(i) (a) Supplementary Funding

Supplementary funding for the year totalling $1.646m was approved under Section 28 of the Financial
Administration and Audit Act (FAAA) for additional projects and activities and to cover funding shortfalls.
Supplementary funds were obtained for the following:

$ 000

Shortfall in contributions from the Western Australian Planning Commission 
(WAPC). A 2002-03 Functional Review decision to decrease output funding 
to the Department and increase WAPC contributions did not eventuate in 
extra revenue from the WAPC. 1,500

Miscellaneous projects and activities. 146

Total Additional Funding for Purchase of Outputs 1,646

(i) (b) Section 25 Transfers

The Public Transport Services Division of the Department was 
transferred to the Public Transport Authority (PTA) on 1 July 2003. 
A transfer under Section 25(1) of the FAAA was initiated by PTA 
to transfer output appropriation funding. (294,293)

A Section 25(1) transfer was also executed to transfer to PTA the 
Capital Contribution approved for the Department’s Public Transport 
Services Division. (20,459)

Section 25(1) transfer of funds to the Public Transport Authority (314,752)

The Land Administration Services function was transferred 
from the Department of Land Information (DLI) to the Department 
on 1 July 2003. A transfer under Section 25(1) of the FAAA was 
initiated by the Department to transfer the output appropriation funding. 11,368

Capital Contribution from DLI was also transferred to the 
Department under Section 25(1) of the FAAA. 108

Section 25(1) Transfer of Funds from the Department of Land Information 11,476

A portion of the Marine Safety function of the Department was 
transferred to the Department of Fisheries on 1 July 2003. A Section 
25(1) transfer of funds was executed accordingly. (1,996)

The Land Valuation Tribunal was to transfer to the State Administrative 
Tribunal under the Department of Justice (DOJ) from 1 January 2004. Funding 
was transferred from the Department to DOJ but the transfer of function was 
deferred to 1 July 2004. A Section 25(1) transfer was initiated by DOJ to return 
to the Department the full 2003-04 funding for the function. 184

Grand Total Section 25(1) Transfers (305,088)
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40 Explanatory statement (continued)

(i) (b) Section 25 Transfers (continued)

In addition to the Supplementary Funds and Section 25(1) transfers affecting the Department’s output
appropriations in 2003-04, there was a reduction of $1m in accrual appropriation funding to the Department.
This reduction was to remove funding of depreciation for the Transport Executive Licensing Information System
(TRELIS) project due to the deferral of commissioning to July 2004. 

The net total of Section 25(1) Transfers ($305.088m), Supplementary Funds ($1.6460m) and the reduction to
accrual appropriation ($1.000m) transferred/received by the Department in 2003-04 was $304.442m. This net
transfer of funds is the reason for the variance in Grand Total of Appropriations.

(i) (c) Output Expenditure

Land Use and Transport Infrastructure Policy and Planning

2004 2004
Estimate Actual Variation
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Land Use and Transport Infrastructure Policy and Planning 20,605 23,627 3,022

This output exceeded the 2003-04 Estimate by $3.022m. The variance was mainly due to:

$ 000

Expenses incurred on behalf of the WAPC. In 2003-04, the Department 
incurred salary and administration expenses to undertake project work 
on behalf of the WAPC. The majority of expenses incurred was 
recouped from the WAPC and has been reported as operating revenues. 
The expenditure did not form part of the 2003-04 Estimate. 1,420

Integrated Transport Planning contractual commitments. Contractual 
commitments from 2002-03 were required to be paid in 2003-04 for various 
studies and projects. The payments were made using cash balances carried 
forward from 2002-03. 480

Increase in Overheads. This increase is mainly due to:

• The transfer of the Land Administration Services function from DLI 
in 2003-04. The transfer resulted in an increase in overheads for items 
such as accommodation, information technology expenses and corporate salaries.

• Information technology and accommodation expenses incurred on behalf 
of the WAPC that did not form part of the 2003-04 Estimate. An offsetting 
recoup is reported in revenue. 

• An increase to corporate capital user charge expense. 1,213

Land Use and Transport Infrastructure Service Delivery

2004 2004
Estimate Actual Variation
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Land Use and Transport Infrastructure Service Delivery 541,297 211,435 (329,862)
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40 Explanatory statement (continued)

(i) (c) Output Expenditure (continued)

Output expenditure was below the 2003/04 Estimate by $329.862m. The variation is largely attributed to:

$ 000

Expenditure transferred to PTA. On 1 July 2003, the Public Transport Services Division 
of the Department was transferred to PTA via a Section 25(1) transfer. The associated 
expenditure formed part of the 2003-04 Estimate. (376,469)

Direct expenditure for the Land Administration Services function transferred from DLI. 
The function was transferred to the Department on 1 July 2003 and did not form part 
of the 2003-04 Estimate. 14,160

Carry over grants to PTA. The Department carried forward, from 2002-03 into 2003-04, 
commitments for Safer Rail, Transform WA and other bus-related projects. These were paid 
to PTA as grants in 2003-04 using cash balances carried forward from 2002-03. 12,695

Payment of Perth Parking revenues to PTA. The Department collects Perth Parking Licence 
Fees and, prior to the transfer of Public Transport Services to PTA, retained the revenue. On 
1 July 2003, PTA was established and Perth Parking Licence fees are paid by the Department
to PTA net of administration costs. This expense did not form part of the 2003-04 Estimate. 6,731

Carryover funds for Perth Bicycle Network project. The Department incurred expenditure in 
2003-04 on this project using cash balances carried forward from 2002-03. 4,801

Increase in overheads. This increase is mainly due to:
• The transfer of the Land Administration Services function from DLI in 2003-04. 

The transfer resulted in an increase in overheads for items such as accommodation, 
information technology expenses and corporate salaries.

• Information technology and accommodation expenses incurred on behalf of 
the WAPC that did not form part of the 2003-04 Estimate. An offsetting recoup 
is reported in revenue. 

• An increase to corporate capital user charge expense. 4,585

Operating expenses paid using capital funding. Some expenses on capital projects are 
charged to operating expense accounts and hence reported against output expenditure. 
The decision as to whether the expenditure is to be capitalised is made towards the end of 
the financial year. This amount represents the value of capital funded expenditure against 
operating accounts that was not capitalised and was unanticipated when the 2003-04 
Estimates were formulated. 3,238

A portion of the Marine Safety function of the Department was transferred to the 
Department of Fisheries on 1 July 2003. The expenditure for this function was included 
in the 2003-04 Estimate. (1,996)

Expenses incurred on behalf of the WAPC. In 2003-04, the Department incurred salary 
and administration expenses to undertake project work on behalf of the WAPC. The majority 
of expenses incurred were recouped from the WAPC and has been reported as operating 
revenues. The expenditure did not form part of the 2003-04 Estimate. 1,070
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40 Explanatory statement (continued)

(i) (d) Total revenue

2004 2004
Estimate Actual Variation
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Total revenues from ordinary activities 148,106 82,955 (65,151)

The $65.151m variance in operating revenues between actual and estimate for the 2003-04 financial year is
largely due to the transfer on 1 July 2003 of the Public Transport Services Division to PTA. Details of the full
revenue variation are as follows:

$ 000

Revenues collected for cash and multi-rider fares. Prior to 1 July 2003, these revenues 
were collected by the Public Transport Services Division, which was transferred to PTA. 
The revenues formed part of the Department’s 2003-04 Estimate. (70,300)

Other revenues, including rent and advertising revenue, collected by the former Public 
Transport Services Division. The collection of these revenues was transferred to PTA from 
1 July 2003 but were included in the Department’s 2003-04 Estimate. (5,507)

Land Administration Services revenue. On 1 July 2003, the Land Administration Services 
function was transferred to the Department from DLI.  The collection of all associated 
revenues was transferred but did not form part of the Department’s 2003-04 Estimate. 3,357

The volume of motor vehicle licence and drivers fee collections was higher than anticipated. 5,466

Recoupment of expenses incurred on behalf of the WAPC. In 2003-04, the Department 
incurred project and administration expenses on behalf of the WAPC for which the WAPC 
reimbursed the Department. The recoups and offsetting expenditure were not included in 
the Department’s Estimate. 2,318

Sale of TRELIS. The Department retained $1m from the sale of TRELIS to the South Australian 
Government. The sale was not anticipated when the 2003-04 Estimates were prepared. 1,000

Shortfall in contributions paid by the WAPC to the Department to cover costs associated with 
land use planning.  A 2002-03 Functional Review decision to decrease output funding to 
the Department and increase WAPC contributions did not eventuate in extra revenue from 
the WAPC. (1,500)

(ii) Significant variances between actual and prior year actual - Total appropriation to 
purchase outputs

2004 2004
Estimate Actual Variation
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Total appropriation provided to purchase outputs for the year 130,773 403,194 (272,421)

Total revenues from ordinary activities 82,955 163,758 (80,803)
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40 Explanatory statement (continued)

(ii) (a) Total appropriation provided to purchase outputs for the year

The decrease of $272.421m is mainly due to:

$ 000

The transfer in 2003-04 of the Public Transport Services Division to PTA. (294,293)

The transfer of the Land Administration Services function in 2003-04 from DLI. 11,368

The transfer to the Department of Fisheries during 2003-04 of a portion of the Marine 
Safety function. (1,996)

Supplementary funding provided for the purchase of outputs (see Supplementary Funding 
explanation at note 40(i)(a) for details). 1,646

Increase in funding for capital user charge. This is due to an increase in the Department’s 
net asset position over the 2003-04 year. 6,327

(ii) (b) Total revenue from ordinary activities

The unfavourable variance of $80.803m is largely due to:

Cash and multi-rider fares of $69.449m were included in the 2003 Actual. The 
responsibility for the collection of these fees was transferred to PTA on 1 July 2003. (69,449)

Other revenues, mainly rent, advertising and grant revenue, formerly collected by the 
Department under the Public Transport Services Division. The collection of these revenues 
was transferred to PTA from 1 July 2003. (10,265)

A decrease in 2003-04 in recoup revenues from WAPC for projects undertaken.  
The recoup process was changed in 2003-04 to provide for the recoup of salaries only and 
other project expenses were charged direct to WAPC.  In prior years, all costs were recouped. (2,390)

Revenues transferred from DLI. On 1 July 2003, the Land Administration Services function 
transferred to DPI via a Section 25(1) transfer. Revenues formerly collected by DLI under this 
function are now collected by this Department. 3,357

Sale of TRELIS. In 2003-04, the Department retained $1m from the sale of TRELIS to the 
South Australian Government. 1,000

(ii) (c) Output Expenditure

2004 2004
Estimate Actual Variation
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Land Use and Transport Infrastructure Policy and Planning 23,627 24,166 (539)
Land Use and Transport Infrastructure Service Delivery 211,435 546,235 (334,800)

Land Use and Transport Infrastructure Service Delivery

The decrease of $334.8m from 2002-03 to 2003-04 is mainly the result of:
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40 Explanatory statement (continued)

(ii) (c) Output Expenditure (continued)

$ 000

Expenditure transferred to PTA in 2003-04. On 1 July 2003, the Public Transport 
Services Division of the Department was transferred to PTA via a Section 25(1) 
transfer. The variance represents the expenditure incurred by the former Division in 2002-03. (373,575)

Direct expenditure in 2003-04 for the Land Administration Services function transferred 
from DLI on 1 July 2003. 14,160

Increase to capital user charge expense. This is due to an increase in the 
Department’s net asset position over the 2003-04 year. 6,327

Payment of Perth Parking revenues to PTA. The Department collects Perth Parking 
Licence Fees and, prior to the transfer of Public Transport Services to PTA, retained the 
revenue. From 1 July 2003, PTA was established and Perth Parking Licence Fees are paid 
by the Department to PTA net of administration costs. 6,731

(iii) Significant variances between estimate and actual - Capital contribution

2004 2004
Estimate Actual Variation
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Capital Contribution 22,147 1,796 (20,351)

The variation of $20.351m is due to:

$ 000

The Section 25(1) transfer of capital contribution to PTA that was approved for the 
Public Transport Services Division under the Department. This function transferred 
to PTA on 1 July 2003. (20,459)

The Section 25(1) transfer of capital contribution for Land Administration Services. 
This function transferred from DLI on 1 July 2003. 108

(iv) Significant variances between actual and prior year actual - Capital contribution

2004 2003 Variance
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Capital Contribution 1,796 24,252 (22,456)

The decrease in capital contribution of $22.456m is due to:

$ 000

The transfer of capital contribution to PTA that was approved for the Public 
Transport Services Division. This function transferred to PTA on 1 July 2003. 
The variance represents the 2002-03 capital contribution for the former Division. (16,949)

The transfer, in 2003-04, of the capital contribution for Land Administration Services. 
This function transferred from DLI on 1 July 2003. 108

2002-03 capital contributions for the Transport Executive Licensing Information System 
($5.400m), motorcycle replacement ($0.105m), Mends Street Jetty capital works ($0.200m) 
and information technology equipment replacement/upgrade ($0.500m). (6,205)

2003-04 capital contribution for navigation aids. 590
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40 Explanatory statement (continued)

(v) Significant variances between estimate and actual, and actual and prior year actual - 
Total administered appropriations

2004 2004 2004 2004 2003
ESTIMATE ACTUAL VARIANCE ACTUAL ACTUAL VARIANCE

$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Administered appropriations 5,800 5,800 - 5,800 6,850 (1,050)

The decrease in administered appropriations from 2002-03 to 2003-04 is the result of:

$ 000

Funding received in 2002-03 for the establishment of the Armadale Redevelopment Authority and 
for the Carnarvon floodplain management strategy (to assist with flood mitigation measures). (1,000)
A $0.050m decrease in appropriation funding for transfer to the Western Australian Coastal 
Shipping Commission. (50)

(vi) Significant variances between estimate and actual, and actual and prior year actual - 
Administered revenues

2004 2004 2004 2004 2003
ESTIMATE ACTUAL VARIANCE ACTUAL ACTUAL VARIANCE

$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Administered revenues 727,496 938,564 211,068 938,564 779,114 159,450

The major variations between 2004 Estimate and Actual and 2004 Actual and 2003 Actual are due to the transfer of Land
Administration Services from DLI to the Department on 1 July 2003. 

The 2004 revenue variation from Estimate of $211.068 m can be explained by:
$ 000

Land sales and other revenue formerly recorded by DLI but now the responsibility of the 
Department due to the transfer of Land Administration Services. 106,079

Higher than anticipated motor vehicle licence fees collected on motor vehicle registrations. 25,355

An increase from Estimate of third party insurance premiums collected on behalf of the Insurance 
Commission of WA. This revenue is driven by the volume of motor vehicle registrations. 77,675

The variation of 2004 Actual from 2003 Actual of $159.450 m is mainly due to:

Land sales and other revenue formerly recorded by DLI but now the responsibility of the 
Department due to the transfer of Land Administration Services. 106,129

An increase in motor vehicle licence fees collected on motor vehicle registrations. 19,564

An increase in third party insurance premiums collected on behalf of the Insurance Commission of WA. 29,449

An increase from 2002-03 on the collection of motor vehicle recording fees. This revenue is collected 
with motor vehicle licence fees and is driven by the volume of motor vehicle registrations. 3,446

See note 42 for further detail of administered revenues.
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2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000

41 Trust accounts

The following Statements of Receipts and Payments are provided in accordance 
with Treasurer’s Instruction 1101A.
Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline Trust Account

Opening balance - -

Receipts:
Transferred from:

- Department of Land Information 33,380 -
Fees 1,240 -

34,620 -

Payments:
Administration 2,374 -
Easement rights 398 -
Refurbishments 7 -

2,779 -

Closing balance 31,841 - 

This account holds funds received pursuant to section 45(2) of the Dampier to 
Bunbury Pipeline Act 1997 for application in accordance with section 45(5) of that Act.

Deposits

Opening balance 664 - 

Receipts:
Transferred from:

- Department for Planning and Infrastructure - 429 
- Department of Transport - 89 

Deposits - keys 96 18 
Deposits - bonds 332 310 
Deposits - dealer plates 105 96 
Interest 36 25 

569 967 

Payments:
Refunds - keys (27) (13)
Refunds - bonds (347) (200)
Refunds - dealer plates - (90)

(374) (303)

Closing balance 859 664

This account holds deposits for the issue of keys to boat owners to access the 
harbour pens, performance bonds and motor vehicle dealer plates. These moneys 
are held in a private trustee capacity, and in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 
1101A are only reported in these notes to the financial statements.
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2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000

41 Trust accounts (continued)

Deposits Land Applications
Opening balance - -

Receipts:
Transferred from:
- Department of Land Information 300 -

Deposits 1,625 -

1,925 -

Payments:
Refunds (718) -

(718) -

Closing balance 1,207 -

This account holds fees, rentals, deposits, premiums or performance bonds 
received from applicants pending the issue of licences or leases, or the sale of 
Crown land or in relation to improvements to Crown land in accordance with 
provisions of the Land Administration Act 1997.

Off-Road Vehicles Account
Opening balance 119 137

Receipts:
Licence and plate fees 18 17 

Payments:
Supplies and services - (28)
Other payments - (7)

- (35)

Closing balance 137 119

This account holds moneys collected for the registration of vehicles under the 
Control of Vehicles (Off-road areas) Act and to provide funds to meet the 
expenses of the Department in connection with administration of the Act pursuant 
to section 43(2) of the Act.

Perth Parking Licensing Account
Opening balance 3,853 - 

Receipts:
Transferred from Department for Planning and Infrastructure - 2,958 
Licence fees 8,142 7,757 

8,142 10,715 

Payments:
Central Area transit and Free Transit Zone services - (6,715)
Public Transport  Authority (6,734) -
Employee costs (65) (73)
Supplies and services (163) (69)
Other payments - (5)

(6,962) (6,862)

Closing balance 5,033 3,853

This account was established to hold funds for the purpose of administering 
the Perth Parking Management Act 1999.



128

DEPARTMENT FOR PLANNING AND INFRASTRUCTURE

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2004

2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000

41 Trust accounts (continued)

Rail Safety Accreditation Account
Opening balance 789  - 

Receipts:
Transferred from Department for Planning and Infrastructure - 362 
Registration fees 793 832 
Recoups and other receipts 22 4 

815 1,198 

Payments:
Employee costs (420) (255)
Superannuation (38) (22)
Contractors (3) (82)
Lease and rental (23) (14)
Other payments (77) (36)

(561) (409)

Closing balance 1,043 789

This account was established to hold funds for the purpose of 
administering the Rail Safety Act 1998.

Small Craft Facilities
Opening balance 8,488 8,244 

Receipts:
Boat harbour fees 4,798 4,633 
Other fees 30 3,088 
Rental 4,515 4,370 
Recoups 2,182 1,964 
Funds for dredging 1,300 300 
Recreational boat licence fees - 1,080 
Other revenue 472 461 

13,297 15,896 

Payments:
Employment costs (387) (406)
Contractors (2,541) (3,013)
Administration expenses (3,181) (3,133)
Recreational boat scheme (1,817) (380)
Maintenance (1,662) (1,593)
Power, water and sewerage (2,012) (2,099)
Other operating expenses (1,952) (3,012)
Capital works and equipment purchases (1,324) (2,016)

(14,876) (15,652)

Closing balance 6,909 8,488 

This account holds funds for the purpose of funding the provision, 
maintenance, upgrading and management of small craft facilities.
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2004 2003
$ 000 $ 000

41 Trust accounts (continued)

Taxi Industry Development Account
Opening balance 559 471

Receipts:
Licence fees 117 84 
Interest 30 27 

147 111 

Payments:
Consultants’ fees (7) (23)
Recoup to the Department for Planning and Infrastructure (600) -

(607) (23)

Closing balance 99 559 

The purpose of this account is to hold funds received by the Department for 
the purposes of the Taxi Act 1994.

Receipts in suspense
Opening balance 656 632

Receipts credited to suspense account 4,304 4,800 

Receipts transferred from suspense account (4,114) (4,776)

Closing balance 846 656 

Pursuant to section 9(2)(c)(iv) of the Financial Administration and Audit Act, the 
purpose of this account is to hold funds pending identification of the purpose for 
which these moneys were received.

War Service Land Settlement
Opening balance - -

Receipts:
Transferred from:
- Department of Land Information 2 -

Deposits 717 -

719 -

Payments:
Remittances to the Commonwealth (719) -

(719) -

Closing balance - -

This account holds funds pending transfer to the Commonwealth 
Department of Primary Industry.
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2004 2003
Note $ 000 $ 000

42 Administered expenses and revenues

Expenses
Cost of land sold 101,837 - 
Expenses under the Dampier to Bunbury Pipeline Act 1997 2,652 - 
Share of joint venture expenses 43(ii) 570 - 
Other expenses 438 -

Total administered expenses 105,497 - 

Revenues
Appropriations for transfer 5,800 6,850
Cannabis infringement fines 18 - 
Conservancy 276 305
Final demand fees - traffic infringements 1,121 1,046
Firearm licence fees 2,476 2,436
Land sales 100,482 - 
Motor drivers licences 27,264 22,399
Motor vehicle registrations 299,355 279,791
Plate and transfer infringements 5,105 4,555
Recording fees 44,968 41,522
Share of joint venture revenues 43(ii) 596 - 
Speed and red light infringement fines 43,818 44,410
Stamp duty 272,744 232,044
Third party motor vehicle insurance premiums 407,675 378,226
Revenues under the Dampier to Bunbury Pipeline Act 1997 1,567 -
Lease rentals 3,433 -
Other revenues 410 269

Total administered revenues 1,217,108 1,013,853
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2004 2003
Note $ 000 $ 000

43 Administered assets and liabilities

Current assets
Cash 37,135 937 
Accounts receivable 24,699 31 
Interest receivable 3 2 
Share of joint venture current assets (ii) 1,153 - 

Total administered current assets 62,990 970 

Non-current assets
Accounts receivable 7,162 -
Land, at valuation (i) 2,015,876 - 
Easements, at valuation (i) 4,283 - 
Plant and equipment 19 - 
Share of joint venture non current assets (ii) 729 - 

Total administered non current assets 2,028,069 -

Total administered assets 2,091,059 970 

Current liabilities
Accruals and interest payable 126 - 
Income received in advance 2,370 - 
Refundable deposits 1,988 325 
Funds held in trust 2,372 - 
Share of joint venture current liabilities (ii) 4 - 

Total administered current liabilities 6,860 325 

Total administered liabilities 6,860 325 

(i) Notes to the Schedules of Administered Items – Land values 

Land and Easements are measured at fair value based on independent valuations provided by the Valuer 
General’s Office at 1 July 2003.  Fair value has been determined on the basis of current market value where an 
active market exists or current use value where no market exists and/or the current land use is specialised in nature.
Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity to ensure the carrying value of land does not differ materially from 
its fair value at reporting date.
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43 Administered assets and liabilities (continued)

(ii) Notes to the Schedules of Administered Items - Joint venture

The Minister has a 26 per cent interest in a joint venture with LandCorp and the City of Bunbury to develop, subdivide and sell
land in Bunbury.

The following represents the Minister’s interests in the joint venture operation:
2004

$ 000

Expenses
Cost of sales 528 
Estate expenses 42 
Share of joint venture expenses 570

Revenues
Sales 576 
Interest 20 
Share of joint venture revenues 596

Current assets
Cash 680
Developed land 76 
Work in progress 391 
Other current assets 6

Share of joint venture current assets 1,153 

Non current assets
Undeveloped land 729

Share of joint venture non current assets 729

Total share of joint venture assets 1,882 

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 4 

Share of joint venture current liabilities 4 

As at 30 June 2003, the joint venture was reported in the financial 
statements of the then Department of Land Information. On 1 July 2003, the 
joint venture was transferred to the Department for Planning and Infrastructure 
for administration on behalf of the Crown.

44 The impact of adopting International Accounting Standards

The Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) is adopting the Standards of the International Accounting Standards 
Board for application to reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005.

AASB 1047 Disclosing the Impacts of Adopting Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards requires
financial reports to disclose information about the impacts of any changes in accounting policies in the transition period 
leading up to the adoption date.

The Department’s senior accountants are managing the transition to Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards. The officers attend relevant seminars and courses, and examine and compare the Standards to the Department’s
accounting policies to identify differences and determine the impact of these on existing policies and accounting treatments.
Professional accounting advice is sought where considered necessary.

There are no key material differences in accounting policies expected to arise from adopting Australian equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards.
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Office addresses

Metropolitan areas

Perth
Albert Facey House
469 Wellington Street
Perth Western Australia 6000
Telephone (08) 9264 7777
Facsimile (08) 9264 7566
TTY (08) 9264 7535

441 Murray Street
Perth Western Australia 6839
Telephone (08) 9216 8000
Facsimile (08) 9216 8001
TTY (08) 9321 5777

East Perth
Westrail Centre
West Parade
East Perth Western Australia 6004
Telephone (08) 9216 8000
Facsimile (08) 9216 8116
(for taxi industry enquiries only)

Fremantle
1 Essex Street
Fremantle Western Australia 6959
Telephone (08) 9216 8999
Facsimile (08) 9216 8979

Fremantle Fishing 
Boat Harbour
8 Capo D’Orlando Drive
Fremantle Western Australia 6160
Telephone (08) 9239 2483
Facsimile (08) 9239 2485

Hillarys
(Marine services)
Hillarys Boat Harbour
Hillarys Western Australia 6923
Telephone (08) 9448 7544
Facsimile (08) 9447 8713

Midland
1 Midland Square
Midland Western Australia 6056
Telephone (08) 9216 8000
Facsimile (08) 9273 7052

Whiteman Park
Whiteman Park Management
Telephone (08) 9209 6000

Country regions
Peel
(Planning services)
Unit 2B, 11-13 Pinjarra Road
Mandurah Western Australia 6210
Telephone (08) 9581 4471
Facsimile (08) 9581 5491

(Licensing services)
Corner Ranceby Avenue & Pinjarra Rd
Mandurah Western Australia 6210
Telephone 13 11 56

Gascoyne
(Regional services)
Carnarvon Boat Harbour
Carnarvon Western Australia 6701
Telephone (08) 9941 1830
Facsimile (08) 9941 1067

(Regional services)
Lot 862 Payne Street
Exmouth Western Australia 6707
Telephone (08) 9949 2079
Facsimile (08) 9949 2078
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Joondalup

Midland

Fremantle

Rockingham

Hillarys

Warwick

O’Connor

Kelmscott

Whiteman Park

Welshpool

Fremantle Fishing
Boat Harbour

LEGEND

Metropolitan Offices

Licensing Services

Vehicle Examinations

Marine Services

Perth East Perth
City West

Morley

Metropolitan locations



Albany

EsperanceBunbury

Kalgoorlie

Geraldton

PERTH

Carnarvon

Karratha

Broome

Kununurra

Exmouth

Mandurah

LEGEND

Planning Services

Regional Services

Licensing Services

Land Asset Management
Services

Goldfields/Esperance
(Regional planning and licensing services)
Unit 4, 35 Brookman Street
Kalgoorlie Western Australia 6430
Telephone (08) 9022 5999
Licensing 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9091 6288

(Regional services)
53 The Esplanade
Esperance Western Australia 6450
Telephone (08) 9071 6891
Facsimile (08) 9071 6892

Great Southern
(Regional services)
Suite 1, Foreshore House
Proudlove Parade
Albany Western Australia 6330
Telephone (08) 9841 3200
Facsimile (08) 9842 5071

(Planning services)
Ground Floor, Coach House
Peels Place
Albany Western Australia 6330
Telephone (08) 9841 8122
Facsimile (08) 9841 8304

(Licensing services)
7 Chester Pass Road
Albany Western Australia 6330
Telephone 13 11 56

Kimberley
(Regional planning and licensing services)
Old Kennedy Store
9 Napier Terrace
Broome Western Australia 6725
Telephone (08) 9193 5923
Licensing 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9193 5651

(Land Asset Management services)
Cnr Messmate Way and Bandicoot Dr
Kununurra Western Australia 6743
Telephone (08) 9168 0602
Facsimile (08) 9168 0600

Mid West
(Regional licensing and planning services)
65 Chapman Road
Geraldton Western Australia 6530
Telephone (08) 9956 0111
Licensing 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9956 0132

Pilbara
(Regional licensing and planning services)
SGIO Building, Welcome Road
Karratha Western Australia 6714
Telephone (08) 9185 6100
Licensing 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9143 1288

South West
(Regional and licensing services)
24 Wellington Street
Bunbury Western Australia 6230
Telephone (08) 9792 6607
Licensing 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9792 6600

(Planning services)
Bunbury Tower
61 Victoria Street
Bunbury Western Australia 6230
Telephone (08) 9791 0577
Facsimile (08) 9791 0576

(Land Asset Management services)
Bunbury Tower
61 Victoria Street
Bunbury Western Australia 6230
Telephone (08) 9791 0836
Facsimile (08) 9791 0835
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Licensing and Vehicle Examination Services

Metropolitan area

City West
Cnr Troode Street and Plaistowe Mews
City West 6005
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9221 6300

East Perth
(Vehicle examiners)
Cnr Bronte Street and Plain Street
East Perth Western Australia 6004
Telephone (08) 9221 7224
Facsimile (08) 9221 9717

Fremantle
(Licensing services)
Cnr Stock Road and Leach
Highway
Willagee Western Australia 6156
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9331 7039

Joondalup
(Licensing services)
65 Boas Avenue
Joondalup Western Australia 6027
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9301 8333

Kelmscott
(Licensing and vehicle examination services)
34 Gillam Drive
Kelmscott Western Australia 6111
Telephone (08) 9390 3083
Facsimile (08) 9390 3010

Midland
(Licensing services)
11 Victoria Street
Midland Western Australia 6056
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9250 1171

(Vehicle examiners)
Telephone (08) 9250 6975
Facsimile (08) 9250 5005

O’Connor
(Vehicle examiners)
Cnr Stock Road and Stockdale Road
O’Connor Western Australia 6163
Telephone (08) 9331 9001
Facsimile (08) 9331 9009

Rockingham
(Licensing services)
Unit 2 Commerce House
3 Benjamin Way
Rockingham Western Australia 6168
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9592 7311

Warwick
to be closed July/August 2004
(Licensing services)
37 Eddington Road
Warwick Western Australia 6024
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9448 3600

(Vehicle examiners)
Telephone (08) 9246 5046
Facsimile (08) 9246 4252

Welshpool
(Licensing services)
21 Murray Road South
Welshpool Western Australia 6106
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9351 1612

(Vehicle examiners)
Telephone (08) 9351 1623
Facsimile (08) 9358 1838
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Country regions

Gascoyne
(Licensing services)
Police Station
Exmouth Western Australia 6707
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9941 1067

Goldfields/Esperance
(Licensing services)
Piesse Street
Boulder Western Australia 6430
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9093 2296

Great Southern
(Licensing services)
7 Chester Pass Road
Albany Western Australia 6331
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9842 1079
Licensing and Vehicle
Examination Services

Kimberley
(Licensing services)
9 Napier Terrace
Broome Western Australia 6725
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9193 5651

Peel
Mandurah Licensing Centre

Mid West
(Licensing services)
65 Chapman Road
Geraldton Western Australia 6530
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9956 0130

Peel
(Licensing services)
Ranceby Road
Mandurah Western Australia 6210
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9535 8300

Pilbara
(Licensing services)
SGIO Building, Welcome Road
Karratha Western Australia 6714
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9143 1288

(Licensing services)
Police Station
Newman Western Australia 6735
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9175 1245

(Licensing services)
Police Station
Tom Price Western Australia 6751
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9189 1203

South West
(Licensing services)
25 Wellington Street
Bunbury Western Australia 6320
Telephone 13 11 56
Facsimile (08) 9792 6600
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Appendix 1

Director General
Greg Martin
Greg Martin has degrees in Engineering and
Commerce from the University of Western
Australia; a Master of Science degree from the
University of California, Berkeley; and a
Graduate Diploma in Urban Systems from
Swinburne College of Technology in Victoria.
He is a Fellow of the Institution of Engineers
Australia; the Australian Institute of Project
Management; the Chartered Institute of
Logistics and Transport; a Graduate (member) of
the Australian Institute of Company Directors;
and a Member of the Australian Institute of
Management and the Project Management
Institute.

Prior to his appointment as Director General for
the Department for Planning and Infrastructure
on 29 July 2002, he was Commissioner of Main
Roads Western Australia.  

His previous positions include Executive
Director, Metropolitan Division in the
Department of Transport; Principal Consultant in
Main Roads WA; and a wide range of corporate
and professional roles in the Commonwealth
Government in Western Australia, Victoria and
South Australia.

Executive Director Shared Services 
Helen Langley
A qualified teacher, Helen Langley completed
her studies in personnel management and
development at Nottingham in 1985 and
subsequently held a number of senior
management roles in the National Health
Service and local government in the UK.

She migrated to Western Australia in 1994 and
joined the State Government.  Prior to joining
the Department of Transport as Human
Resources Manager in 1997, she worked for
Family and Children’s Services and the
Department of Training. 

Executive Director Regulatory and
Regional Services
Dennis Forte
Dennis Forte has a first degree in Surveying and
a Graduate Diploma in Public Administration
from Curtin University.  He is a member of the
Institution of Surveyors Australia and the
Institute of Public Administration, Australia.

Prior to his current appointment he was
Executive Director of the Maritime Division in
the Department of Transport.  His previous
positions included Executive Director, Corporate
Services in the Department of Transport and
senior executive roles in the Commonwealth
Government in Canberra, Western Australia,
Victoria and Tasmania.

Executive Director Commercial and
Asset Services
Athol Jamieson 
Athol Jamieson has degrees and post-graduate
qualifications in economics, education, business
administration and value engineering from the
University of Western Australia and Canberra
University. He is also a Certified Practising
Accountant.

He has worked in a variety of agencies and
roles including Treasury, the Department of
Justice, Building Management
Authority/Contracts and Management Services,
Public Sector Management, the Department of
Education, the Department of Training and
Main Roads WA.
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Executive Director Integrated
Planning
Paul Frewer
Paul Frewer has extensive experience in land use
and environmental planning and development
policy areas in government.  He graduated with
distinction with a Bachelor of Arts (Social
Science) and a Graduate Diploma (Natural
Resources) from Curtin University. He is a
member of the Planning Institute of Australia
and a member of the Western Australian
Planning Commission.  He is also a member of a
number of external boards and committees
including the Institute of Regional Development
at the University of Western Australia,
Curriculum Council (Geography), the Advisory
Board to the Spatial Systems area of Central
TAFE and the Advisory Board to Curtin
Sustainable Tourism Centre.

Executive Director Strategic Policy
and Evaluation
Mike Mouritz 
Mike Mourtiz holds a PhD in City Policy, a
Bachelor of Science (Hons) and Certificate of
Forestry.  He is also an Alumni of the Sydney
Leadership Program.  He is a member of the
Planning Institute of Australia, Environment
Institute of Australia, and the Futures
Foundation of Australia.

Prior to September 2003 he spent eight years
working in local government.  His many roles
included middle and executive level positions
related to urban and environmental planning at
Newcastle, Kogarah and Wollongong Councils
in NSW.  He has also worked in industry, as a
consultant and as an academic.  In his early
years he worked in the forestry, mining and
horticultural industries. 

Executive Director Statutory
Planning
Ray Stokes
Ray Stokes migrated to Perth in 1979 from the
UK where he had worked for nine years with
the Manchester City Council in policy
formulation, local planning and development
control. Since arriving in Perth, he has occupied
various positions with the Department for
Planning and Infrastructure, and its
predecessors, which has given him extensive
experience in all aspects of statutory and
strategic planning and the role of government
in the planning process.

He has a Diploma in Town Planning from the
Nottingham College of Art and a Post Graduate
Diploma in Transport Design from the University
of Liverpool. He is a Fellow of the Royal
Australian Planning Institute and a former
Member of the Royal Town Planning Institute
(UK) and the Chartered Institute of Transport.
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COMMITTEE MEETINGS HELD MEMBERS ATTENDANCE

Tenders 74 meetings held 2003-04: ■ Helen Langley, A/Executive Director, Shared Services (Chairperson) Overall average
Committee ■ 31 in session ■ Rob Burrows, Director, Rail Safety (Deputy Chairperson) 66% attendance

■ 43 out of session ■ Paul Trotman, Section Manager, Integrated Planning
■ Lindsay Preece, Director, Planning Information, Integrated Planning 
■ Craig Shepherd, Director Contracts and Central Services

(Committee Executive Officer)
■ Kevin Kirk, A/Executive Director, Finance and Services, Main Roads
■ Peter McNally, Director Asset Management
Contracts and Central Services Staff attending meetings 
■ Beverley Croucher - Secretary 

Information 4 meetings held in 2003-04 ■ Paul Frewer, Executive Director, Integrated Planning (Chairperson) 95% attendance
Management ■ Paul Wilkins, Director, Information Services (Executive Officer)
Committee ■ Dennis Forte, Director, Regulatory and Regional Services 

■ Helen Langley, Executive Director, Corporate Services
■ Colleen Kelly, Manager, Internal Audit

Audit 4 meetings held in 2003-04: ■ Greg Martin, Director General, Chairperson; ■ Greg Martin  
Committee 1 August 21, 2003; ■ Athol Jamieson, Executive Director, Commercial and Asset Services; (100% attendance 

2 December 10, 2003; ■ Paul Frewer, Executive Director, Integrated Planning; for Meeting Nos. 1, 2, 3)
3 April 7, 2004; ■ OAG Representative; and ■ Athol Jamieson 
4 June 30, 2004 (to be ■ Colleen Kelly, Manager, Internal Audit. (attended Meeting 

re-scheduled to August 2, No. 2. A proxy was 
2004 due to Chairperson’s sent for Meeting No.3.
other commitments). No proxy was sent 

for Meeting No. 1)
■ Paul Frewer (100% 

attendance for 
Meeting Nos. 1, 2, 3)

■ OAG (100% 
attendance for 
Meeting Nos. 1, 2, 3)

■ Colleen Kelly (100%
attendance for 
Meeting Nos. 1, 2, 3)



141

COMMITTEE MEETINGS HELD MEMBERS ATTENDANCE

Communications 6 meetings held in 2003-04 ■ Dennis Forte, Executive Director, Regulatory and Regional 100% attendance 
and Community Services (Chairperson)
Relations ■ Arabella Taylor, Manager Communications and Community 

Relations (Executive Officer)

■ Ray Stokes, Executive Director
■ Sue McCarrey, Public Transport Authority
■ Michelle Conroy, Manager Workforce Planning
■ Bryant Roberts, A/Director Investment Evaluation 

Human 3 meetings held in 2003-04 ■ Greg Martin, Director General (Chairperson) 90% attendance 
Resources ■ Helen Langley, Executive Director, Corporate Services
Committee ■ Steve Beyer, A/Director, Portfolio Policy and Strategy 

■ Brian Riches, Director, Marine Safety
■ Cath Meaghan, Project Manager - Aboriginal Communities
■ John Mercadante, Director, Human Resources (Executive Officer)

Business 9 meetings held in 2003-04 ■ Athol Jamieson, Chairperson 83 % attendance
Services ■ David Pinto, Executive Officer
Committee ■ Paul Frewer, Member

■ Linsday Preece, Member
■ John Rooke, Member
■ Wayne Winchester, Member
■ Kym Squires, Member
■ Paul Wilkins, Member



Appendix 3

Freedom of Information 
The Freedom of Information Act (1992), which
came into effect on 1 November 1993, created
a general right of access to documents held by
state and local government agencies. 

The Act requires agencies to make available
details about the kind of information they hold
and enables persons to ensure that personal
information held by government agencies about
them is “accurate, complete, up to date and not
misleading”.

Under the Act, agencies are required to publish
an annual Information Statement either as a
stand-alone document, or in their Annual Report.
We have chosen to incorporate our Freedom of
Information data in our Annual Report.

The object of the Information Statement is to
provide a description of the agency’s
procedures for giving members of the public
access to its documents and the kinds of
documents that are usually held by the agency,
including documents that may be purchased
from the agency or those that may be obtained
free of charge. This Information Statement was
prepared and is correct as at 30 June 2004.

Applications
Members of the public may submit formal
Freedom of Information applications for
documents held by the agency, which are not
publicly available. A formal application for
information must be:

■ In writing;
■ Give enough information to enable the

requested documents to be identified;
■ Give an Australian address to which notices

can be sent;
■ Accompanied by a $30 application fee,

unless the information relates to a personal
matter, which is free of charge. An
additional charge may apply for the
processing of non-personal information. The
fee is reduced by 25% for pensioners and
financially disadvantaged persons; and

■ Addressed to our Freedom of Information
Coordinator.

Application forms are available from the
Department’s Internet website at
www.dpi.wa.gov.au  Click on “About Us”, then
“Freedom of Information”.

The contact details for the Department for
Planning and Infrastructure FOI Coordinator are
Ms Norma Lambert, Freedom of Information
Coordinator, Department for Planning and
Infrastructure, Albert Facey House, 469
Wellington Street, Perth WA 6000.

Processing applications
Our Freedom of Information unit is responsible
for processing any applications for the Western
Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) and
the Department for Planning and Infrastructure.

The Freedom of Information Coordinator is the
designated decision-maker for Department for
Planning and Infrastructure, and makes
recommendations to the WAPC decision-maker. 

The unit is the initial contact point for members
of the public, applicants, third parties, the
Office of the Information Commissioner and
other public sector agencies for all matters
related to freedom of information.

Under the Act, the agency is required to
respond to applications within 45 days of
receipt, unless an extension of time is granted.
The average time to process applications during
2003-04 was 21 days.
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Fees and charges
The rate of fees and charges are set under the Act. Apart from the application fee for non-personal
information, all charges are discretionary. Details of fees and charges are listed below:

Personal information about applicant No fee

Application fee (for non-personal information) $30.00

Charge for time taken dealing with the application $30.00 per hour

Charge for access time supervised by staff $30.00 per hour

Charges for photocopying $30.00 per hour for staff time 
and 20 cents per copy

Personal access to information
Where an applicant is granted permission to inspect documents, a time will be set which is mutually
convenient to the applicant and to the agency. Where access to documents is refused, in part or in
full, we will notify the applicant of the reasons.

Rights of review
The Act provides that if applicants are dissatisfied with a decision of the Department, there is a
process whereby that decision can be reviewed. 

In accordance with Section 40 of the Act, internal review applications should be forwarded in writing
to the Department within 30 calendar days of the date of decision.

Following an internal review, matters remaining in dispute can be submitted to the Office of the
Information Commissioner for “external review”. Such applications must be submitted within 60
days from the date of decision.

No fees or charges apply to internal or external reviews.

Statistics for 2003-2004

APPLICATIONS AMOUNT

Total received 193

Internal Reviews 6

External Reviews 1 (applied and withdrawn)

Transferred to another agency 2

Withdrawn 18



Public information
The Department for Planning and
Infrastructure’s publications and technical
reports are available from the Department’s
library and through the Library and Information
Service of Western Australia. Many are also
available through the Department’s website at
www.dpi.wa.gov.au, then click on ‘Publications’.

Types of non-public information held by the
Department for Planning and Infrastructure

■ Business operations information
■ Administrative information
■ Staff information
■ Licensing information (driver, vehicle,

marine, aircraft)
■ Contract information
■ Taxi plate information
■ Crown land administrative information.

THE WESTERN AUSTRALIAN
PLANNING COMMISSION
The Western Australian Planning Commission
(WAPC) was established under the Western
Australian Planning Commission Act (1995). It
has a broad range of responsibilities, including:

■ State Planning Strategy
■ Statements of planning policy
■ Statutory planning
■ Region schemes
■ Legislation
■ Land supply
■ Trends in planning.

For the purposes of Freedom of Information, the
Department for Planning and Infrastructure and
Western Australian Planning Commission are
considered one organisation. The Department
also manages records on behalf of the WAPC.
These records include:

■ Development information
■ Land subdivision information
■ Strata information
■ General WAPC information.

Until the WAPC has made a formal decision on
land issues, it is agency policy that documents
related to that issue are not available to the
public.

More information, including the annual report,
can be found on the Planning Commission
website at www.wapc.wa.gov.au

Department for Planning and Infrastructure
website information

Pursuant to Freedom of Information
requirements, a wide range of information can
be obtained from the Department’s website,
including organisational structure and functions
of the agency; lists of publications available to
the public; internal manuals used by staff;
methods of formulation of policies; office and
library locations; licensing and vehicle
examination centre locations, as well as current
projects and policies. The website address is
www.dpi.wa.gov.au

144



Index

A
Aboriginal Land Title 53
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Employment Strategy 30
Action Plan for Accessible Public 
Transport for People with Disabilities 38
Active Ageing 29
Advertising and Sponsorship 68
Air Services Policy 46
AusLink 19
Australian Builders’ Plates 39
Australian Maritime Group 19

B
Barrack Square 42
Better Planning: Better Services 32
Bikeweek 30, 37
Boat Harbours 43
Boating Facilities 48
Broome Local Planning Strategy 47
Building Better Stations 35
Business Excellence Framework 5, 12, 13, 17, 26, 28, 51

C
Call Centre 52
Canarvon 53
Canarvon-Ningaloo 43
Centre for Spatial Science 18
Centre for Sustainable Tourism 18
Centre for Urban Design 40
Chamber of Commerce and Industry 19
City of Gosnells 36
City West 39
Coastal Planning and 
Coordination Centre 43
Coastal Protection Plan 43
Coastal Planning 10
Coastwest Grants Program 11, 44
Code of Conduct 66
Communications and 
Community Relations 67
Community Consultation 26
Complaints Handling 52
Comprehensive Transport Strategy 36
Compulsory Training for 
Recreational Boaters 53
Contracting 64
Corporate Executive sub-committees 62
Corporate Governance 51, 61
Corporate Planning 63
Country Pathways 48
Crown Land Manual 52
Cultural Diversity 29
Curriculum Council 18
Cycle Instead 37

D
Dampier to Bunbury Natural 
Gas Pipeline 47
Department of Fisheries 14
Dialogue with the city 4, 7, 11, 18, 24, 30, 33, 36

53
Disability Service Plan 28
Dredging 48

E
Employee Assistance 56
Employee Survey 55
Energy Smart Policy 63
Equal Employment 56
Executive Director Sponsorship 4
Exmouth Marina Village 48

F
Financial Systems 51
Fishing Boat Harbour 42
Freedom of Information Statement 67
Freight Network 53
Freight Network Review 36
Freight Network Strategy 41
Freight Strategy 34
Fremantle Eastern Bypass 41
Functional Review 5, 16, 51, 53

G
Gascoyne Muster 40
Geographe Bay 44, 53
Geraldton’s Foreshore 49
Graduate Program 30
Grains Infrastructure Group 19

H
Hillarys Boat Harbour 42
Housing Industry Association 19
Human Resource Management 
Information System 62
Hydrogen Fuel Cell Buses 53

I
Information Systems 62
Institute of Regional Development 18
Intellectual Property Policy 63
Internal Audit 5, 51
Internet 52

L
Land Assembly 40
Land-backed wharf 53
LandCorp 17, 18
Landgate 42
Language Services 29 145



Index

Leadership Development Program 30
Leasing 64
Legislative Improvements 50
Legislative Responsibilities 65
Leighton 39
Licensing 4, 51
Lower Great Southern Regional 
Strategy 47

M
Machinery of Government 14
Maddington Kenwick Sustainable 
Communities Partnership 36
Main Roads Western Australia 17, 18, 40
Major Capital Works 69
Major Contracts 64
Mandurah’s South Harbour 49
Maritime Advisory Councils 19
Maritime Safety 14
Metropolitan Transport Strategy 36
Ministerial Fishing Industry 
Advisory Committee 19
Ministerial and Parliamentary 
Services 27
Mission 12
Moola Bulla 35

N
National Charter on integrated 
transport and land use planning 34
National Planning Officials Group 19
National Transport Commission 19
National Transport Security Strategy 19
Native Title 7
Native Title Tribunal 35
Nautical Data Management 52
Network City 24, 36
New MetroRail project 18, 40
North Coogee 35
Northern Suburbs Railway 34

O
Occupational Safety and Health 58
Oracle 51

P
Pastoral Land 53
Pastoral Lands Board 19
Pastoral Lease 7
Perth Bicycle Network 7, 37
Pinjarra-Brunswick Sustainability 
Study 45
Planning and Transport 
Research Centre 18, 40

Policy and Planning 8
Port Authorities 17
Port Coogee 35
Port Kennedy Development Project 43
Portfolio Partners 17
Pricing and Costing 64
Property Council of Australia 5, 19
Public Interest Disclosures 63
Public Transport Authority 14, 17, 18

Q
Quality Guarantee 52
Queen’s Birthday 11

R
Rail Freight Policy 41
Real Estate Institute of 
Western Australia 19
Recreational Boating Facilities Scheme 39
Record Keeping Plan 66
Redevelopment Authorities 17
Regional Airports 45
Regional Airports Development Scheme 7
Regional Air Services 46
Regional Development Policy 47
Regional Services 4, 7
Regional Services Managers 47
Remote Driver Education 49
Risk Management 63

S
Safety training scheme for 
recreational boaters 35
School Bus Services 10, 34
Sea Freight Council 19
Seagrass 44
Service Delivery 8
Sewage Discharge 43
Shared Services Centres 5, 53
South Beach 35
South West Gas Corridor 53
South West Metropolitan 
Integrated Transport Plan 34
Southern Transport Corridor 48
Standing Committee on Transport 19
State Sustainability Strategy 65
Statement of Complaince with 
Public Sector Standards in
Human Resource Management 
and the Code of Ethics 66
Statuatory Planning Improvements 50
Sustainable Planning 34
Sustainable Transport Coalition 19
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T
Taxi 7, 53
Taxi Services 33
Tourism Taskforce 40
Transit Oriented Development 35
Transport Executive and Licensing 
Information System 51
Transport Security 7
Transport Security Strategy 33
TravelSmart 7, 35, 37, 38

U
Urban Development Institute 
of Australia 28
Urban Land Release Plan 34

V
Values 5
Vision 12
Volunteers 30

W
Walk There Today 37
Walking School Bus 11
Waste Paper Recycling 6
Western Australian Local Government Association 19
Western Australian Planning 
Commission 17, 18
Western Australian Rail 
Advisory Council 19
Western Australian Road 
Freight Council 19
Workers’ Compensation 59
Workforce Plan 55
Written-Off Vehicle Register 51

Y
Youth Outcomes 30
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Copies of this document are also available as Braille, large print, audio tape and MacIntosh or
IBM compatible disk on application to the Department for Planning and Infrastructure. 

To reduce the cost of annual report production, minimal hard copies of this document have
been produced. However, the complete document is available for viewing on the
Department’s website at www.dpi.wa.gov.au

Albert Facey House
469 Wellington Street
Perth Western Australia 6000
Telephone +61 8 9264 7777
Facsimile +61 8 9264 7566
TTY 9264 7535

441 Murray Street, Perth
PO Box C102
Perth Western Australia  6839
Telephone +61 8 9216 8000
Facsimile +61 8 9216 8001
TTY 9321 5777

http://www.dpi.wa.gov.au


